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PROCEEDINGS 

OF 

A GENERAL COURT MARTI.\.Lt 

"lre1.D AT FORT INDEPENDENCE, DAUHOR OF BOSTON, 

BY VIRTUE OF THE POll.OWlNG ORDER. 

" Headl{uarte1'S, Castle island, 
26t1, Sepkmber, 1815. 

" GENERAL ORDER. 

" A Gelleral Court Martial will convene at Fort 
Indepe-ndence, on Wednesday, the 4th of OctobeT 
next, for the trial of major Charles K. Gardner, f{f 
the third regiment of Infantry. All the field officers 
present in the department, with sufficient captain!l 
to make the number of nine officers, will form the 
Conrt. 

Colon.el M'NEIL, President. 
MEMBERS. 

l..ieut. Col. EUSTIS, Lieut. Col. W ALBACII. 

Major HABBIS, Major BROOKS, 

Capt. AI'DoWELL, Capt. MANIGAULT, 

(lapt. BENNET'!", Capt. CRAIG. 

Major CU.NE and Cal,t. IRVINE, S"pel'nlllllcrariclI. 

Licut. JUlES L. EIIW.'RUS, 'Of the cOl'psqf Artmt-'l', 
" , ' , I 

.TII rl,ge .!Ld'llD(laft>. ' 



" The Court will convel'1e at Fort Independen~ 
0'11 the day abovementioned, will hear the charges, 
the plea of the prisoner, and will then adjourn for 
the purpose of convening the witnesses. 

" By order of Major General RI P LEY. 

(Signed) "H. F. EVANS, . 
" Lieut. Lt. Art. and Actg. Brig. Inspector." 

"~ULITARY DEPARTMENT, N&. II. 
" Head Quarters, Castle Island, 4th Oct. 1815. 

" GENERAL ORDER. 

" Captain Thornton, of the Light Artillery, will 
sit as member of the Court Martial which is tG 
e'Onvene to·day, in lieu of captain Manigault, whp 
is prevented attending by indisposition. 

" By order of Major General RI P LEY. 

(Signed) "H. F. EVANS, 
" Lieut. Lt. Art. and Actg. Brig. Inspector;' 

OCTOBER 4, 1815. 

The court met pursuant to the above order. 
PRESEN:r. 

Colonel M'Neil, president; lieut. col. Eustis, 
lieut. col. Walbach, major Harris, major Brooks, 
captain M'Dowell, captain Thornton, captain BeR­
nett, captain Craig, members; lieutenant Edwards 
judge advocate. 

. The prisoner being asked if he had any objec­
tt9n tQ \,he members named in the Gen.eral Order, 
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replied"that no 0bjection rested with him personally •. 
against any gentleman before him, but he objected 
to the court proceeding t? be organized for the trial 
of his case, until he had the usual and necessary 
notice of the prosecution. He said he had received 
no notice whatever, of any charge or accusation 
against him-and he, therefore; was not prepared to 
take any step relative to his trial. The court 
overruled the prisoner's objection, and were duly 
sworn. The prisoner then object~ to hearing the 
charges against him read, on the ground, that he 
had not been furnished with them previous to the 
trial i-and moved that the promulgation of them in 
open court, might be postponed to some future 
period. The court acceded to his motion; and 
postponed the reading of them till another day.­
The prisoner requested, that during his trial, he 
might be allowed to remain in Boston, he being at 
that time restricted to Governor's Island. The 
eourt decided, that it was proper to address a note 
to major general Ripley, soliciting him to permit 
the prisoner to reside in town, during his triaL­
The general complied with the request of the court. 

The court then adjourned to meet at Earle's 
C:offee House, in Boston, to-morrow morning at ,9 

o'clock. 

8CTOBER 5, lS15. 

The court met pursuant to adjournment. 
PRESE~'OT. 

Colonel M'Neil, president; lieut. col. Eusti'S~ 

li!:ut. col. Walbach, major Harris, major Broqks, 
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captain lVI'Dowell, captain Thornton, captaih Ben~ 
nett, captain Craig, members; lieutenant Edwards. 
judge advocate. 

The prisoner being asked, if he was prepared to 
hear the charges against him read, replied ill the 
negative, on the ground that he had been furnished 
with them but a few minutes since; and requested 
that another day might be assigned for reading them. 
The court postponed the reading of them till to­
marrow; and then the court adjourned till to-morrow 
morning at 9 o'clock. 

The court met pursuant to adjournment. 
PRESE:NT. 

Colonel M'Neil, president; lieut. col. Eustis, 
lieut. col. Walbach, major Harris, major Brooks, 
captain M'Dowell, captain Thornton, captain Ben. 
nett, captain Craig, members; lieutenant Edwards, 
judge advocate. 

The prisoner being asked if he was ready for 
trial, replied that he was not; that he had, since the 
adjournment of yesterday, received a letter from 
major :Fraser, aid-de-camp to general Brown, reo 
quiring his presence at Brownsville or Plattsburg. 
The letter was superscribed " Col. Gardner, Adjt. 
Gel/I." The court decided that the trial should 
proceed. The prisoner then requested that he 
might be allowed the further indulgence of twenty­
four hours to prepare himself, to make objections 
re:Jati\'c to the jurisdiction of the court. The court 
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poted him the further indulgence of another day 
previous to his being arraigned. The judge advo­
<:ate laid before the court the correspondence 
between major ~nc!ral Ripley and the prisoner, 
which fQJlows : 

(COPY.) 

Fort JJ'Clrren, Oclohcr I, 1815. 

SIR~I do myself the honor to protest against 
your proceedings, to constitute a general court 
martial, in my case, on your own authoritx~ 

I belong to the staff of the commanding general 
of the division. I came here with a leave of 
absence, and on business with you, which was 
unofficial. My station is announced in the Gene­
I"~ Order .of the first of June last, duplic,ate.s of 
which were sent to you, from the head quarters pf 
the division at Albany. 

I wish to give you notice, that the court martial 
for my case, which you have ordered to convene on 
the 4th inst. ar.d your arrest of me, on charges not 
of immediate occurrence, and which admit of 

I 

reference to your commanding general, are illegal: 
and that it will become the subject of an additional 
accusation against you, if persisted in. 

A trial I shall demand On the charges you prefer : 
but it will be a trial instituted by the proper 
authority. 

I have the honor to be, 
Sir, your most obedient servant, 

(Signed) C. K. G.t).RDNER, 
Maj. 3d IBf. ana Actf. Adjt. Gr.n. N01'Ih. Division. 

T" .Maj. Gen. RiPley. comdR' 
2d Mil. Dept. JV'ol'th.-l)ivirion. 



s 
(COPY.) 

lIead Quartera, Boat"', Oetobe~ ht, UtS. 

. l\IA.TOR GARD,NEn, 

SIR-I received your note in the form of a 
protest, against the proceedings I have instituted in 
relation to myself, and have given it all the consi. 
deration it requires. 

Your views of martial law are erroneous-any 
offioer commanding a department, of as high a 
grade as colonel, can arrest an inferior officer within 
his command, and order a court martial on him. 
When a deputy quarter master general Wl\S 

atTested by a junior general, on the Niagara 
frontier, he objected to the arrest as illegal, he 
being an officer of the general staff. The court, 
however, decided that tr..e arrest was a legal one; 

·-and found, if I mistake not, that officer guilty, 
among other allegations, of refusing to deliver up 
his sword to the junior general's aid. Those 
proceedings were approved by an old and accom' 
plished soldier, major general Gaines. Tpis pre­
cedent alone, is an answer to your protest! But, 
in the present case, you are not at all in the staff. 
There is, in the first place, no adjutant general 
recognised by our law; no aut~ority from the war 
department to general officers to appoint one.~ 
You could not pretend it would be in my power to 
appoint acting third lieutenants and ensigns of in­
fantry, when there are no such officers recognised by 
law; neither would it be in the power of the war 
.lepartment to appoint an acting lieutenant general. 
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.. Again-if adjutants general were authorised ~y. 
law, you were' only appointed an acting adjutant 
gene~al; now you must be fully sensible, this kind 
of appointment continues only as long as the persqn 
acts. The moment he leaves head quarters, by 
permission, or orders, it ceases. It only operates 
while there, to authorise the person so appointed to 
do the duties of the office, but gives no permanent 
staff character. The moment he ceases to act, the 
staff character i~ destroyed. No one ever supposed 
it was ne<;essary to issue an order to say, such an 
officer was no longer acting in a staff capacity.­
The moment he ceases to perform those specific 
duti~s, he resumes his rank in the line. I could 
advert to numerous instances of this kind, but they 
will at once occur to your rocollection. From 
these premises, you can easily draw the following 
deductions: 

1st. That it was srcttled in the case of major C. 
that an officer attached to the general staff, was 

- subject to the arrest of an officer of superior rank 
to him, like all other officers; although the officer 
making the arrest was not the general commanding. 

2d. Tha~ whatev.er might be your situation, were 
you now actillg at the head quarters of major 
general Brown, or in pursuance of his o_ders, that, 
absent from there, you can be regarded only as the 
major of the third infantry. 

3d. That even if you were a regular appointed 
adjutant general, yet when you came to this 
qCl:partment, unless you were on specific duties, 
,you ar~.subjeGt to the onle~s of the general com~ 

.B 
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manding it, in the same manner as any inferior 
officer. . 

It was at first my intention, not from a claim of 
right on your part, but from motives of delicacy on 
mine, to have referred your case either to the war 
department, or to major general Brown; but, 
feeling sensible that you would, from your character, 
possess a disposition to quibble, I found it the best 
way to pursue the course I have. 

The articles of war makes provision, that no 
officer shall be held in arrest more than eight days, 
or until a court martial can be assembled; now, if 
I had referred the subject to either the war de. 
partment or major general Brown, it would require 
at least sixty days to summon a court martial. In 
which event, I have no doubt, you would hav¢ 
cavilled, and said the arrest was unreasonable; for it 
was in my power to have summoned a court martial 
at any time. 

I now write you on an official subject. In 
relation to subjects not connected with our public 
duties, it is my determination to have no writte.n 
correspondence with you. 

I am, &c. 
(Signed) EL. W. RIPLEY, 

Majo,- Genet.,.!, Comdg. 2d lIf:1itary Dept. 

N. B.-There is one view of the subject that I 
think proper to place before you. By the law 
fixing the military peace establishment, your staff 
rank and duties were abolished, agreeably to the 
opinion of the attorney general, sanctioned by the 
:president; you became nothing but major of the third 
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regiment. In this state df things, withoUt any 
staff duties or appointment, you issued an order. 
purporting to be by order of major general Brown, 
appointing yourself acting adjutant general of tne 
northern division. Even if there was such an 
officer, what evidence is there that general Brown 
ever appointed you? Suppose that the situation of 
adjutant and inspector general should become. 
vacant, and the secretary of war were to verbally 
appoint colonel King to discharge thoSe duties, 
would an order from colonel King, signing it by 
order of the secretary of war, be binding on the 
anny?-Or take it in a more familiar case: I have 
~ tight to appoint a brigade inspector-I appointed 
major Romayne, and promulgated it, in orders, 
signed with my own hand. If, instead of that 
course, major Romayne had issued an order for his 
own appointment, and signed it with his name, 
purporting to be by order, could the army have 
recognized him as one of my staff ? ....... what evidence 
would they have had that the appointment was not 
recognised by me? at this moment major general 
Brown is commmunicating his orders through th~ 
medium of his aid-de-camp. 

(COPY.) 

Fort Warren,4th Octoher, 1815. 

SIR-I feel indebted ~o you for your condescen­
sion in addressing to me the arguments you have 
drawn up, to oppose the grounds of my protest.­
But the unfair advantage of giving J;Jle no notice of 
them until this morning, in order tJtat I might ~ot 
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be l>reparcd to obviate them before the convention 
of the court, is but a continuation of the others, 
which have been adopted since my arrest. 

I think it proper here to state, that the whole case 
of major C. is wrong in the application. 

1st. His offence was the open disobedience and 
defiance of your orders, and justified his arrest by 
you, at the moment or on the evening that he eom~ 
mitted it. My submission is proved by my being 
here. My sword was delivered at your order. 

2d. The court for his trial was instituted by 
brigadier general Gaines commanding, on your 
application. I expect to be allowed to be present 
when the question of the jurisdiction of my case is 
laid before the court. 

I think the president qf the United States can be 
justified under the law, in the provisional retention 
of colonel Hayne, (who remains with permission at 
Carlisle) and of general Parker, in the station of 
adjutant and inspector general, though you have 
Jaid down the position that no adjutant general is 
recognised by our law, and that, neither would it 
bc in the power of the war department to appoint an 
acting lientenant general. 

Nor do I admit your position with respect to any 
officer appointed to act in a sLff station, that the 
moment he leaves head quarters, by permission, ~r 
orders, it ceases. 

And on your feeling sensible that I ,,{ould, from 
my character, "possess a disposition to quibble," 
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a suppositions case, not of the subject in discus­
sion; and on -your supposing another case, which is 
extraneous, and remarking, "In which event y~l1 
have no doubt I would have cavilled." 

I have to reply, that these insults and reflections 
on my supposed actions, are unbecoming an officer 
of any command, and, inasmuch as they are ad­
dressed to an officer under the restrictions in which 
I am-they are, what I will leave those who may 
read, to dett;rmine. Those remarks were handed 
to me in an open communication, not 'even folded 
as a letter, by a clerk of the brigade inspector's 
office. 

I w~h that this may also be laid before the court, 
and that it may be drawn up, if YOll think proper, 
in an additional charge. 

I am, &.c. &c. 

(Signed) c. K. GARDNER, 
MaJor 3d Inf. and Actg. Adjt. Gen. 

N. B.-The order of organization of the new 
establishment, took effect the 15th of June. The 
order of general Brown directing me to continue to 
officiate as adjutant general, was dated the 1st of 
June • 

• 'I£ajor General Ripley, commanding, &c. 

The prisoner . then laid before the cpu~ ~be 
following order, relative to his arrest : 



(COPY.) 

MILITARY DEPARTMENT, ~o. II. 
B"i!fade lnopector'. Office, lIead Qual'1er&, 

Custle 18lm1.d, Sept. '25th, 1815. 

GENERAL ORDERS. 

Major Charles K. Gardner, of the army, is placed 
in arrest. He will be confined to Fort Warren, 
and will have the liberty of Governor's Island.­
The charges will be filed at the war office, and a 
court martial will be organized from them. The 
commanding general being the prosecutor, and 
wishing major Gardner every benefit of a fair trial, 
prefers, from motives of delicacy, that the court 
should be organized from that source. Major 
Gardne:f will deliver his s"lrord to major Romayne, 
brigade inspector. 

By order of major general RI P LEY. 

(Signed) JAMES T. B. ROl\UYNE, 
Brigade Insp~ctoI . 

And the court adjourned till to morrow morn· 
ing, at 9 o'clock. 

OCTOBER 'i. 1815. 

The court met pursuant to adjournment, 
PRESENT. 

Colonel M'Neil, president; lieut. col. Eustis, 
lieut. col. Walbach, major Harris, major Brooks, 
captain M'Dowell, captain Thornton, captain Ben­
nett, captain Craig, members; lieutenant Edwards, 
judge advocate. 

The prisoner, on being asked if he was ready for 
trial, addressing himself to the court, asked per­
mis<;ion, if he might pror::eed to obey the orders of 
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major general Brown, which he received the\u~ 
previous, a copy of which follows : 

(COpy.) 

Bro"WlI8'Ville, Sept. 18th, 1815. 

DEAR SIR-SOme time since I wrote you, di. 
recting your being at Brownsville, on the 15th; 
not having arrived, he has ordered me to write 
again, and still it is his desire that you repair to this 
place with all possihle dispatch. v; e leave here 
about, the first of October for Plattsburg. The 
general's oroers are, for you to join us at this post. 
I thought, however, as well to mention that was 
our ronte, in case you should not redeive it in time. 
We have just returned from Detroit, and made .a 
treaty with the Indians. 

In haste, yours with l'espe.ct, esteem, and friendshi~ 

(Signed) D. FRASER, 
Br:gade Mojor and A. D. Camp. 

The court decided that the trial should proceed. 
The. prisoner asked leave to lay before the court a 
general order, dated at Albany, 1st June, 1815, 
from which it appeared, he was appointed by gen. 
Brown, an acting adjutant general; on this order 
of the commanding general of the division, and the 
orders from his aid.de-camp, just submitted to the 
court, and the prisoner's verbal statement in answer 
to the argument ,ofmajor general Ripley, of the 4th 
of October; the prisoner submitted his ol'je . lion 
to the' proceedings entered upon agai·:·,1 \ . , by 
the commanding general of the secolld (1·1' (ment, 
and to the trial instituted by his order, if an officer 
of'the staff fif major general Brown, and therefore 
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f!I , ~ted that the jurisdiction of the court was insuf. 
f~ient for his trial. The court was then cleared, 
and on the question being put-" Is this court 
competent to the trial of major Charles K. Gardner, 
aC',g adjutant general?" it was decided in the 
affirmative. The court was then opened. The 
jU9ge advocate asked the prisoner, after informing 
him of the decision of the court, whether he was 
ready for trial. He then objected to col. M'Neil's 
sitting in judgment on him, suggesting that colonel 
M'Neil had expressed an opinion prejudicial to him, 
but appealed to him for the proof of it. Colonel 
M'Neil declared that he had not formed, nor ex­
pressed any opinion relative to him-he did not 
know the nature of the charges against him. Th.' 
court was then cleared to deliberate on the validity 
of the prisoner's challenge. It was decided that 
the challenge was not valid. 

The prisoner was then arraigned on the follow­
ing charges preferred by major general Ripley. 

CHARGE I.-Misbehavior in the jhce if the­
enemy. 

Specification I.-For that the said Charles K_ 
Gardner, at Chippeway, in the province of Upper, 
Canada, on or about the 5th July, 1814, he then 
and there being adjutant general of the American 
forces, and his duty as such being to form and lead 
the men into action, to animate them with his pre­
sence as chief of the staff, and arrange and direct 
the whole staff duties of the field, he, the said 
Charles K. Gardner, did wholly omit and' neglect 
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~s duties aforesaid; did not ~ppear at all qn tb~ 
field, when the troops were engaged, and where his 
duty required him ~ be-but did then and. there 
hide and· conceal himself behind a barn; and when 
a shell from the enemy's ~rtillery burst upon the 
barn, the said Gardner galloped to the rear, and far­
ther from the enemy. 

Specification 2.-For that the said Charles K. 
J'Gardner, at a place called .LuI}(}.y's,lane, in Upper 
. Canada, on or about the 25th July, 1814, he then 
~d there being adjutant general of the American 
forces, then engaged with the enemy, and his dutr 
then and there being, as chief of the staff, to fOI1ll 
and· organize $.e .troops; to lead the~ into actioq, 

. .and to direct .~~d arrange all the staff duties and. 
proceedings ~ th~ fi~ld, did then. and there wholly 
OIDit to perform these duties, but did take up his 
pqsition .jn ~he rear of the Ameri(.:an f9rc~s wh<illy 
out (If danger • 

. Specification 3.--F or that the said Charles K. 
Gardner, at a place called Fort Erie, in Vpper Cana­
da, on or about tl!e 17th September, 1814, he then 
and there being adju~nt general of the AmericaQ. 
forces, as afore$aid. and it being his duty to assist, 
to form, lind. to direct the troops, and to be with 
them in the heat of the action, did take his positiQnin 
or near a ravine, between Fort Erie and the woods., 
and wholly out ()f danger; and in this situation, when 
·directed by major genera~ Brown, commander in 
chief of the American forces on that occasion, to 
~llnicate certain orders to iene~l Ripley, lhcp 
eDlPiCd with the enemy-he, u,e said. Char!. &. 

c. 
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Gardner, did ernploy another _ officer, to wit, captain 
Newman S. Clark, to expose himself to the fire of 
the eilemy, and to communicate the said orders, 
while he, the said Charles K. Gardner, took special 
care to keep out of danger. 

CHARGE H.-Cowardice in the face of the 
enemy. 

Specification I.-For that the said Charles K. 
Gardner, at Chippeway, in the province of Upper 
Canada, on or about the 5th day of July last, he then 
and there being adjutant general of the American 
forces, and his duty as such, being to form and lead the 
men into action, to animate them with his presence 
as chief of the staff, and to arrange and direct the 
whole staff duties of the field, he, the said Charles 
K. Gardner, did wholly omit and neglect his duties 
aforesaid ;-did not appear at all on the field, when 
the troops were engaged, and where his duty re­
quired him to be ;-but did then and there hide and 
conceal himself behind a barn ;-and when a shell 
from the .enemy's artillery burst upon the bam, the 
said Gardner galloped to the rear, and farther from 
the enemy. 

Specification 2.-For that the said Charles K. 
Gardner, at a place called Lundy's.lane, in Upper 
Canada, on or about the 25th July, 1814, he then 
and there being adjutant general of the American 
forces, then engaged with the enemy, and his duty 
then and there being, a,s chief of the staff, to form 
and organize the troops, to lead them into action 
and to direct and arrange all the proceedings of t~ 
-field, did then and. there wholly omit to perform 
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~ese duties-but did take up his position in tlJ,.e 
rear of the ~D.leIican forces. , 

SpecificatiOn S.-For that the said Charles K. 
Gardner, at a place called Fort Erie, in Upper Ca" 
nada, on or about the 17th September, 1814, he 
then and there being adjutant general of the Ame-

. rican, forces, as aforesaid, and it being 'his duty to 
assist to fonn and direct the troops, and to be with 
them in the he~t of the action~ did take his position 
in a ravine, between Fort Erie and th~ woods, and 
wholly out of danger-and in this situation, whep. 
directed by major general Brown, commander in 
chief of the American forces on that occasion, to 
oommunicateo certain orders to general Rjpley, then 
engaged with the enemy, did employ anothel" offi. 
cer to expose himself to the fire of the enemy, and 
communicate the said orders, while he, the said 
Charles K. Gardner, took special care to keep out 
of danger. 

CHARGE III.-Neglect of auty in the face fJ:f 
the enemy. 

Specification I.-For that the said Charles K. 
Gardner, at Chippeway, in the province of Upper 
Canada, on or about the 5th July last, he then and 
there being adjutant general of the American forces, 
and his duty as such, being to fonn and lead the 
men into action, to animate them with his presence 
as chief of the staff, and' to arrange and direct the 
whole staff duties of the field, he, the' said C;harles 
K. Gardner, did wholly omit and neglect, ~is duty 
~esaid; and did not ap,Pt1r at all on the fi~d, wheq. 
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the troops w~re efigag~d, and where his dtltY rt. 
quired him to be--but did, then and th~re, hide ana 
cOllceal himself behind a barn, and when a shell 
from the enemy's artillery burst upon the barn, th~ 
said Gardner galloped to the rear, and farther fro1'l'l 
the enemy. 

Specification 2.-For that the said Charles K. 
Gardner, at a- place called LundY's-lane, in Uppet: 
Canada, on or about the 25th July, 1814, he, then 
and there, being adjutant general of the American 
forces, then engaged with the enemy, and his duty 
then and there being, as chief of the staff, to -form 
and organize the troops, to lead them into action, 
and to direCt and arrange all the proceedings of the 
field, did, then and tnere, wholly omit to perform 
these duties-but did take up his position in the 
re!lr of the American forces; and wholly out of 
danger. 

Specification 3.-For that the said Charles K. 
Gardner, at a place called Fort Erie, in Upper Ca.. 
nadn, on or about the 17th September, 1814, he; 
then and there, being adjutant general of the Ame­
rican forces, as aforesaid, and it being his duty to 
form and direct the troops, and be with them in the 
heat of the action, did take his position in a ravine, 
between Fort Erie and the woods, and wholly out 
of danger-and in this situation. when directed by 
major general Brown, commander in chief of the 
American forces on that occasion, to communicate 
certain orders to general Ripley, then engaged with 
the ~nemy, did employ another officer to expose 
himself to the fire of the enem!, and communicate 
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tht'said ordeN-while he, the said Charles K. 6ard:' 
ner,.took special care to keep out of danger. 

CHARGE IV.-Conduct unbecoming an officer 
and a gentleman. 

Specification l.-For that the said Charles K. 
9ardner, at Boston. in the county of Suffolk, on or 
about the 14th September, did address a note to 
major general Ripley, a copy of which is hereunto 
annexed, and instead of sending the said note by 
some officer of the army, or some gentleman who 
could receive an answer to it-did, then and there, 
leave the same with the bar-keeper of a public 
house, in said Boston, to be by him delivered to 
said major general Ripley. 

(COPY.) 

Boston, 14th &ptemher, 1815. 

SIR-I have within but a few days past, at 
Thiladelphia. and on enquiry at New York, heard 
of abusive expressions, which you have applied to 
me at Fort Erie, and elsewhere. 

Why in so long a period I have not been infurm­
Nt of them before thist I can only impute it to the 
opinion of those who may have heard them, that 
the malice of the expressions defeated themselves. 
That you luwe used them principally before your 
ifiends, but in frequent instances; I now have aU 
the evidence which is requisite-though you have 
taken me by the hand whenever occasion occurred, 
. .as if nothing of that nature had happened.. This 
injury is 'entirely a personal one, and I conceive if' 
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wholly distinct from any difference· which you may 
have with any other officer. 

The memorandum of an officer of distinction 
who was present, that you "expressed a perfect 
willingness to bring the difference to a personal 
issue," and that you intended the expressions for 
my ear, I have in my possession. 

I now demand redress. My friend, a field offi. 
cer of the line, requires an assurance of being safe 
in a military point of view, when he will wait on 
you. To this one point I request your reply. 

I have the honor to he, sir, 

YOUI' very obedient servant, 

(Signcd) C. K. GARDNEH, 

Gcn. Er,EAZER W. R,J:pLEY. 

I request the reply may be sent to the Exchange. 
(Signed) C. K. G. 

Specification 2.-After the said note wa,s return. 
ed, to wit: at Boston, aforesaid, altho,!gh it was 
publicly nllnored in Boston, that the said Gardner 
had come on for the purpose of fighting said major 
general Ripley, and although in returning the said 
note, major general Ripley had expressly stated the 
reason why it was not received, was because it w.as 
not communicated by said Gardner, through the 
medium of some friend, in a gentlemanly way, or to 
t,hat effect; he, the said Gardner, transmitted the 
same again by captain Deacon, of the navy, who 
then and there informed said Gardner, be could 
not, from his engagements, appear as the friend of 
said Gardnfr, but would consent to bear the It-tter 
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~ a stranger, but to make no arrangements in con" 
sequence of it. 

Specification S.-For that the said Gardner, at 
Boston, aforesaid, on or about the twentieth of Sep. 
tember last, did suffer lieutenant Lee, of the army, 
to inform him personally that general Ripley's 
opinion of him was so low and contemptible that 
he $ould think it degrading for any gentleman to 
enter into a correspondence with him, the said Gard­
ner, without in any manner resenting it. 

Specification 4.-For that the said Gardrier, at 
Boston, aforesaid, on or about the fourteenth day of 
said September, did attempt to open a correspon· 
dence with said general Ripley , in manner before 
stated, when he, the said Gardner, had been called 
by said major general Ripley, a scoundrel or cow­
ard, on the frontier, more than a year since; which 
he, the said Gardner, then and there well knew, but 
of which he took no notice. 

By command of Major General RIPLEY. 

(Signed) REYNOLD M. KIRBY, 
Capt .• Dd Aid-4e.Camp. 

Caslle Island, Oct. 4th, 1815 . 

. SUPPLEMENTARY SPECIFICATION. 
I 

Conduct unbecoming an officer and a gentleman . 
........ For that the said Gardner, at Boston, aforesaid, 
on or about the 25th SeptemJ>er last, and while he 
was under arrest by the order of major general 
Ripley, did shew to colonel Aspinwall, late of the 
army, a work in manuscript, purporting. to be a 
nartative of the last campaign, in whic.h said Gard-
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ntr had grossly and outrageously censured the 'col;1-
duct of the said major general Hipley; and he, the 
said Gardner, did, then and there, instruct said As­
pinwall, to propose to major general Ripley, that if 
he should discharge the arrest of the said Garclner, 
and let the business drop, he, the said Gardner, in 
consideration thereof, would entirely suppress the 
said work, and be quiescent. 

CHARGE V.-Disrespectful conduct and Ian. 
guage. 

Specification I.-For that the said Gardner, at a 
place called Fort Warren, on the first day of Octo. 
ber, 1815, did address a note to the said major 
general Ripley, in the form of a protest against the 
legality of the proceedings instituted by said major 
general Ripley, against the said Gardner, and in ,the 
said note, the said Gardner has the following para­
graph: 

" I wish to give you notice, that the court martial 
for my case, which you have ordered to convene 
on the 4th in~t. and your arrest of me, on charges 
not of imt.nediate occurrence. and which admit of 
reference to your commanding general, are illegal. 
and that it will become the subject of an additional 
accusation against you, if persisted in." 

The same being intended to threaten the said 
major general Ripley, with an accusation, if he per. 
sisted in doing his duty. 

By command of Major General RIPLEY. 

(Signed) ij.EYNOLD M. KIRBY, 

%tle Islancl, Oct •. 4th, 1815: 
Capt. and Aid..od • .camp. 
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To all of which charges and speelficadons, .the 
prisoner pleaded "Not Guilty." He, howevCff 
admitted the fact of w.riting the letter 6f the 14th 
September~ 1815, 'referred to in the first specifica­
tion of the fourth charge; he also admitted the fact 
of writing the paragraph quoted from his protest. 
and inserted in the first specification of the fifth 
cli ' I 

arge~ 

The prisoner presented to the court the follow­
ing rlote :' " Major Gardner alleges thathe lias had 
but two days notice of the charges, and asks of the 
court, on the enormity of the accusations against 
him, the time of three weeks, to prepare for trial, 
except the evidence of colonel Aspinwall, about to 
departfor Europe." 

The court postponed the consideration of the 
subject until Monday, the 9th inst. to which day 
it adjourned, to meet at 9 o'clock in the momiIJg. 

OCTOBER 9, 1815. 

The, court met pursuant to 'adjournment; 
PRESENT. 

Colonel· M'Neil, president; .lieut. col. Eustis, 
li€ut. col .. \tValbach, major Harris, major Brooks, 
cap'tain M'Dowell,captain Tnomton, captain Ben­
nett,captain Craig, memb~; lieutenant EdWllrds. 
judge advocate. 
'Colonel Aspinwall, late of the army, a witn,\s,p,p 

the"part of the prbsecutioll, bein'gswom, say~*" 
Coioncf!Gardner, after muchdesultqry con~il­

tion; requested me to go to general Ripler, ari~, if 
D 



possible, to effect his release from arrest. He 
stated points, which it would be desirable to him, 
that I sholJld urge to general Ripley, to effect that 
object-among these motives were the illegality of 
the arrest, colonel Gardner being then the acting 
adjutant general of the northern division;: another 
wa$, that,he had in his possession a manuscript 
pamphlet, which detailed the events if the last cam­
paign on the Niagara frontier, in a manner very un­
favorable to {jeneral Ripley, which he was witlin{j 
to suppress, if the arrest was taken off, and colonel 
Gardner permitted to go away. This pamphlet he 
shewed me. These, as far as I can recollect, 
formed the basis of the argument which he wished 
me to use. Previously, however, to assenting to 
'go at all to general Ripley, I let him distinctly un­
derstand, that in this instance, I was equally indif. 
ferent to both parties, influenced only by a sense of 
th~ evil consequences which I had for some time 

.perceh:ec} to flow from the quarrels of the army­
i and that of course I should take such part of his 
message as would tend to prevent another quarrel. 
Under these impressions, I went to general Ripley, 
at For,t Independence, and stated to him on my first 
seeing him, that colonel Gardner, if 'general Rip­
ley lvould release him from his arrest, was willing 
to drop every thing relative to their mutual differ­
ence here and hereafter. This the general in the 
most positive manner declined. I asked him if he 
was a~viire that colonel Gardner was aoting adjutant 
general of the northern division? He said, no. I 
was, from his conversation, led to believe that it 
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was useless to attempt to put a st-op to the conti­
nuance of the diiTerence, and here ceased the con­
versation for that time.. Sometime afterwards; the 
general asked me to walk into his office; and inthe 
course ofa desultory conversation~ I mentioned to 
him the existence of the aforementioned manu" 
script. . I did not urge it as a reason why, on that 
account, he should withdraw colonel Gardner's 
arrest, because I thought it would be indelicate in 
me to do it, and inconsistent \:Vith the views with 
which I had entered into the business; which were 
merely to prevent another <Juarrel. ,I stated it to 
general Ripley, on my first seeing him, that I came 
in the capacity of a mediator, anti not a messenger 
of colonel Gardner's particulal'ly. 

Question by the court. Did you read the manu­
script? 

./lrIs'wer. I read a part of it, not the whole.­
Colonel Gardner read the greater part of it; and I 
did not pay much attention to it. 

Question 6y the court. Did the manuscript pam­
phlet "grossly and outrageously censure the con­
duct of'tnajor general.Ripley" ? 

A. It assumed to be a narrative of facts, which 
were highly injurious to the reputatioft of gClleral 
'Ripley; but it was not gross in manner . 
.. ,Question by the court. You say, you delivered 
such parts of the message from major Gardner to 
general Ripley as would tend to prevent another 
q~l-what was the whole message? 

A.:. That is a great deal more than- I could tell 
:n half a &y j amongst otller suggestions made to 
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me by colonel Gardner, which I did not think pro. 
per to communicate to general Ripl~y, was,. that if 
the general did not accede to the proposition for a 
compromise, a publication would he made by colonel 
Gardner, in the 11ature of a posting of general 
Ripley. 

Question by the prosecution. Did you not e~. 
pres!;ily understand from major Gardner, that if 
general Ripley would discharge th,e arrest, that in 
consideration thereof, major Gardner on his part, 
would suppress the pamp~let ? 

.11. Yes. 
Question hy the prisoner. The evil consequences 

to the army of dissentions spoken of, were they not 
warmly assented to by me ? and was not this pre­
,·ious to any suggestion of dropping aU publica-
tions in print \' . . . 

.11. Yes, 
Questi(J71 oy the Pl"iso7lC1t. Was not my elucida­

tiqn of every thing made to you, that you might 
state what views you thought proper to effect the 
object; and stating, tl1at I rel~ed on you, or on 
your sentimen~s of honpr, to make none injuriom; 
tome? 

A. Every thing which colonel Gardner ex. 
pressed to me, seemed to conform to his sense of 
propriety; he left me to act according to my own 
sense of propriety, cautioning me gen~rally tlot to 
commit ~is honor. 

The court then ~eliberated qn t4e propriety of 
granting the prisoner's request, to adjourn for three 
weeks-which was n9t acceded t9. They, how-
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ever, agrie4 to allow the prisoner twt') weeks, to 
prepare for his trial-and then adjourned to meet 
~t9 o'clock,' A. M. on the 24thinst. 

OCTOBER~, 1815. 

The court met pursuant to adjournmen~. 
PRESENT. 

Colonel McNeil, president; lieut. col. Eustis, 
lieut. col. Walbach, major Harris, oaptain-M'Dow­
~l~, captain Thornton, captain Bennett,' captain 
C.,ug, members; major Crane and captain Irvine, 
~up~tnumeraries; lieutenant Edwards, judge ad­
vocate. 

A note was received from major Brooks, inform­
ing the court, that in consequence of the severe in-

. qisp/osit~on of his father, and of his attendance on 
him being r~quisite, he wished to be excused from 
sitting, and requested that one of the supernumera­
.ries might fill his seat. Major CraJ?t! accordingly 
took ~js seat, and with captain Irvine, was duly 
~1-vqrn~ and thf! proceedings of the court during the 
whole st'ssion read to them. 

-The judge advocate laid before the court a letter 
from captain John R. Bell. of the light artillery, in­
fqrming them, that the public service required his 
presence at Castine, that he had not the means of 
t#"an~~rtation thither, and requested that his evi­
~ence mig~t be taken by deposition. ' 
, Tae prisone~ laid before the court the follQwi~g 
e~tract-of aco~t.nunication, addressed" Col. C. K. 
Gardner, ~;ing-acijutant general, division of the 
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north, Boston, Massachusetts," and endorsed major 
general Brown, dated: 

Portsmouth. JII". H. Oct. 18, 1815. 

I at least two months since sent you an order to 
join general Brown's staff, as adjutant general of the 
division of the north, 

(Signed) DONALD FRASER, 
Brigade Major and A. D. C. to General B,·own. 

(Directed) C. K. GARDNER, acting adjt. gen. D. N. 

I certify on honor, that the above is a true copy 
of the address, direction, date, and signature, and 
of the extract of a letter received by me. 

(Signed) C. K. GARDNER, 
Aoting Adjt. Gen&ral. 

He then presented to the court the following note: 
On the ground of the recurrence to the orders of 

major general Brown, by authority, from Ports. 
mouth, of a date subsequent to general Brown's 
knowlege of my arrest, I request (as general Brown 
has not received any application from me) tllat the 
court will deem it proper to postpone its proceed. 
ings until an order may be received in the case, 
conveying general Brown's wishes-say ten days. 

(Signed) C. K. GARDNER, 
Acting ,l\djt. General. 

The court decided that it was inexpedient to 
postpone its proeeedings. 

Captain Newman S. Clarke, of the sixth regi­
ment infantry, a witness on the part ofthe prosecu. 
tor, being sworn, says-

I saw colonel Gardner on the 17th Septembe:r, 
1814, near the battery commonly called No.3, one 
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oftbe enemies batteries on their extreme right, op­
posite' Fort Erie. Col. Gardner enquired' of me 
for general. Ripley-"'I pointed out the direct~on in 
which I last saw the general, and he observed that he 
might possibly not be able to find the general, and 
desired me to convey an order to him ; , he imme­
diately left me, after communicating the order, and 
from the direction that he took; I concluded that he 
was about to return to the rear. I did not see col. 
Gardner again during the action, to niy recollec:: 
tion .. 

Question by the court. Did you 'hetong to gen. 
Ripley's staff on the 17th September, 1814? 

4. Yes. 
Question by tM court. What situation did you 

hold in the staft ? 
A. Brigade major. 
Question by the prosecution. Whell you saw 

colonel Gardner, was it within musket range of the 
enemy? 

A. I hardly think it was within point blank 
musket shot -of the enemy; the firing that was 
heard at this time, app~ed to be incessanh particu­
larly on the left; the musket balls t!tat fell among 
our colUinn appeared to, have been spent. This 
column was advancing on the enemy, and we had 
not at that time fired a musket. 

'Question fly the court. When colonel Gardner' 
gave' you the order for general Ripley, was he calm 
and:4allected, or did he exhibit any appearance of 
distbay'? --
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A. Colonel Gardner, when he made the enquitie. 
qf me, made them in a very hasty manner, and ap­
peared to bc: very impatient. I don't recollect the 
particular color of his face, whether it was white 
or red, but he appeared to be anxious that some 
other person should carry the order. 

Question by the court. Was there any more 
danger in seeki~g general Ripley in the direction 
you pointed out, than in coming to the place where 
you met him, colonel Gardner, or than in returning 
to the rear? 

A. I found general Ripley in about five or ten 
minutes after I left colonel Gardner. There was 
much difficul~ in getting to the general, on account 
of the under brush. The fire was much more se­
v~re than it was when I received the order from 
colonel Gardner. 

Question by the court. Did you make any reply 
to colonel Gardner, after he requested you to con_ 
vey the order to general Ripley-if so, what? 
. A. I believe I did make a reply, but don't re­

member the particular words; I hesitated about 
carrying the order. 

Question by the court. Why did you hesitate? 
A. Because I felt 011 impropriety in carrying 

the orders of the commander in chief. 
Question by the prisoner.· What was the order 

given you to general Ripley? 
A. The substance of the order which he re­

quested me to convey to general. Ripley, was, that, 
general Ripley should take tbe general direction of 
the troops. 
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QueJtion hy the prisoner. Did you not start·im. 
mediately to carry the order? 
, A. After colonel Gardner left me, I carried the 
order. 

Question by the p'r;soner. Did you, (or did you 
not) express any objection to carry the order? 

A. I have answered that question as n¢arly as 
I could, already. ' 

Question hy the prisoner. How long was it after 
the first engagement, and after general Miller's 
column had advanced, when the reserve entered the 
wood? ' 

A. The reserve was pOsted in Fort Erie, until 
the firing commenced, and was ordered to go into 
the action, but by some want of intelligence in 
communicating the order, the reserve took a direc. 
tion different to what was intended, as was under. 
stood at the time, and received a second order to 
enter the wood; the exact number of minutes in 
doing this would be difficult for me to say, as I was 
employed in communicating orders from one end 
of the column to the other, but should not suppose 
it exceeded twenty -five minutes, from the first tiring 
in the woods. 

Qtlcstion by the prisoner. What conversation 
(if any) have you had with general Ripley, relative 
to the subject of your testimony, or with his staff? 

The judge advocate objecte!l to the witness an. 
swering the question, it being jr~levant to the 
case .. 

The court decided that it was an ilnpro~ que ... 
tioh. to be put to the witness. 

E 
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QUlstion by the court. Was col. C. K. Gardner, 
adjutant general of general Brown's division, on the 
17th September, 1814? ' 

A. Yes. 
Q~e8tion by the "court. What was the distance, 

from the 'place where colonel Gardner asked you to. 
carry the order, to that where you found and deli. 
vered the order to general Ripley? 

.A.. 1 cannot say exactly; I suppose it could 
not exceed 10, 15, 20, or 25 rods. 

Question by the court. Did you think at the 
moment that colonel Gardner directed you to carry 
the order because he was afraid to carry it himself? 

.A.. ' . I do not know that he was, but my imprcs. 
tion was, that he was so; he was evidentlyendea­
voring to find general Ripley. 

And then the court adjourned till to·morro\", 
1tI:omingat nine o'clock. 

OCTOBER 25, 1815. 

The court met pursuant to adjournment. 
PRESENT. 

"~olonel M'Neil, president; lieut. col. Eustis~ 
1i~ut. col. Walbach, major Crane, major Harris, 
captain M'Dowell, captain Thornton, captain Ben. 
nett, captain Craig, members; captain Irvine, su.­
pery.umerary; lieut. Edwards, judge advQcate. 

jThe prisoner_ suggested to take the sense of the 
court, whether q~estions to witnesses are proper, 
which reqtlite liis"imprcS$ions' relative to what does 
not e~ter into any specification against him, and reo 
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spectfully suggested, that the record might ~ 
altered. 

The court decided that the record shoulrJ remain 
QS if was. 

The prisoner requested the sense and deci­
sion of the court, on what he considered of impor­
tance to his defence, whether he should be per­
mitted to examine the witnesses, or bril)g collu­
sIon iJetwem his prOlccutor and any witness, or as 
to improper means taken to give impr~ssions inju~ 
rious to him in conversations with any witness. 

The court decided that the prisoner should pro. 
duce evidence to invalidate the tC$tinwnV on the;; 
part of the prosecution, but not until he entered 
intd his defence. 

Lieutenant Elisha Brimluzll, late of tbe ninth re, 
giment infantry, a witness on the part of the pr9se­
eution, being sworn, says-

At the battle of Chippeway, I was wounded i~ 
the commencement of the engagement, before we 
had got into line-"while we were marching over the 
bridge, which obliged me to retire iQto the rear.-;­
I went into a house on our left, as we marched down 
t-owards the enemy; as th~nemy's artillery-were 
directed that way, two of their shot went through 
the house ; I then left the house and went into a 
barn, about 3() or 40 rods in the rear-while I was 
in the barn and binding up my wound, a shell pass. 
ed: through the roof of the. barn and exploded; I 
~nt to the door, 1ntending to go still farther to the 
r~ar; I saw colonel Gardner on horseback, with a 
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number of Indians and teamsters about him; at the 
time I went to the door ~ they were all retiring far­
ther to the rear. 

Question by the prosecution. Did you at the bat­
tle of Chippeway, sec colonel Gardner within mus­
ket range of the enemy? 

A. I did not. 
Question by tlze prosecution. When you saw 

col. Gardner retiring to the rear, was he in haste? 
A. lie appeared to be. 
Question by the prosecution. What were your 

impressions at the time you saw the prisoner, when 
he was galloping to the rear ? . 

The prisoner wished the decision of the court, 
a$ to whether questions, might be asked witnesses 
to obtain their impressions, relative to what is not 
specified against him ? 

The court decided that no irrelevant qu~tioll 
should be put to the witness~s; but that questions 
should be asked relative to the impressions of wit­
nesses, which do relate to the case of the prisoner. 

The witness then answered-to get out of the 
teach of the enemy's shot, as at that time their are 
tillery was directed that way. 

Question by the p'f/lbsecution. Were you ncar 
enough to the prisoner to observe his countenance? 

A. I was. 
Question by the prosecutio1l. Did he appear to be 

under the influence of fear ? 
.t1. I could not tell exactly; that was my im­

pression at the time. 
Question by the court. At the time you sa'w 
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colonel Gardner retiring from the bam, were 9ur 
troops closely engaged with the enemy? 

A. They were. 
Question hy the court. How long did colonel 

Gardner continue in your sight, And which course 
did he take? 

A. He went towards the second brigade, which 
was still in farther In the rear; I should say hecon. 
tinued in my sight from one to two minutes. 

Question by the court. Where was gen. Brown 
at that time? 

A. I do not know. 
Question fly the, court. How long did you re­

main in the bam? 
A. Two or three minutes. 
Question by the court. What distance was the 

enemy from the barn at the time the shell exploded? 
A. I cannot tell exactly; I should say from 60 

to 80 rods. 
Question hy the court. Had the engagement be. 

come stationary, or was the enemy retreating? 
A. The engagement was stationary at the time. 
Question 6y the prisoner. What house did you 

first enter near the creek ? 
A. The white house; I don't recollect who 

oWJ;1ed it. 
Question by the prisoner. Was this white house 

in front of the creek ? 
A. It was, I believe. 
Question by th~ prisoner. Were you, or were 

you not, in the rear of the barn, or at the rear sill 
sf the opening, when I came up? 
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A. I did not see the prisoner come up. 
Question by the prisoner. Was the bam open, 

and a free passage through? 
A. There was a passage through by doors, the 

doors at that time open. 
Question by the prisoner. Were you slightly 

wounded, or in what manner? 
A. I was reported slightly wounded, but it 

proved to be very severe; I was wounded in the 
face or head. 

Question by the prisoner. After the time that 
the shell you speak of burst, and when you came 
to the rear of the barn, did you, or did you not, see 
me pass to the end of the bam, in the road? 

A. I do not recollect; I saw the prisoner pass 
up the road that was towards the rear. 

Question by the prisoner. Was there any shot 
flying from the enemy, at the time you saw me 
gallop towards the second brigade ? 

A. There 'was. 
Questioll by the prisoner. Are you certain, 

whether you did not see me approach from the di­
rection of the creek to the left? 

A. I did not. 
Question by the court. How do you know that 

our troops were closely engaged-could you see 
them? 

A. I could not see them-I knew they were en. 
gaged by the sound of the musquetry. 

Question by the prisoner. Have you, or have you 
uot, been promised by general Ripley, his interest in 
favor of your being continued in the army? 
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The judge mvocate objected to this question be. 
ing put, on the ground of its irrelevancy. 

The -court decided that it $hould not be put to 

the witness in the present stage of the trial. 

Lieutenant Horace Storg, of the corps of engi­
neers, and acting adjutant to that corps, a witness 
on the part of the pl"osecution, being duly sworn, 
says-

I saw colonel Gardner the afternoon of the sortie 
from Fort Erie, in the skirts of the woods, between 
battery No. S~ and battery No.2, a British battery, 
in ~rnpany with general Brown, and suite, colonel 
Jones, captain Austin, and lieutenant Armstrong; 
I had gone up with, captain ~irby, who complained 
of being exhausted with running, and at his request 
to carry an order from general Brown to general 
Ripley, by order of colonel M'Kee; I afterwards 
remained near the person of general Brown; I con­
versed with colonel Gardner, 10 or 15 minutes, ill 
front of the third battery, (the enemy's;) general 
Brown was not stationary at any particular place, 
but moved from the right to the left, as occasion 
required ; during the whole time that I was with 
colonel Gardner, and I never was more than forty 
or fifty yards distant from him, to my recollection,­
he appeared perfectly cool and collected. 

Question by the prosecution. Were you not on 
~ point of going into action yourself with a mus­
ket? and what did colonel Gardner say to you? 
. A. While in front of the, third battery, in com­

pany with colonel Gardner, I had stopped a soldier 
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r~turning with a British musket, which he had. ta· 
ken prize, and 'fas carrying into camp; I sent him 
back again, and took his musket from him. I af­
terwards said to colonel Gardner-I had a good 
mind to go into the battery ~ he told me, it was 
very foolish, as I had no command, and adviseE! 
me to stay where I was-I accordingly took his 
advice. 

Question by the prosecution. Were you in dan­
ger when with c<;llonel Gardner, and at the time he 
spoke to you? 

A. At that time I thi~k the firing did not reach 
us; I, however, advanced towards the third batte. 
ry, until the explosion of the magazine, by li,llt. 
Riddle, and the falling of the timber, warned me to 
retire; this was the only time I recollect to have 
lost sight of colonel Gardner. When I joined him 
again, he had accompanied general Brown a little 
on our right; a very severe fire had began in that 
quarter, I presume from a reinforcement of the 
enemy-the musket balls, as I passed towards col. 
Gardner, flew over my head and struck in the 
grass, and continued to do so after I had come up 
with him; I spoke at intervals to colonel Gardner, 
a number of times, and he always appeared the 
~ame, perfectly collected. 

Question by the prosecution. Was there a ravine 
near the skirts of the wood, which YOll have men­
tioned? 

A. There was a ravine at ai90ut 150 yards from 
the skirts of the wood, in the cleared ground to­
wards F:~rt Erie. 
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Q~$tiC1li ilg the CoUt't. Do you tt'lconect colOnel 
'Gardner be,iog' sent by seneralUrown, with otders 
to general Ripley ? ' 

w1.. . J. know m1thing of it; I stood in front of 
the third battery, 'sending ~he men back, as they 
came oui occasionally, looking at general Brown, 
am his suite ; so ihat an order might· have been 
given., without I'ny kn.owing a~y thing about it. 

Qwation bY' the e"urt. Where was the column 
of reserve .. during the time you were with colonel 

'\ 
Gardhe .. ? " 

A. The colurtm of re;;erve had proceeded up 
the ravine, at the time I was overtaken by captain 
Kirbj , and found general Brown in company with 
his I!tllite~ in tlw skirts of the wood. 

Question hg the prisPner. When you saw me 
near battery No.:3, of the enemy, and at other 
times, was I in front of the general situation of 
gc;:neral Brown ? 

A. When we were in front of the third battery. 
general' Brown was, I th~k, about 50 feet on out 
right, and I should judge about fifteen or twenty 
feet in our rear. 

Brevet brigadier general J. Miller, a witness ~Q1' 
the prosecution, of the fifth regiment inf~ntry, l>e~ 
ing sworn, says-

I know nothing of the charges against colonel 

(lardner. • 
Question by the prosec6tor. Were you at ~ 

bt\ttl~ of Bridgwater, and if so, did. you see colonel 
Gardner, in the engagement-1' 

:R 
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A. I was in the battle of Bridgwclter,but don1t 

recollect to have seen colonel Gardner in the ac­
tion. 

Question by the prosecution. Were you in the 
action of the 17th September, 1814, near Fort Erie, 
and did you see colonel Gardner in that action? 

A. I was in that action; I don't recollect to 
have seen colonel Gardner in the action. 

The prisoner admitted that he was not engaged 
with the enemy, at the battle of Bridgwater; that 
he was sick, and confined to his bed through the 
day, and had been ill for a number of days, and 
was unable then to do justice to himself, in the dis­
charge of his duties in action. 

The court adjourned, to meet to-morrow at nine 
o'clock. 

OCTOBER 26, 1815. 

The court met pursuant to adjournment. 
PRESENT. 

Colonel McNeil, president; lieut. col. Eustis. 
lieut. col. Walbach, major Crane, major Harris, 
captain MCDowell, captain Thornton, captain Ben. 
nett, captain Craig, members; captain Irvine, su­
pernumerary; lieut. Edwards, judge advocate. 

C?lonel Jacob Hindman, of the corps of artillery, 
a witness on the part of the prosecution, being 
sworn, says-

I have no knowlege of the conduct of colonel 
Gardner, at the battle ofChippeway. 
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Question by thePt'Osecutor. Were you at the 

battle ofChippeway? . 
A. I was on the field at the commencement, 

but took no part until about the end. 
Question by the prosecution. Did you in that ac­

l¥>n see colonel Gardner? 
.A. I did not. 
Question b!l the court. What was your com-. 

mand at the battle of Chippeway ? 
oA. The artillery • 

. Qu,stion 0!l the court. Did you receive any or­
cJ.ers during the action ? 

A. Previous to the action, I received orders 
from general Brown personally, and in the action, 
orders from general Scott, and lastly from genet':ll 
Brown peJ'$onally. 

Question 611 the prisoner. ; Were )'lOu with the 
heavy pieces of artillery, on the bank of the Niagara, 
and did you then see me ride up and say, that the 
artillery should advance, without giving it as an 
order? . 

A. Sometimes I was with the heavy pieces of 
aJtillery, but have no knowlege of such a request 
being made by colonel Gardner. 

Qucsti.n 6!1 the prosecution. Did not colQnel 
Gardner, on the morning after tpe battle of Bridg­
water, deliver you an order? 

A. I am not certain that be did. 
Colonel Hindman, was then requested to testify, 

as to any knowlege he might posse~s relative to th~ 
fourth s~£i1icationof the fou~th cJlarge ? 



*~ 

Questi91t by theprosetution. Did you, white on 
the Niagara frontier, ever hear the epj;thets, c~d 
or scoundrel, applied to colonel Gardner 'by gene~­
Ripley? 

./I. Not personally to colonel Gardmtl'-; h,-has 
been called by general Ripley, in my presence, by 
shch"epithets. 

Question by the prisoner. Did you Ctverhear gen. 
Ripfey /Say, that he made them to me? and did you 
ever understand that I knew of these expressions : 

4. I have heard general Ripley s~y, tllathehad 
pronounce~ colonel Gardner, to his face,-or within 
his hearing-coward, or scoundrel, or words to 
that effect; but have no knowlege of colonel Gard­
Rer's being further acquainted wirf this decbni­
tion; my impression was, that he (cohGardllftr) 
had not hear~ of such expre&&ions from any other 

- sauree, at the time I heard general Ripley ma%e usc 
Qf those expressions. 

Qucstiqn by the prisoner. Can you recoUcotwho 
was present at any time, when you have heard these 
expressions? 

4· I cannot recollect the persons on the Niaga­
ra frontier; but at Washington, to the best of my 
recollection, lieut. col. Selden, majbr M'Donald, 
(of general Ripley's staff,) and, I.tbink, Dr.Bro­
naugh. 

Question by the prisoner. At what time did you 
hear these remarks from general Ripley? 

./I. In August, September, and October, last 
year, when we were at Fort Erie; I cannot sar 
precisely. 



406 

'luestion "'!ItM ,,.;IfiM1i. Was it sub,sequent to 
cenera1 :rupky~s r~\u.rn into Ericr from furlough? 

.A.. " I cannot tell with certainty. 

,; Mf-jor, , ~homlZ$Ji"t;ri8on, of the iateforty .s«rco~ 
r~lJilQ.f:;nt of infuntrY, it witness on t~ part ()f the 
p1=p~e~~tiqn~ beiqg s~orn, $ar~""" ' 

I, ~ ~ ,~e ~Ule of Cpipp'e~ay" on the 5th of 
July. 1814; I 'did 'qot see colonel Gardner in the 
a(ttion ...... liJUt as ~ weremarcbiag on the field, r 
-$aW gentiBr~-n.r.lde up 'to gtmeral S0ett. and I 
p-reSl;1Rl4!·he,-gate'hirtlsOme brder; I 'do not know 
the amount of the order. 

,Major:JIf1?!anJini Watson; of the sixth infantry, a 
witness on the part Gf the }WosCcution,. being duly 
sworn, says--,. 

.. i I. aaw'colcmel, Gardner but, once 'at the battie of 
tlh,ippeway; 'he was then enquirillg for general 
:lUp1ey's bri~,' as. be stated, for the purp0se of 
~1inicati~ an '(1fder; I ,knew nothing of his 
gatt.ihg: behind a barw~ 

Question hy the prosecution. At what period Qf 
,t,he action did yOu see colonel Oar.dner? ' 

.!I. It was ~hile the enemy were retreating. 
The ~o\trt adjouined; to ll1eet1to.morrow mom· 

mg, at nine:o!cloeW, in consequence of the absence 
~f wiUltsscs. 
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The court met pursuant to adjournment. 
PUESENT. 

Colonel M'Neil, president; lieut. col. Eustis, 
lieut. col. Walbach, major Crane, major Harris, 
captain M'Dowell, captain Thornton, captain Ben­
nett, captain Craig, members; captain Irvine,'!ill­
pernum~rary; lieut. Edwards, judge advocate. 

Captain Newman S. Clarke, of the sixth regi­
ment, was again called to testify relative to the pri­
soner's conduct at the battle of Bridgwater, (or 
Lundy's Lane.) 

Question by the prosecution. Did you not see 
colond Gardner, on the evening of the battle of 
Bridgwater, nj;!ar the field of action? ; 

A. I did. 
Question by the prosecutor • . , Was he not on 

horseback, and in rear of the line, and out of danger? 
A. He was on ,horseback, and in rear of the 

line, 100 or 150 yards, I should say-. -and out of 
danger. I don't know that he was not in the action 
previous to this. 

Question by the prosecution. Did col. Gardnj!r 
appear, when you did set: him, in the exercise of his 
duties as a staff officer, or was he unemployed? 

A. He was unemployed; his horse was st;md­
ing still •. I don't know whether he was ordered to 
remain there or not. 

Question by the prisoner. Do you recollect whe. 
ther any musket shot were striking the trees, and the 
road, in which we stood together, at that moment? 
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. A. I don't know that there were any mu:skl!t 
shot;, I heard some ftttlinp' in the bushes~I con­
cluded that they Were musket or grape; theywere 
not far from us. I supposed at the time they were 
spent shot; there was very little firing at the time. 

Question by the prisoner.. Do you recollect of 
my anvancing on the road, and meeting the adju­
tant of the twenty-fifth, who was complaining un­
der a severe wound? 

.A.. Yes.· 
Question by the prosecuti:m. How far did colonel 

Gardner advance? 
.A.. I should think not more than five rods? 
Queltion by the prosecution. Did you consider 

that there was any danger from the fire of the ene­
my, in the position you then occupied? 

.A.. I did not. 
Captain Clarke was then examined relative to his 

knowlege of the prisoner's conduct at the battle of 
Chippeway. 

Question by the prosectltion. Did you see col. 
Gardner at the battle of Chippeway ? 

.A.. I did. 
Question by the prosecution. Was he not with 

the second brigade during a part of the action, and 
during that time was he at all exposed to the fire 
of the enemy? 

.A.. At the time colonel Gardner came to the 
second brigade, there were cannon shot passed over 
the line of the second brigade; two shot passed 
through the second brigade-I don't know that it 
was precisely at the time colonel Gardner came 
that way, but near that time. Colonel Gardner 
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ca,me tp the second brigade, I ~\IPPOse; tQ tive Q~­
ders, as the brigade immediately put itself in tne'­
tion. Colollel Gardner forded the creek with 't~ 
brigade, and marched with the column, until it en. 
tered the woods-the column wall not engaged> 
the enemy were retiring as the column came into 
the field. If I recollect right, colonel G~dner left 
the column soon after it entered the wood, for the 
purpose of ascertaining the position of general Scott 
-don't recollect whether colonel Gardn.er returned 
again or not, but believe he did. 

Question by the prisoner. From what direction 
did I come to'the second brigade ?' 

A. I suppose colonel Gardner came from the 
field of action, or from the bridge-he came from 
that direction; the bridge was near the scene of 
action. 

Question by the prisoner. Do you recollect of 
my going down the creek from the brigade, and reo 
joining it, as it was crossing the creek ? 

A. I do not. 
Question by the prisoner. Did this creek form an 

'acute angle with the river? and was it, or was it 
not, difficult to ford, at the point where the brigade 
forded it ? 

A. Yes, it formed nearly an acute angle.; it was 
very difficult to ford it at the point where the bri-
gade forded it. ' 

Question by the prosecution. W ~s not general 
Brown in the rear of general Scott's brigade, and 
in the direction from which colonel Gardner came , 
at the time he first joined your brigade? 

.1. I don't know where fieneral Brown was. 
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Lieut. col. Nathan Towson, of the regiment light 
artillery, a witness for the prosecution, being sworn, I 

says-
At the battle of Chippeway, I don't recollect to 

have seen colonel Gardner at all. At the action of 
Lundy's Lane, I saw colonel Gardner; he was 
communicating orders to some officers at the foot 
of the hill; 'twas at some distance from where the 
action was. I do not recollect to have seen him at 
any other time near the field. 

Question by the prosecution. At what period of 
the action did you see colonel Gardner; and was 
he at that time out of danger? 

A. It was after the enemy's batteries had been 
cattied..,.-J believe there was no firing at the time. 

Question by the prisoner. Do you conceive that 
from the manner in which the action at Chippeway 
cCilmmenced, that my duties were to form, and lead 

. the men into action ? 
A. I do not, under the circumstances which 

that action commenced. 
Questioll by the prosecution. Would not the du­

ties of colonel Gardner, as adjutant general and 
chief· of the staff, require his. presence with the 
troops composing the army, during an action? 

.A. I do think it the duty of an adjutant general 
to be present, and very active at the time of an ac­
tion. I will state to the court, the reasons why I 
think it was not necessary for colorel Gardner to 
form the troops at the battle of Chippeway. The 
brigade of general Scott, which fought the battle, 

r. 
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was already formed for drill, as they marched off 
for battle-of course it was not necessary for col. 
Gardner to form them. 

Captain Reynold M. Kirby, of the corps of artil. 
lery, and aid-de.camp to general Ripley; a witness 
for the prosecution, being sworn, says-

I received a sealed note, in the hand writing of col. 
Gardner, directed to general Ripley, which I knew, 
from having seen his hand writing repeatedly. I 
recei\'ed it from the bar-keeper of Earle's coffee­
house; I gave it to general Ripley-he shewed me 
the note very soon afterwards, that evening-and 
it was the same in purport as the note in the speci­
fication. He directed me to return it to colonel 
Gardner. I called at the Exchange coffee-house, 
to enquire for colonel Gardner, supposing that he 
lodged there-the bar-keeper immediately spoke, 
and said that if I had any note for col. Gardner, he 
would receive it, and'see that col. Gardner had it. 
I enquired where colonel Gardner was, and found 
him, and gave him the note myself. There was an 
endorsement on the back of the note I gave colonel 
Gardner, in the hand writing of general Ripley. 

Question by the prisoner. Did you hand the note, 
with the endorsement, to me, as a message from 
general Ripley ? 

A. I gave it to colonel Gardner from general 
Ripley. 

Question by the prisoner. Do you know that I 
left the note with the bar-keeper at this (Earle'~ 
house, and how far do you know of it ? 
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"f. I received the note from the bar-keeper; 
from whom he received it, I don't know. 

The court adjourned until to-morrow morning, 
at nine o'clo~k. 

OCTOBER 28, 1815. 

The court met pursuant to adjournment. 
PRESENT. 

Colonel M'Neil, president; lieut. col. Eustis, 
lieut. col. Walbach, major Crane, major Harris, 
<;aptain M'Dowell, captain Thornton, captain B~n­
nett, ~aptain Craig, membe~; captain Irvine, s1.J­
pernumerary; lieut. Edwards, judge advocate. 

Captain David Deacon, of the United States navy, 
a witness for the prosecution, being sworn, says-

Some time in the month of September, colonel 
Gardner came to me, and mentioned the circum­
stance of his wishirig to communicate with general 
Ripley, and mentioned the circumstance of a letter 
being left in the hotel by him-that general Ripley 
received it, .but had returned it, objecting to the 
manner in which it had been handed to him. Col. 
Gardner then mentioned to me, that his friend was 
not here, and asked me if I had any objection to 
handing general Ripley a sealed letter, to do away 
the objection that he had made previous. I tolQ. 
colonel Gardner, that I was very much engaged.; 
I ~ould not enter fully in the business-but, that if 
he would write on the envelope, the reason or cause 
of my: coming, which was to do away the former 
objection, I would consent to carry it. <;:olanel 



52 

Ci-ardner expressed to me, at this time,. that he 
would not call on me at the time, but that he wish­
ed to do away the objection immediately-that was 
his only object in calling on me. I accordingly de­
livered the letter to general Ripley; he read the 
envelope, and accepted the letter-our business 
there ended, after some explanation relative to the 
envelope. 

Question by the prosecution. Did you read the 
letter which you bore from colonel Gardner? 

A. No. Colonel Gardner read the outlines to 
me; I don't recollect the particular parts of it.­
The envelope I read two or three times over. 

Question by the prosecution. Was the letter the 
same in purport with the letter recited in the speci­
fication? 

A. I cannot say-there are some parts that ap­
pear similar. 

The prisoner admitted that it was the same. 
Question by the prisoner. Was it, or was it not, 

our understanding, that the favor you were so good 
as to do for me, was merely to deliver the letter, and 
ascertain its acceptance ? 

A. Yes. 
Question by the prisoner. "Vill you state the ac­

ceptance understood, and whether the objection was 
admitted to be done away? 

A. The letter was accepted from my hands-I 
cannot say whether the: object~on was done away. 

Question by the prisoner. 'Vas the substance of 
the envelope you speak of, the same with this ?_ 
(which follows) : 
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Boatwn, 18th Sept. 1815. 

SIR-That this letter, signed by me, may be. 
come entitled to be the subject of your considera. 
tion, I have requested captain Deacon, a master 
and commander in the United States navy, to hand 
it to you. 

As the objection, agreeably to your endorsement, 
was only to the disrespect of the manner in \\< hich 
the letter was communicated, (by the keeper of the 
tavern at which you put up, to the hands of your 
aid, and under seal, into your hands,) and not to 
the letter itself, I now anticipate your speedy con­
sideration and reply. 

I have the honor to be, 
With very respectful intention, 

Sir, your obedient servant, 
(Signed) C. K. GARDNER. 

~lajor General RIBLEY • 

.d. I believe it was the same. 

The judge advocate informed the court, that 
several witnesses were absent-the following is a 
list of their names; annexed to which is the sub· 
stance of their testimony-and respectfully submit­
ted to the court, whether their evidence was, or was 
not, of importance. 

Captain J. R • .Bell, to support fourth specifica: 
tion of fourth charge. 

Captain N. No Hall, (at New York,) to prove 
what gen. Ripley said to major Gardner, as stated 
in fourth specification of fourth charge. 

Major Crooker, to testify. that he never saw the 
prisotler in action. 
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Lieut. col. Snelling, to prove general Ripley's re­
marks, as stated in the fourth specification of fourth 

charge. 
Colonel Leavenworth, to testify his not seeing 

the prisoner in action. 
Colonel G. M. Brooke, same evidence as colonel 

Leavenworth. 
Major Marston, prisoner's position at Niagara. 
Major Orne, same testimony as major Marston. 
Major Harrison, to corroborate the testimony of 

lieutenant Brimhall. 

The prisoner addressed the court in the follow­
ing words: 

I wish the evidence of major Marston, to prove 
that after giving orders to general Ripley to advance 
with the second brigade, I left it to see the situa­
tion of the action; went down the creek, which 
ran for some distance nearly parallel with the river; 
that the barn was connected with the creek on 
which it stood, by high board fences, and prevent­
ed the possibility of my passing in front of the 
barn; that after I had observed the engagement 
from the road which passes the barn, on the bank 
cf the river, I returned to the twenty. first, (the only 
regiment taken by general Ripley) found it passing 
the creek in a mode not the most expeditious, and 
made a suggestion to major Marston, or some cap­
tain of the twenty- first regiment, which was adopt­
ed, and which gave it expedition; that I continued 
to lead that regiment of the brigade, agreeably to 
my instructions, until the enemy retreated-that 
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my conduct and language was such as to animate 
the men of this brigade. 

I wish to obtain in evidence, the impressions of 
colonel Brooke, major Marston, and all the others 
who are absent, to rebut the impressions of lieut. 
Brimhall, late in the army, and captain Clarke, late 
brigade major to general Ripley. 

I wish the evidence of lieut. Lee, aid-de-camp to 
my prosecutor, to prove that he used no such ex­
pressions as those alleged in the third specification 
of the fourth charge, when he called upon me with 
a verbal message from major general Ripley; that 
what he did say, I answered as coming from general 
Rip!ey, and to state my verbal reply. 

I wish also the deposition of general Gaines, and 
the evidence of major Worth, with respect to my 
genera'l character, whether they saw me in the ac­
tion, ana their present conviction of my conduct. 

I wish major Orne's evidence, that he never saw 
me, during the action of LundY's-lane, (as it is 
called by my prosecutor.) 

Very respectfulJy, 
(Signed) ,C. K. GARDNER, 

:Major and Acting Adjt General 

Major .Azor Orne, of the late twenty-first regi­
ment, and late assistant inspector general, a witness 
on th~ part of the prosecution, being sworn to tes­
tify as to the prisoner's conduct at the battle of 

. Bridgewater, says--
", All that I can state about colonel Gardner is this: . , 

I was 'ordered to remain in camp by general Brown, 
with 'gtIleral Porter, to see to the defence of the 
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encampment; and when I returned from the camp 
towards the field, I met colonel Gardner near the 
field of action, near Mrs. Wilson's; he was giving 
directions relative to prisoners, (those taken wi~ 
general Riall,) which fell within my department­
I observed to colonel Gardner at the time, that he 
had taken my dllty out of my hands, or to that 
amount; and I could dispense with his services any 
farther. I do not recollect of there being any firing 
at that time, and don't know which way colonel 
Gardner went. 

The court adjourned till Tuesday, the 31st of 
October inst. at 9 o'clock, A. M. in order to afford 
the judge advocate and the prisoner, an opportunity 
of making arrangements relative to the obtaining of 
testimony by deposition. 

OCTOBER 31, 1815. 

The court met pursuant to adjournment. 
PRESENT. 

Colonel M'Neil, president; lieut. col. Eustis, 
lieut. col. Walbach, major Crane, major Harris, 
captain M'Dowell, captain Thornton, captain Ben. 
nett, captain Craig, members; captain Irvine, suo 
pernumerary; lieut. Edwards, judge advocate. 

Major Harris informed the judge advocate, that 
since the adjournment of the court on the 28th , 
he had received a commission which gave bim the 
brevet rank ?f lieutenant colonel, from the 25th of 
July, 1814. He accordingly took his ~eat agreea­
bly to his rank. 

/" 
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It being a de$irable object to obtain the rem~in. 
ing evidellce on both sides, with as much _expedi. 
tion as possible, the judge advocate and the prison­
er, agreed to propound the subjoined questions to 
witnesses at a distance, in order to obtain their 
written instead of oral testimony. 

ON THE PART OF THE PROSECUTION. 

To captain Bell.-Did not colonel Gardner, at 
Albany, last winter, tell you that general Ripley had, 
done every thing. on the Niagara frontier, to pick 
a quarrel with him ? 

To captain Hall.-Did not general Ripley al. 
ways pronounce colonel Gardner, a coward,at Fort 
Erie ? -,and was not this done in presence of the 
general staff, and without disguise, or wish for con. 
cealment? 

To lieut. col. Snelling.-The same question as 
to captain Hall. 

To colonel Leavenworth, colonel Brooke, major 
Crooker, and lieut. col. Jones.-Did you ever see 
major Gardner expose himself to the musketry of 
the enemy? 

To major Marston.-Where was the position of 
colonel Gardner, during the battle of Niagara, anQ.. 
what was his conduct? 

THE PRISON Ell WISHES 

Lieut. col. Snelling-To stat~ all he knows of 
the fourth charge and specifications. 

Major Marston-To state what he saw of (lolonel 
Gardner's cQnductat Chippeway. 

Major general Gaines.-l~t. Did you ever see 
colonel Gariner in action ? 

H 



58 

2nd. 'Vhat was your conviction, an~ now is your 
conviction, of his conduct at such time? 

Srd. Have you had an opportunity of becoming 
acq uainted with his sentiments as a man of hOllor? 
How great an opportunity? 

4th. What is your opinion and conviction of his . 
character as a man of honor? 

Of major IYortb.-The same qu.estions as to 
general Gaines. 

ON THE PART OF THE PROSECUTION. 

To major general Wilkinson.-lst. Did you not 
say, in the hearing of colonel Gardner, last winter, 
at Albany, that he was a scoundrel and coward, 
and did he resent it in any way? 

2nd. What was the affair between col. Gardner 
and lieutenant Johnson, of the old sixth; and was 
it not considered disgraceful to colonel Gardner? 
and did not all the officers of the sixth, petition to 
the secretary of war, to have him struck from Mle 
rolls of the army? 

ON THE PART OF THE PRISONER. 

The third and fourth specifications, and also the 
second question to gf'neral Wilkinson, to the lieut. 
Johnson referred to, (I suppose) now a merchant, 
at Pittsburg, (Penn.) The second question of the 
prosecutor to general Wilkinson, also to said capt. 
Johnson. 

To general Ffilkinson-
1. Did you ever state that you did so ? 
2. Did you ever state this ? 

The prisoner declared that the presence of 
lieutenant Lee, was necessary to his defence, and 
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'requested that 'he ,might be summoned to appear 
before the court. 

The court adjourned till to-morrow mornin" at 
9 o'clock. " 

NOVEMBER 1, 1815. 

The court met pursuant to adjournment. ' 
PRESENT, 

Colonel M'Neil, pr!!sident; lieut. col. Eustis, 
lieut. col. Harris, lieut. ~ol. Walbach, major Crane, 
captain McDowell, captaiI]. Thornton, captain Ben­
nett~ captain Craig~ members; captain Irvine, su. 
pernumerary; lieut. Edwards, judge ,advocate. 

Major general jaco6 Brown, commanding th~ 
·northern division of the United States army, a wit-
ness for the prisoner, being sworn, says-- , 

I can state to the court, at the battle of Chippe: 
way, colonel Gardner was with me, in advanc~ of 
Street's creek, previous to my having certainly as­
certained that a general engagement would take 
place. Previous to this p~int of t~me, I had order­
ed general Porter, with his volunteers, to break off 
for the rear of our general encampment, march to 

, the left through the wood~, out of view, and en­
deavor to get between the enemy's light parties 
and their main camp, on the Chippeway. This 
being the state of thet~oops, and of the orders 
given, I was in advance of Street's creek, with my 
staff, of which number colonel Gardner was one, 
and present. I directed the advance picket to fall 
pack to a log-house, near Mrs. Street's, in hopes 
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that the light parties of the enemy would close up, 
so that general Porter, with his command, could 
place himself in their rear, and cut them off from 
their main camp. The American picket fell back 
accordingly, and the light part of the enemy in the 
strait, advanced; when some firing took place be­
tween the pickets of the two armies. At this mo­
ment, I heard a heavy firing on our extreme left, 
in the wood, and from the report, I knew that Por. 
ter had not advanced sufficiently for to take ground' 
to the right, so as to enclose the enemy's light par­
ties; from whjch, I inferred, that the enemy had 
advanced in force, and from the dust that was rising 
near the Chippeway, I was induced to believe that 
the enemy were advancing with their whole force; 
I so stated to tho:;e around me, and immediately 
mounted, with my staff, rode rapidly to general 
Scott's tent, he being the commanding officer of 
the first brigade, to which was attached Towson's 
company of artil1err, and ordered him to advance 
with his command. At the momenc I gave him 
the order, he was standing before his tent, his horse 
prepared for him to mount, and his command turn­
ing out for drill; the order was obeyed with great 
promptness and ability. Within ten minutes from 
this time, and I most clearly believe within fifteen, 
I ordered colonel Gardner, we then being within 
the space occupied as a camp, and but a few rods 
in front of the second line, which general Ripley 
commanded, to go to general Hipley, and order 
him to advance by the left, through the skirt of the 
woods, and if possible, gain a position in rear of 
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the enemy's right flahk, whilst he was engaged with 
Scott ,ill front; and I ordered colonel Gardner tb 

remain with general Ripley, and his command, and 
to aid in conducting his column to the ground, as I 
had ordered. I saw no more of colonel Gat:dner, 
until I passed colonel Jessup, who .eommanded the 
left battalion 'Of Scott's brigade, at which moment, 
ScoWs command and the British army, were en­
gaged in close and desperate conflict; having spo­
ken with eolon~l Jessup, I inclined still further to 
the left, in hopes of meeting the head of general 
Ripley's command; going a few rods, I observed 
colonel Gardner in the bu'shes, called to him-he 
was on horseback, in advance of the troops, led on 
by general Ripley; he promptly informed me that 
general Ripley was near, with his command-and 
would in a few minutes, be able to close with the 

. en~my, as I had directed. Before, however, gen. 
Ripley's command came up, Scott's command, 
aided by the deep and deadly wounds that general 
Porter's volunteers had inflicted, defeated and drove 
in the enemy in great confusion. 

Relative to the prisoner's conduct at the battle of 
Niagara, (or LundY's-lane) the witness says: 

I saw colonel Gardner, previous to the action of 
Niagara; he was very unwell, and part of the time 
in his tent. I c;aw him lying down on his bedding 
and he complained of being unwell. I did not ex­
pect much from colonel Gardner in th« battle of 
Niagara; I considered him a sick man. 

Scott had been 'ordered to advance with his bri­
gade~ Towsop.'s artUIery, and major Harris, with 
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the mounted regular and militia dragoons. After 
they had been some time in advance, I heard a very 
considerable firing, from which I inferred, that 
Scott had met the enemy. My staff were imme­
diately assembled around me, with the exception 
of major Jones and major Wood, who had advanc­
ed with Scott; I ordered colonel Gardner, with 
my aids, to put the troops that were in camp, on 
the march as promptly as possible; all the regu­
lars to proceed directly on to Scott's support; the 
militia, under general Porter, to advance to the old 
work of the enemy, on the east, or lower side of the 
Chippeway creek. Having confided to colonel 
Gardner, as chief of my staff, the order for all the 
troops in camp, to advance-I rode as rapidly as 
possible, with colonel M'Ree, towards the scene of 
action; the first distinct information that I recol. 
lect, was from colonel Jones, that I met near the 
Chippeway.' He informed me, that Scott was en­
gaged with the enemy, and that they appeared in 
force. I instantly ordered him to proceed, and or. 
der up gen. Porter with his volunteers also. 

Colonel Gardner, was within the field of action; 
he communicated with my aids, and I considered 
his conduct correct and honorable under the cir. 
~umstances. I did not give him personally, any 
order on the field. 

During my absence, for the recovery of my 
wound, after the battle of the Falls, col. Gardner 
joined me for the recovery of his health, by per­
mission of general Gaines. After being with me 
for a few days, he asked permission to return, which 
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t refused ~ he repeated his application different 
times, which was as. often refused. 

Relative to the prisoner's conduct at the s~rtie 
from Fort Erie, the witness ~llrther states: 

The first colonel Gardner knew of the sortie of 
the 17th of September, was on. the morning of that 

, day. I had, the evening previous, intimated to col. 
Jones, my intentions, as his tent was near mine, 
and I had to make use of him in my arrangements. 
'When ~ informed colonel Gardner of the plan of 
the sortie, I put him upon the performance of cer­
tain duties, to which he attended with zeal and 
cheeifulness; though. he did appear to me, to be 
hurt, that I had not sooner informed him of my in­
tentions. When sufficient time had elapsed, as I 
supposed, for general Porter to' gain a little path 
way, that led from the rear of Fort Erie, past the 
front of the enemy's right, being anxious to see him, 
I passed out upon this path way, to meet him, with 
five or six soldier-s, and my aid, lieut. Armstrong; 
as we were passing out, at this moment colonel 
Gardner hastily came up to me, with a view of pro­
eeeding out in company; - as I did not consider any 
additional aid could be useful for such a purpose, I 
.ordered him within the lines of our camp, to attend 
to duties that I deemed important. 

After general Porter had turned the enemy's 
right, and general Miller had pierced his line, be­
tween battery No.3, an,d battery No.2, colonel 
G-atdner I saw ncar me, as I was standing in front 
~f 'battery No.3, and sent him with an order to 
gene;a,1 Ripley. This was befQrc the reserve ullder 
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general Ripley had advanced across the ravine, be4 
tween the enemy's positioI) and ours. As general 
Ripley and his commanrl, were entering the ene­
my's lines, near battery No.3, I again sent colonel 
Gardner to general Hipley, to order him to move 
with his command, as rapidly as possible, to sup­
port general Miller on our extreme right. 

Que&tion by the prisoner. Do you conceive col. 
Gardner, during his service with you, ever to have 
misbehaved in view of the enemy? 

A. I do not. 
Question by the prisoner. Ever to have faultered 

from the execution of his duty? 
A. Ido not. 
Question by the prisoner. And what do you con. 

ceive his conduct to have been? 
A. Good. 
Question by the prisoner. As commanding gen. 

eral, with the know lege you have had of my ability, 
were you satisfied with the discharge of my duties, 
during the campaign? 

A. Yes. 
Question by the prisoner. Did you ever trust me 

with the responsibility of a command, during the 
campaign on the Niagara? and in such case, what 
was the manner in which you observed me to exe­
cute the trust? 

A. Observing on the morning of the third of 
July, that the troops destined to land above Fort 
Erie, ~lt the same time with those that landed below , 
would not gain- their position in time to secure the 
troops in the garrison-I ordered colonel Gardner 
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to take command of that part of the second bri~e. 
that crossedfromBlack-rock, to form them on the 
beach as theflanded, and march up to Scott's right,· 
where I would give him further orders-:-upon his 
advancing with his command, I ordered him to 
penetrate the woods, in the rear of Fort Erie, anel 
·place his right flank upon the Lake shore, above 
the· Fort, so as to completely. enclose it; and if 
possible, secure all it contained. This duty he 
performed with zeal and gallantry. 
. Question by the prisoner. Was, or was not, this 
the only instance of your charging me with a com. 
mand? 

A. I have no recollection of "ever having given 
colonel Gardner, during the campaign, any other 
c0mmand. 

Question by the prisoner. Did you ever hear 
g~eral Ripley, pronounce me the epitliets inen­
tioned in the fourth specification of fourth charge? 

A. No, I never did-I never heard a word of 
the kind. 

Question by the prisoner. n·id you ev:~r hear 
that he had pronounced me so? and when Md you 
first hear of it ? 4 ' 

A. The first I ever heard of it, was at Buffalo, 
011 my way to Detroit. 

Question by the prisoner. Will the witness 
please to state, whether he has ever h~ard my cou· 
rage doubt¢, and when first? 

.A.,' At· the city of WashingtC'tl';" sometime to· 
warc;ls the close or last April. I have no ):ecollec. 

I 
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tion of ever hearing his courage doubted until I 
.was at "Vashington~ 

Question by the prisom:r. Did you see a brevet 
commission signed by the president, and secretary 
of war, which was sent me ? 

A. Coloael Gardner was in company with me, 
and shewed me an envelope~ which he observed, 
contained a brevet. 

Question by the prisoner. Did I return it? 
A. I have no recollection of having taken the 

trouble to look at it; but I read a letter that he had 
drafted to.the war department,. declining its accept. 
ance. 

Question by the prisoner. Will the witness 
please to state, whe~her he considered the brevet as 
'Voluntarily sent me, as far as respects any agency 
or wishes of mine ? 

A. Colonel Gardner never expressed to me, a 
wish to have a brevet; but on the contrary,. desired 
that he might not be noticed in that way. 

The court adjourned till to.morrow morning, at 
9 o'clock. 

NOVE~lBER 2, 1815. 

The court met pursuant to adjournment. 
PRESENT. 

Colonel M'Neil, president; lieut. col. Eustis, 
lieut. col. Harris, lieut. col. Walbach, major Crane, 
captain M'Dowell, captain Thornton, captain Ben. 
llett, captain Craig, members; captain Irvine, su­
pernumerary; lieutenant Edwards~ judge advocate 
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Lieut, col. JlJnes, of the corps of artillery, a wit­
ness on Ule .part of the prosecution, being sworn. 
says- . 

I remember but one occasion that afforded me a 
distinct opportuD;i.ty of observing the manner of 
colonel Gardner, when engaged with the enemy­
it was on the 17th of September, (the day of the 
sortie- from Fort Erie,) I was with him, some dis­
tance between the ravine and the enemy's battery 
No.3. I particularly observed bis activity in car~ 
zying some orders, I presume from general Brown. 
All that I saw and observed that day, gave me not 
the smallest idea, but the conduct of colonel Gard­
~er, was cool and deliberate, and becoming an offi­
.cer.....-lte was within the wood, certainly withh~ 
musket shot gf the enemy. I do not recollect of 
seeing him at all in a ravine .. 

Question by the pri~one,.. From your situation 
with general :arown, could I have recejved an order 
from him, in the ravine, without your knowlege ? 

A. I did not seegene,ral Brown in the ravine 

.at alt 
Queltio,,- hy the prisoner • Were you under the 

ne~ssitr of issuing orders frop! the adjutant gene­
ral's offiCe, at Queenston, in conseq.uence of my 

illness? 
A. Yes~on the 2,-,th of July,.the day befote 

the battle of Niagara. . 
: ';';Question hy the pris(jner~ Did you ever hear 
::fm~m Ripley, prODQUnce me the epithets scoun­
'preY and coward ? 

. .11. f~O. 
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Question by the prisoner. Did you ever hearlhat 
he had done so; and when first did you hear of it? 

A. Yes. The first I heard of it, was at Sack- . 
ett's harbor, in the month of Mayor June last-

I but it was very different Irom the information given 
me by colonel Snelling, and much more to the pre. 
judice of colonel Gardner, when I saw him at Buf. 
falo, on my way to Detroit, in July last. 

Question by the prisoner. Have you ever com. 
municated it to me ? 

A. I have not; because this is the first time I 
have seen colonel Gardner, since I heard of the 
charge. 

The prisoner requested that general Miller, and 
captain Clarke, witnesses in his behalf, might be 
examined, before the evidence was closed on the 
part of the prosecution, as they were anxious to 
leave town, the public service requiring that they 
should be with their respective commands. 

The request was granted by the court. 

Brevet brigadier ,general Jam::s Miller, of the 
fifth regiment infantry, a witness for the prisoner~ 
was examined. 

Question by the prisoner. Did you ever hear 
general Ripley, prou{)unce me the epithet~ 5coun~ 
drel and coward? 

A. Not that I recollect. 
Question by the. prisoner: Did you ever hear that 

he had done so; and when first did you hear of it? 
A. I never heard that he had done so, until 

lately; and whether it was at Buffalo, or Albany, 
I don't recollect. . . 
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Question hll the prisoner. Did you'ever hear my 
courage doubted-if so, when ? 

A. 'I have no recollection of ever hearing his 
courage doubted, until since the war . 

. Question by the prisoner. Will you please to 
state how long you commanded the old sixth regi-
ment? -

A. I commanded it about a year. 
Question by the prisoner. What was my stand. 

ing with the officers of that regiment, with respect 
to the manner in which they spoke of me ? 

A. I don't recollect to have ever heard the re­
putation of colonel Gardner, called in question, by 
any officer of that regiment. 

Captain Newman S. Clarke, a witness for the 
prisoner, was then examined. 

Qftestion by the prisoner. Have you ever heard 
general Ripley speak injuriously of me ? 

A. I don't recollect to have ever heard him. 
Question by the prisoner. When did you hear 

that he had done so ? 
A. I heard at Fort Erie, that general Ripley 

had liaid some things injurious to him-I don't re­
collect at what time, or from whom. It was, I 
think, previous to the sortie of the 17th September, 
1814 . 
. T~.e court adjourned, to meet again on the 10th 
of,January'~ ISr6, at 10 o'clock, A. M. in order to 
afford' 8'Ufficient time to obtain the testimony of ab­
sent ' '~itnesses, . ~~icularly from major Marston, 
at Detroit., 
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.1ANUARY 10, 1816. 

The court met pursuant to adjournment. 
PRESENT. 

Colonel M'Neilr president; lieut. col. Eustis. 
lieut. col. Harris, lieut. col. Walbach, major Crane; 
captain M'Dowell, captain Thornton, captain Ben­
nett, captain Craig, members; captain Irvine, suo 
pernumerary; lieut. Edwards, judge advocate. 

A letter, of which the following is a copy, was 
laid before the court. 

Washington City, 2d January, 1816. 

SlR-I am directed by major general Ripley, to 
desire you to defer the trial of major Gardner, for 
two days, provided general R. does not arrive:: iv 
Boston by the 10th of January. 

Most respectfully, 
R. M. KIRBY, 

A. D.Camp. 

To Col6nel M'NEIL. 

In consequence of the above letter, and the ab­
sence of the prosecutor, the court adjourned till to­
:norrow morning, at 9 o'clock . 

• JANt:ARY 11, 1816. 

The court met pursuant to adjournment. 
PRESENT. 

Colonel M'Neil, president; lieut. col. Eustis, 
lieut. col. Harris, lieut. col. Walbach, major Crane, 
captain M'Dowell, captain Thornton, captain Ben­
nett, captain Craig, members; captain Irvine, su­
pernumerary; lieut. Edwards, judge advocate. 
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In consequence of the absence of the prosecutor, 
the court adjourned till to-morrow morning, at 9 
O'clock. 

ifANUARY i2, 1816. 

The court met pursuant to adjournment. 
PRESENT . 

. ,Colonel M'Neil, president; lieut. col; Eustis, 
lieut. col. Harris, lieut. col. Walbach, major Crane, 
t:aptain M'Dowdl, captain Thornton, captain Ben­
rtett, captain Craig, members; captain Irvine, su­
pernumerary; lieut. Edwards, judge advocate. 

The judge advocate laid before the court, the 
following depositions. 

Copy of a letter from captain Hezekiah Johnson, late of 
the second regiment United States infantry, to the 
judge advocate. ' 

Pitt8hUf"g. (Penn.) NfJ7J. 2Ot". 1815. 

SIR-I have this moment had the honor to re­
ceive your letter of the 7th inst. My answers are 
annexed to the subjoined transcript of the interro­
gatories, of the prosecution arM the prisoner . 

. • " Question by the prosecution. What was the 
affair between major Gardner, (then a subaltern) and 
lieutenant Johnson, of the old sixth, and was it not, 
considered disgraceful to Gardner? and did not all 
the officers of the :;;ixth, petition to the secretary of 
war, to have him struck from the rolls ofthe army ?,~ 

• This question "'as at first addressed to general Wilkinson, 
and the 'prisoner requested it might be copied, and sent to capt. 

Johnsen. 



72 

A, I do not know, nor did I ever hear of any 
such affair, between major Gardner, (then a subal. 
tern) and lieutenant Johnson, of the old sixth; nor 
did I know there was a lieut. Johnson, of the old 
sixth, until the interrogatory came before me. 

2d. The affair, and the idea of disgrace, were 
equally unknown to me. 

3d. I never before heard of a petition to have 
the struck from the rolls of the army. 

Question by the prisoner. Did you ever state 
this? (alluding to the above question on the part of 
the prosecution.) 

A. Never. 

(Signet!) II. JOHNSON, 

The above answer to the foregoing questions, was 
sworn and subscribed to before me, Philip Gilland, 
esq. a justice of die peace, in and for Alleghany 
county, and state of Pennsylvania, this 20th day of 
November, 1845. 

(Signed) P. GILLAl"VD. 

('opy of a letter fl'iJm captain ~. N. Hall. to the judge 
'advocate. 

pr;rt Colu11Ib' s, Harbor of .... Ver" rork, 22d NtJ't,. 1815. 

To the following question, to wit-" Did not 
general Ripley, alw s pronounce major Gardner, 
a COlVard, at Fort rie, and was not this done in 
presence of the ge ral staff, and without disguise 
or wish for conceal ent?" I answer, that general 
Ripley did pronounce major Gardner, (then colonel 
Gardner) a coward, at Fort Erie; I cannot posi. 
tively say that it was in presence of the general 
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army, and I feel cQnfident from the publicmannel" 
in which the remarks were made, that the general 
had no wish to disguise or cOllceal them. 

(Signed) N. N. HALL, 
Captain Corp. Artillery. 

THIRD MILITARY DEPARTMENT. 

Head Qllarter.J ~e"W York. 

On the twenty-second day of November, 1815, 
personally appeared before me; Henry Wheaton, 
judge advocate of the northern division ofthe army, 
captain Nath'l N. Hall. of the corps of artillery, and 
made solemn oath to the truth of the foregoing 
deposition, by him subscribed and reduced to 
writing. 

(Signed) HENRY WHEATON, 
Army Judge Advocale. 

'l'HIRO MILITARY DEPART1IEN'1;'~ 

Head QtI;"ie~~. New Y orle. 

On this tenth day of November, A. D. 1815, 
before me, Henry Wheaton, ji.1dge advocate of the 
northern division, personally appeared lieut. col. 
Josiah Snelling, of the sixth regiment of infantry, 
and made solemn oath to the truth of the deposi­
tion hereunto annexed, by him subscribed and re­
duced to writing. 

(Signed)· HENRY WHEATON, 
AI'my Judge Advocote. 

Q.tUJ8tion by the prosecution, 10 lieut. cot Snelling. 

Did, not generalRipley al ways pronounce colone.1 
Gardner, a coward, at Fort Erie, and was not this 
done in the presence of the general staff, am;! with. 
out disguise or wish for concealment ? 

K 
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A. Sometime in the month of September, 181~ 
while the left division of the northern army was in 
the entrenched camp near Fort Erie, I heard major 
general Ripley say, that colonel C. K. Gardner, 
was a liar, a scoundrel, and a coward; it was in a 
tent belonging to some officer of the twenty-first 
regiment, whose name I do not recollect; arid­
there were present several officers, but none of the 
general statT, except myself. I asked the general 
if he ,vas aware, that he would be bound in honor, 
if called upon, to fight a gentleman to whom he 
had applied such epithets; he replied, that if col. 
Gardner thought proper to call upon him, he would 
fight him, without hesitation. 1 then observed, that 
I believed colonel Gardner was in the next tent, 
and might possibly have heard him; he replied, he 
hoped he had-hi:a; remarks were meant for his ear. 
At this distance of time, I cannot be positive that I 
have quoted the words correctly. but of their truth 
in substance I am certain. I afterwards looked in­
to the next tent, and saw colonel Gardner on the 
bed, lying on l1is face, and apparently asleep. That 
was the only time I heard major general Ripley, 
pronounce colonel Gardner a coward. . 

In reply to the request of colonel Gardner, rela­
tive to the fourth charge, first, second, third, fourth, 
and supplementary specifications, lieut. colonel­
Snelling, testifies as follows ~ 

At the time of the conversation above referred t 
I was but little acquainted with colonel Gard o. ner, 
an~ felt reluctant to report to him expressions 
which I knew must lead to un pleasant consequences, 
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'particularly- as 'I was on terms of friendship, at least 
of civilitY7. 'with the other party; but afterwards, 
finding that it was the subject,of general conversa­
tion, I mentioned it to an officer, who I thought would 
repeat it to the colonel; and on the presumption that 
:he did, I must confess my opinion of colonel Gard­
ner's courage, was much lessen~, and I did not 
hesitatt': to express it. I have since, however, as­
certained, that the information was never given 
him, and have not failed to do him justice in that 
particular. 

Early in the month of September last, I met col. 
Gard-ner, in New York; he stated to me, that on 
his way from the city of Washington, he had seen 
colonel Mitchell, of the artillery, who first informed 
him of the reports in circulation, injurious to his 
reputation; that since his arrival in the city, he had 
conversed with colonel Hindman on the subject, 
who had referred him to me for further information. 
I then told him what I have stated in reply to the 
question of the prosecutor; he expressed his re­
gret that he should have remained so long in igno­
rance of the slander, but observed, that notwith­
standing ~he late period at which it had come to his 
knowlege, he should not hesitate to call major 
general Ripley to a personal account for it; the 
next day, he requested me to accompaAy him to 
Boston; this I at first declined, but I afterwards 

, a,nsented to join him there in a few days. Colonel 
Gardner proceeded to Boston, and I shortly after 
received a letter from him which induced me tf) 
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f01low. On my arrival, I found him a prisoner at 
Governor's island. 

Of the first specification of the fourth charge, I 
know nothing. 

Of the second specification, I know nothing, but 
from the information of colonel Gardner. 

Of the third specification, I can say nothing from 
my personal knowlege; but I have been informed 
that such an attempt was made to shift the quarrel 
from major general Ripley, to third lieutenant ,Lee 
of the artillery. Colonel Gardner viewing lieut. 
Lee as the messenger of general Ripley, with whom 
a discussion was then pending, did not resent it. 

On the fourth specification, I c~m only say, that 
it is not within my knowlege that colonel Gardner 
had ever been informed that he was called a scoun­
drel, liar, and coward, or th<lt his character had 
ever been called in question by general Ripley, or 
any other individual, until he had heard of it from 
me, in the month of September last. 

On the supplementary specification, it is in my 
power to testify with regard to a certain manuscript, 
purporting to be a history of the last campaign, 
" that I have perused it ;" it was some time in my 
possession, and that the object of it was to ridicule 
the bombastic, inflated, and ridiculous publications 
which have recently made their appearance in the 
J>ort Folio, and some eastern newspapers, under 
the title of biographical sketches, &.c. and that so 
far from major general Ripley's being" grossly and 
outrageously censured," the work was written (so 
far as I am able to judge) with a due regard to his-
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toric truth, and can be supported by evidence 
befo,re a military tribunal. 

(Signed) .T. S~ELLING. 
Lieut. Col. 6th U. S. Regiment Infantl·Y. 

GENERAL WILKINSON'S nErOSITION. 

Questio~ A. (by the prosecu.tion.) Did you say 
in the hearing of major (then colonel) Gardner, last 
winter at Albany, that he 'was a scoundrel and 
coward, and did he resent it in any way? , 

Que.~tion by the prisoner. Did you ever state 
that you did so? (alluding to the above question 
on the pari of the prosecution, marked A.) 

Question B. (by the prosecution.) What was the 
affair between major Gardner (then a subaltern) and 
lieutenant Johnson of the old sixth? and was it n()t 
considered disgraceful to Gardner? and did not all 
the officers of the sixth petition to the secretary at 
war to have him struck off the rolls of the army? 

Question by the prisoner. Did you ever state 
this? (alluding to the question by the prosecution 
marked B.) 

Jl.nswer of James Willcinson, late a mrtjOl' general in the 
service of the United Stltles, to thc llboove fJucslioll.~, 
t,.ansmitted tl'J licutenant James L., Ec/.rt'urds, jUI/gc 
advocate. 

To question A. he answers" that he does not re­
collect having said to major Charles K. Gardner, 
he was "a scoundrel or a coward;" but believing 
from his general character, and the information re­
ceived from Dr, William M. Ross,. stated below, 

• The court ordered that the letter of doctor Hoss,should 
be strllck from the record, as not being considered evidence. 
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that he was the one, andJhe other; he has given 
the opinion frequently, and without reserve; and 
this reply will satisfy the interrogatory by the pri. 
soner. 

To the question B. he answers, he has no recol. 
lection of the facts stated. 

Personally appeared before me, James Wilkinson, 
who having been duly sworn, on the holy evan· 
gelists of Almighty God, deposeth as follows: that 
the answers by him given to the preceding ques­
tions, are just and true, to the best of his knowlegc 
and recollection. 

(Sir;ned) JAS. WILKINSON. 

Sworn and subscribed before me, the 15th No. 
vember, 1815. 

(Signed) • PE'rER BA YNTON, 
One of the Justices of the Peace jn flUC.l for the 

county ofPhila<ldphi •. 

CAPTAIN BELL'S DEPOSITION. 

Question by the prosecution. Did not major Gard. 
ner, at Albany, last winter, tell YOll that general 
Ripley had done every thing on the Niagara fron. 
tier to pick a quarrel with him? 

A. At Albany and Troy, last winter, I had 
frequent conversations with general Ripley and 
major Charles K. Gardner, on the subjects of con. 
troversy between several officers of the Niagara 
army: colonel Gardner appeared not to be insensi. 
ble of the dislike entertained by general Hipley to­
ward him-but the exact expressions used by col. 
Gardner are not recollected. 

(Signed) JOHN R. BELL, 
Captain Lt. Artillery. 
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Hancock, so. Commonwealtl. of JI(as.ac!I1t.ett.,·, 
To,vn of Castine, Nov. llt", .f. D. 1815. 

Person~lly appeared the wIthin named John R. 
Bell, and made soletnn oath, that the answer to the 
questien contained in the within~ is true, according 
to the best of his knowlege and belief. 

Before. me, 

(Signed) B. HALL, 
Justice of the Peace in and for the .aid county of Hancock. 

I' .,' 
.copy of a letter from colonel G. M. Brooke, 10 the 

judge advocate. 
Norfolk, Qe'oher 15tl., 1815. 

SIR-In answer to your question (by the prose­
cution.) "Did you ever see major Gardner expose 
himself to the musketry of the enemy?" I say, to 
the best of my recollection, I never did. 

I am, very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

(Signed) GEO. M. BROOKE, 
Colonel U. S. A. 

This answer was sworn to on oath, by colonel 
Geo. M. Brooke, this 11th day of Nov. 1815. 

(Signed) WILLIAM B. LAMB, 
An Alderman of the borough of Non4 

{COpy.) 

"Iackett'. Har6ar, JI'owm6er, 1815. 

On my return frQtn Kingston, Upper Canada, I 
had the honor to receive the interrogatories of major 
Charles K. Gardner, of the third regiment U. States 

. .il?-fantry, communicated by you as judge advocate 
to the court, before which he appears t6 be accused. 

To the first interrogatory, ." have you ever seen 
me in ~ction?" it affords me pleasure to state, that 
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I saw major Charles K. Gardner, then of the 25th 
regiment of infantry, frequently during the action of 
the llth November, 1813, Chrystler's Field. The 
period I particularly allude to, was just before and 
during the retreat of our troops before the enemy, 
when I observed major Gardner making great and 
zealous exertions to re-form and correct the line of 
his regiment; I say his regiment, because he ap­
peared to me, to be in the absolute command of it. 
I did not see lieut. col. Cutting, and was ignorant 
of the arrival of general (then colonel) Gaines, 
whose person I did not know. 

The 25th was warmly engaged and closely pur­
sued by the enemy, consequently major Gardner, 
who was at the head of it, (at the time I allude to,) 
much exposed. His conduct, so far as I had an 
opportunity 01 observing it, was perfectly unexcep_ 
tionable. 

At the close of the battle of Chippeway, [was 
ordered by major general Scott, as an officer of his 
staff, to find the second brigade, which he supposed 
to occupy a wood in the rear of his left-inform 
its commanding officer, that he was in close pur­
suit of the enemy, who had broken in every direc­
tion; and to communicate other information, by 
which he might be guided in his movements. Ou 
discovering the second, or general Ripley's brigade, 
I !<mnd colonel Gardner, adjutant general, leading 
it towards the S(,(::I1C of action, in his staff capacity, 
I presume. If I mistake not, I first communicated 
with colonel Gardner, who appeared to be execut. 
ing orders with his uSl.lul zeal and abilities. 
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The second in~errogatory is answered, 1 con~ive, 
in my reply to the first""':'to recapitulate, I will ob­
serve, that wherever Ihaye had an opportunity of 
observing the deportment of major Gardner, as a 
soldier, he has evidenced great zeal and bravery. 

With, respect, &c. &c. 
I am your most obedient, 

(Signed) W. J. WORTH, 
Brigade Major 2nd Infantry. 

To Lieut. EDWARDS, judge advocate, &c. &c. &c. 
JefferBon County, Huwnsfield, BB. 

William J. Worth, major of the second regiment 
U. S.' infantry, being duly sworn, saith-that the 
matters and things in the foregoing statement made, 
and by him subscribed, are in fact true, and further 
sKith not. 

(Signed) W. J. WORTH, 
Brigode MoJor 2nd Infantry. 

SWOrn and subscribed to, at Sacketts' .ltarbor~ 
the 24th day of November, 1815, before.;.me­

ENOCflELY:, 
J uSlice of the Peace. 

MAJOR CROOKER'S DEPOSITION. 

Question by the prosecution. Did you ever see 
major Gardner expose himself to the musketry of 
the enemy? 

Wa.hington City, Nov. 11th, 1815. 

In aJlswer to the above question, I say no. 
(Signed) T. CROOKER, 

Major late 9th Infantry. 

Wa.hingtrm county. DiBe. ~mbia .. 
Personally appeared major T~rner Cro~., who 

made oath on the holy eVall~ehsts, that t~swer 
L 
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he has given to the query above stated, is traet and 
further saith not. 

Sworn to this 13th November, 1815, before 
WILLIAM THORNTON, 

Justice Peace. 

Lieutenant Richard H. Lee, a witness for the 
prosecution, being duly sworn to give evidence re· 
lative to the third specification of the fourth charge, 
says-

So much time has elapsed since the occurrence, 
that I have an imperfect recollection of the conver­
sation that transpired-but that I used an observa­
tion towards major Gardner, to this effect: that it 
was my opinion, that general Ripley held his char­
acter too contemptible to enter into any written 
correspondence with him. I recollect having made 
a repetition of this observation-this is all that I at 
present recollect. This conversation took place in 
major Gardner's room. 

Question by the prisoner. Were you the aid-de­
camp of general Ripley? 

A. I was. 
Question hy the prisoner. Had you ever any 

difference with me ? 
A. I don't recollect of any; I never had. 
Question by the prisoner. Was the Gccasion of 

your calling on me, to communicate a messa~e 
from major general Ripley-and when you arrived 
at my quarters, did you take me by the hand, and 
say that you wished to speak to me in private ? 

A. The reception I met with from major Gard­
ner .. was a very gracious one, which I very stiffly 
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recei\l'ed, by a formal salutation of my hand. I.did 
say that I wished to speak to him in private. 

Question b!l the prisoner. After going with me 
to my room, did you not, holding the message of 
general Ripley in your hand, observe in general 
Ripley's name, these words-general Ripley has 
such an opinion of your character, that he will give 
you none but verbal messages; not hold a written 
corrc::spondence with you, or words to that effect? 

A. I did, With th~ addition of the word despi­
cable, or some epithet equally degrading; and it 
was my opinion that general Ripley did believe that 
his character was so despicable; that he would hold 
no correspondence with him. 
~ Question hy the prisoner. Did I not reply to 

the remark as coming from general Ripley, saying 
,that if general R. supposed that I wished to avail 
myself of a written correspondence with him, to 
make it public, he very widely mist90k my inten­
tions, and that I deprecated the resort to the public 
prints in the differences of officers of the army? 

A. Yes. 
Question hy the prisoner. Did you use such an 

expression to me, as it is my opinion? I wish the 
witness to be precise in his ~collection. 

A. I did. 
Question hy the prisoner. Did you not read the 

message, which Y9U said was a verbal message, 
from a ,paper? 

A. I did three times. 
Question by the prisoner. Did you not call upon 

me,' as the aid of gen. Ripley ~ and on his part only? 
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A. I called upon him as the aid of general 
Ripley. The latter part of the question requires 
explanation. 

Question by the prisoner. What was the mes­
sage you read to me-or the amount of it ? 

A. I do not recollect. 
Question by the prisoner. Were you induced 

to suppose from the reply I made to your observa­
tion, or from any part of our conversation, that I 
replied to it, as coming from yourself? 

.A. I did not make any suppositions on the 
subject. I can only say, that the obseroation ori­
ginated in me. 

Question by the prisoner. Were these the words 
as near as you can recollect, of the message you 
read to me as a verbal one? "If the friend of major 
Gardner, alluded to in his letter of yesterday, will 
call on major general Ripley, on the subject of that 
letter, general Ripley will give him an answer there­
to, to the question contained therein." 

.A. I think they were words to that effect. 

Colonel Moody Beedel, of the late eleventh regi­
ment U. S. infantry, a witness on the part of the 
prosecution, being duly sworn to testify as to the 
third specification of the first, second, and third 
charges,says-- . 

I don't recollect seeing colonel Gardner at all on 
that day. 

Question by the prosecution. Were you in the 
sortie from Fort Erie, on the 17th Sept. 1814 ? 

A. Yes. 



85 

'." Question by the prosctutiom . Did you see colonel 
Gardner in that action ? • 

A. I did not, to my recollection. 
The court adjourned till to. morrow morning 

at nine o'clock. 

;JANUARY f7,1816. 

The court met pursuant to adjournment. 
PRFSENT. 

Colonel M'Neil, president; lieut. col. Eustis, 
lieut. col. Harris, lieut. col. Walbach, major Crane, 
captain M'Dowell, captain Thornton, captain Ben­
nett, captain Craig, members; captain Irvine, su­
pernumerary; lieut. Edwards, jmlge advocate. 

Captain David Dcacon, of the United States 
navy, was again examined to testify relative to the 
second specification of the fourth charge. 

Qucstion hy the prisoner. How far was the letter 
enclosed in the envelope, which mentioned you as 
the bearer, considered received? 

A. I saw general Ripley by himself, and deliv. 
ered the letter-he made some observations, and 
asked if I had any objections to a third person be. 
ing present. He called in major Harris, and after 
some conversation, it was accepted. It was not 
iD;lmediately understood what part I was to take in 
the business, until I explained. 

Doctor Joseph Lovell, hospital surgeon of the 
U; S. army, a witness for the prisoner, being dllly 
sworn, to testify relative to the fourth specification 
of the fourth charge, was asked the following-



Question by the prisoner. Did you ever hear Cif 
the epithets injurious to me, used by generahRip­
ley, on the frontier, and when? 

A. I never heard of them until I arrived in 
Boston, after colonel Gardner's arrest. I was on 
the Niagara frontier during the whole of the cam­
paign of 1814; I was with the remaining officers 
of general Brown's division, during the last spring 
and summer-but heard nothing of the epithets 
alluded to. 

Brevet major Josiah H. Vose, of the sixth infan­
try, a witness for the prisoner, was sworn, to tes­
tify relative to the prisoner's Gonduct at the battle 
of Chippeway-

Question by the prisoner. Did you see me at 
the battle of Chippeway, and what did you observe 
of my conduct? 

A. The second brigade was formed, waiting 
for orders, when major Gardner, the adjutant gene­
ral, rode up-he rode up and spoke with general 
Ripley, and then rode off again, down the river to­
wards the battle ground. We made a movement 
to cross Street's creek-I was at the head of the 
column, and just as I was crossing myself, major 
Gardner rode up and attempted to cross on horse­
back, but he was obliged to dismount and cross the 
creek on foot toward the enemy; the brigade then 
marched toward the wood in a direction to flank the 
enemy-major G. preceded the column and moved 
rapidly on; after penetrating the woods a consi­
derable distance, it was ascertained that the enemy 
~nd retir~d beyond Chippeway. "Te halted for a 
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moment, and then took up our march for camp ; 
soon after which major G. left us, and I don't re­
collect to have seen him afterwards. Major G. 
was not out of danger at any time while he was 
with the second brigade. 

The subjoined note was laid before the court by 
the prisoner, as evidence in his. behalf, relative to 
the second specification of the fourth charge : 

(COpy.) 

This letter was received from a bar-keeper of a 
tavern in Boston. This course was manifestly im­
proper-it should have been sent by some gentle­
man. The course taken to deliver it to a bar­
k~eper, was degrading to the army. The rank of 
major general Ripley entitled him to more respect. 
The letter on this account is returned-when it is 
communicated in a gentlemanly manner, it will be 
entitled to be the subject of consideration. 

The judge advocate admitted that it was the one 
sent by general Ripley to the prisoner, he having 
been a witness to captain Kirby's acknowledging 
that it was the same. 

Brevet lieut. col. S. D. JiJrris, of the regiment 
light artillery,. a witness for the prisoner, was thea 
ljworn . 
. Question by the prisoner. .What is yourrecollec­

ti.on of the situation of the barn, in rear of Street's 
creek relatively to that Greek? . , 

A. I believe it extended to the creek, and form-
ed a part of the enclosure to the garden. 



88 

There being nO more testimony offered to the 
conrt, the prisoner was asked when he woutd be 
prepared to make his defence, and answered on 
Wednesday next. The court was then adjourned 
to the 17th instant, with an understanding, that if 
evidence which had been called for, should arrive 
previous to that day, it should be received before 
the prisoner made his defence. 

JANUARY 17, 1816. 

The court met pursuant to adjournment. 
PRESENT. 

Colonel M'Neil, president; lieut. col. Eustis, 
lieut. col. Harris, lieut. col. Walbach, major Crane, 
captain M'Dowell, captain Thornton, captain Ben­
nett, captain Craig, members; captain Irvine, su­
pernumerary; lieutenant Edwards, judge advocate. 

Brevet major J. H. Vose, of the sixth infantry, 
was examined on the part of the prosecutor. 

Question by the prosecution. Was there any 
musketry which reached the second brigade at the 
battle of Chippeway ? 

A. I believe not. 
Question by the prosecutor. Had not the enemy 

been repulsed in front when the second brigade was 
put in motion ? 

A. I cannot answer positively as to that-but I 
think that was the case. The enemy were repul­
sed, but were throwing their cannon shot. 

Colonel Moody Beedel, of the late eleventh U. S. 
infantry, was examined-
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:., Question, bgtM proset;ut;~. When did you first 
know, that a sortie froll1Fort Erie was contem­
plated? 

The prisoner ,objected to the question as being 
irrelevant. 

The court decided that the question should be 
put to the witness. 

The witness answered:"'-At the ceuncil of war 
which was held about eight days prior t~ the sortie. 

Question by the prosecution. Was gen. Brown 
present at the council of war? 

A. lle was. 
Question by the prosecution. What was general 

Brown's pOsition at the irJrtie, and was it near the 
troops, as they were engaged? 

The prisoner objected to the question being put 
to the witness, as irrelevant. 

The court decided that the question should not 
be put. ~ :~ 

Question by the prosecution. What position did 
colonel Gardner occupy at the sortie? 

A. I did not see him during the day_ 
Question by the prosecution. What brigade did 

you serve with ? r 

A. The first, under general Miller. 
Question bg the prosecution. Ifhe, colonel Gard­

ner, had been present with general Miller's brigade" 
at any time during the action, should you not have 
.riOticed it from Y0l!r position ? 
:'";.11. I think that I should. -

l« 
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Bre\'ct captain R. M. Kirby, of the corps of ar­
tillery, and aid to major -general Ripley, a witness 
for the prosecution, was examined. 

Question by the prosecution. Did you ever hear 
general Bipley pronounce major Gardnera coward, 
and under what circumstances? 

A. I heard that expression made use of by 
general Ripley, in 1814, in the camp at Fort Erie, 
in different conversations. 

Question by the prosecution. Do you recollect of 
its taking place in a tent when colonel Snelling was 
present-if so, state the circumstances? 

A. I recollect a conversation one evening, in 
general Ripley's tent-there were a number of offi: 
cel'S present, and I think he was. General Ripley 
pronounced him a coward, and colonel Snelling re­
plied, that colonel Gardner lay in the next tent, and 
would probably hear the expression j general Rip­
ley replied, that he intended it for his ear. I have 
repeatedly heard general Ripley make use of the 
expressions. 

Question by the prosecution. Did I make them 
openly, and not with an apparent view for any con­
cealment or disguise? 

A. I heard those expressions made use of at 
differen~ times, and in different companies-they 
never were made to me alone, I believe, at any time. 

Question by the prosecution. When did you first 
know of the sortie, and by whom? 

A. The sortie was expected at the time the 
militia crossed. I first knew of it on the 15th 
rom major Brooke of the 23d regiment. ' 
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Question. 6y .. the p,·osecut;on. Was the circum. 
'Stance that a sortie was meditated kilown to W: 
principal officers of camp? 
. A.. It was a subject talked about among the 

officers for about four or five days-.-not that I knew 
fJiOm any intimation from head quarters; with the 
exception of the information I have received froIl}. 
major Brooke.' Major Brooke told me that he Te­
ceived the information fr.om general Brown. It 
was a subject of expectation in camp from the.time 
the militia crossed. \ . 

Question by the prosecution .. Did you perf~r~ 
the duty of ai!1-de-camp to major general IJ.ipley, 
at the sortie? . 

A.. I did • 
. Question by the prosecution. Pid colonel GlJrd, 

n~F J>ring any order from Iri!J.jor general Brown tG! 
maj.',)r general Ripley ? 

A.. Not that I know of. 
~estio" by ~he prosecution. Did you see him 

with the ~econd brigade, during the actioIl ? . 
.d" I did net, while the second brigade was to. 

gethe~-it WitS together but a fel:" minutes. ; 
Question by tlze prosecution. Didgenenij Ripley 

remain with the twenty-third, after the twenty.first 
mar~hed from the brigade-and did you see colon~l 
Gardner at any time with the twen~y-third ? 

.A •. General Ripley remained with tile twenty. 
third regiment, until after he was wounded; ~d I 
did not see colonel Gardner during that period. 

~uest~on by the protecution.. W ~ COIOll~1 ?-ard­
nei'si'osition when you passed hIm, wlthm th~ 
musketry 9£ the enemy? 
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A. 'The only time I saw colonel Gardner, if I 
saw him at all, was near the ravine, with general 
Brown, and I should think, not exposed. General 
Brown was surrounded by his staff. 

Question by the prosecution. After the batteries 
were carried, was not the situation of the troops 
such as to require the presence of an adjutant gene­
ral, from their dispersed and deranged' situation ? 

.A. It would have been necessary for the imme. 
diate commanding general to have had a sufficient 
staff about him, to organize the different corps-I 
think that an adjutant general would have done it 
more readily, than aids. de-camp, from their supe­
rior rank. 

Question by tIle prisoner. Were you at the time 
you say you heard these expressions of generaJ 
Ripley, his aid-dc-camp ? 

.A. Yes. 

Brevet lieut. col. Samuel D. Harris, of the light 
artillery, was examined on the part of the prose. 
cution. 

Question by the prosecution. At 'the battle of 
Niagara, after the capture of the enemy's artillery, 
could not its removal have been effected at once, if 
there had been a chief of the staff to attend to it ? 

A. If we had had harness for the dragoon 
horses, we might have brought them off. 

Question by the prosecution. After it was cap­
tured, and before the troops rallied, was there not 
time to obtain harness from Chippeivay, or from 
our own artillery ? 
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. A. I should suppose there was suffiCient tinle 
to obtain harness from Cbippeway. At the ter­
mination of the action, I received an ~I;'der from 
general Ripley, by an officer wlmsc name I do not 
recollect, ordering me to collect as many of my 
troop as I could, to remain on the field as a rear 
guard, or party of observation, to watch the move­
ments of the enemy. I remained on the field, and 
colonel Towson passed by me; I asked him if we 
could not get off the <:aptured artillery-he replied, 
that he had no horses. I observed to him, he migh~ 
take mine-he asked me, if I had harness; I re­
plied :in the negative---and he said it was impossi: 
ble to get them off; 

",. Question hy t/ze prosecution. Were you in the 
battle of Chippeway, and engaged in advance with 
general Scott's brigade during the action? 

,d. Yes. 
Question hy the prosecution. Did you see colonel 

Gardner on the field ? 
A. I do not recollect that I did. 

Colonel Beedel was again called in. 
Question by the prosecution. Did general Brown 

on the 15th of September, inform you particularly 
of the meditated sortie ? 

.A. He did, on- the evening of the 15th; the 
reasons why he made it known to me, was because 
he wanted some non-commissioned officers to send 
into the enemy's lines. He tcq~ested me not to 

mention it to anyone ; an(J. I acc~rdingly did not. 
Question hy the .prosecution.· When did colonel 

Snelling ~ive on the frontier? 



A. He arrived at Buffalo, on the 19th AUgJ,lSt, 
1814, and crossed on the 25th or 26th to Fort Erie. 

Lieutcpant Richard If. Lee, of the corps of artil. 
lery, was examined relative to the sortie of the j 7th 
September, 1814. 

Question by the prosecution.. Did you see major 
Gardner during the sortie-and ,,·hat was your situ. 
ation? 

A. My situa~ion was aid-de.camp to brevet 
brigadier general Miller. I did not see major Gard. 
ner, in the action. 

Question by the prosecution. Before the action 
commenced, and dming it, what was his situation? 

A. With general Brown, I believe-some part 
of the time in the ravine, and on the hill near the 
Fort. I harl not an opportunity of seeing him duro 
ing the action, having been engaged where the trees 
would. prevent my observing his position, either 011 

the hill, or in the ravine. 
Question by the prosecution. What occurred at 

a dinner given to a number of officers, in relation to 
major Gardner, at general Miller's quarters, after 
the sortie? 

The prisoner objected to the question on acco~nt 
of its being a general one. 

The court decided that it should not be plft to . 
the witness. 

Question by tIle prosecution. When· did colonel 
Snelling arrive at Fort Erie? 

A. As welI as I can recollect, the 25th or 26th 
of August, 1814., 

The court adjourned, till 9 o'clock to-morrow 
moming. 
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H.NUARY 18, 18:16. 

The court met pursuant to adjournment,. 
PRES:eNT. 

Colonel M'Neil, president; lieut. coD Eustis . ~ 

lieut. cC)l. Harris, lieut. col. Walbach, major Crane, 
captain M'Dowell, captain Thornton, captain Ben­
nett, captain Craig, members; captain Irvine, S11-

pernumerary; lieut. Edwards, judge advocate. 

Doctor J. Lovell, hospital surgeon U. S. army, 
was examined relative to the prisoner's illness, at 
the battle of Niagara: 

Question by the ptos.ecutiQn. Did you know of 
major' Gardner's being Imore indisposed than the 
officers of the army generally, at the battle of ~ia­
gara? 

. A. I did not know any thing of his being in-
disposed, nor did I hear of it. I was attached at 
that particular time, to general Scott's brigade; I 
should not have been likely to have heard of it, ex­
cept by comm.on report. Doctor Bell was the sur­
geon at head quarters. . 

Captain Armstrong Irvine, of the light artillery, 
a witness for the prosecution, was sworn. 

Question by tIle prosecution, Did you. serve in 
advance of the volunteers, under general Porter, at 

the sortie ? 
A. 1 was in advance of the volunteers at the 

sorue '; I considered' myself under the command 
of oolonel Gibson, who commanded ,tbe rifle re-

giment. 
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Question by the prosecution. Did you see major 
Gardner at any time with that brigade, at the sortie ? 

A. Not that I recollect of. 
Question by the prosecution. Did not the riftt:. 

men to wh~ch you were attached, march from our 
e:dreme left to our extreme right, and did you see 
colonel Gardner on your whole route ? 

A. We marched from the extreme left of Fort 
Erie, to the enemy's batteries--I did not see col. 
Gardner during the whole route. 

Brevet lieut. colonel S. D. Harris, of the light 
artillery, was examined., 

Question by the prosecution. Did you see colonel 
Gardner after the battle of Niagara? 

A. Yes. 
Question by tbe prosecution. Did he appear more 

indisposed than the officers of the army generally? 
A. J had no knowledge of major Gardner~s 

indisposition. 

Brevet major Josiah H. Yose, of the fifth regiment 
U. S. infantry, was again examined. 

Question by the prosecutiQn. How far was gen. 
Scott's brigade in advance of the second brigade. 
previous to the moving of the second brigade, at 
the battle of Chippewar ? 

A. I cannot answer that question, as there'were 
trees and houses between the first and second 
brig<lde. I can say, that I think, they were from 
one.half to three. fourths of a mile. 

The prisoner laid before the court the following 
ordc-r :-
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l\IILI'l'ARY DEPARTMEN'r, No. U. 

, l/'rjgade III.pee/ ... •• O,ffiet:, 

C'l8lle :I,/and. Sept. 24th. ,iriS. 
SIR-:-:-You will not leave Bo~ton without the per-"", 

missioo of the~mmanding general. 

Byo~clerof Major General E. W. RIPLEY. 

($igncd) , n. F., EV:A..~S, 
, L'eut. Lt. Art. and Aotg. Bl'ig. IIl.pector • 

.sf 
Major C. K. GA.RD!n:ii, or 3d regt. jnf:lUt~y. 

The .subjoined orders were received from the 
brigade i:~spector's office. .I 

'!Iead Quarters, .Northern Divisi""'l 

Bq.to .. , ~l, ,,"Vov. 1S1~. 

nIVISIO>r ORDERS. 

, The general court martial ordered by major gen, 
Ripley, commanding the second military depart. 
ment, fOf, the trial of major C,. K. Gardner~ acting 
adjutant general of the division, will proceed in 
his trial, on the ch~rges preferr.ed by major general 
Ripley, as alre:ac1N.<;9P.l:~ce.d. The president pf 
said court w~\ .report thcrproceedings thereqfto the 
major general commanding the division, as he 
dee~s hi,s a!Jtbority necessary.. ~~ ~onfirm the rQllult 
QJ the investigation. 

l\iajor general' 'Ripley will direct the sword of 
major Gardner, to be delivered to lieut. col. JoneS~ 
aiu.de-camp to the'commanding general, and. will 
consider the ~urt in the sam~ manner, as if Ol'i· 

N 
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ginaUy constituted by the commanding general Qf 
the division. 

By order of'major general BROWN. 

(Signed) DONALD FRASER, 

l'rue Copy. 

(Signed) 

M.jor and A. D. CBlIIPI' 

JAMES T. B. ROMAYNEj 

Brigade Inspector. 

Jlead Quart",." BoBfoll, Nov. 6th, 1815. 

GENERAL (DEPARTMENT) ORDER. 

The brigade inspector will deliver over the sword 
of major Gardner, to lieut. col. Jones, who is au­
thorized to receive it. The arrest.of major Gard. 
ner is not to be effected by this arrangement. 

(Signed) E. W. RIPLEY, 

TIOUil Copy. 

(Signed) 

Major Gener.~ 

JAMES 'r. B. 110MAYNE~ 
Brigade Inspector, 

The evidence, both on the part of the prosecu­
tibn and the prisoner being closed, the prisoner 
made his def~ce in the follo\ving address :_ 
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M.a. .P~'IDBNT, 4Nn. 

GBNTLEMEN OJ!' 'rilE CIM1BT-.. 

As :this trial ~igi~a.ted in my seeking' personal 
redres$ of the major general'A who is prosecutor-I 
conceive it justifiable to commence in my defence, 
with a statement of those occurrences, which have 
~de their appearance occasionally through the 
':trial, connected with this· personal application.­
That this is the origin of my prosecution, is evil1c~ 
ed from the list of charges theni'selves---.inwhich a 
copy of my letter containing the, personal demand, 
is brought before the court~ attached to an accusa~ 
tion of conveying to major general Ripley that letter 
or note, in an illlproper manner. 

All the specifications to the fourth charge, relate 
to my personal difference with the prosecutor, and 

'contain the epithets coward and scoundrel,' which 
he alle~es that he llppfied to me, more than a year 

~ince. 
I never knew of but one instance in which any 

difference, or the accusation of a difference, arose 
between' general· Ripley and myself, until in the 
m09th preceding my, arrest. That instance occur­
red, rdative to an order, about to be issued by. 
majqr general Brown, on his return to the command 
at Fort Erie, in-the office tent of my ~epartmcnt., 

General Ripleywished me to change the order, 
in.which he complained of injustice to himself, and 
bri~de, and appeared to be angry at my decli!l~ng 
to do so; but he was careful to drop I?o expres29n 
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within my hearil~, or knowledge, which woullil 
subject him to a personal demand. 

It is no\v charged against me, that I knew of 
these epithets which he expressed of me, and the 
knowlegc is deduced from the probability, that I 
must have heard of them. T40sc Irh6 testify tha~ 
general Ripley used the expres_sions in conversation' 
with them-also say, that they ne\,c{ did eommu- '\ 
nicate them to me. Now what is the stlength of 
this probability, on which general Ripley appears~, 

to ground his exculpation for refusing my demand 
at this place-and ,,,ith which I am to be inculpat­
'~d for the weak and cowardly spirit, of tamely rest­
'~g under such indignity, witi.out an effort for ' 
redress? Is not the probability this, that these 
words would have first come to the cars of some of 
the officers who served in the commanding general's 
.family, or in the staff, and by their means have been 
communicated to me ? Lieut. col. Jones, who \\'as 
associated with me in the same dcpartment, and 
was as familiar with the officers generally. as any 
officer in the army, testifiu; that he never heard of 
tlleth, until after the organizationo[ .he peace estab­
lishment, on his return to Sackett';; Harbor; th~lt 
after this, he ncvcr saw mt:, until here in Boston; 
'and being 011 the -route to Detroit, nc\u' had com­
municated with me. 

Majer gener-..u Brown, brigadier general Miller, 
(who~served in general Ripley's brigade), and nos­
llital surgeon Lovell, have also given to the court, 
-the same conclusion in their cvid;,:nce. The pro­
bability, theref()rc, is again!;t ih~ infe~ence intended 
hy the specification. 
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ii' No, ge"'lell~I never heard them1 : 'llorof 
them-until the moment when it appears on your 
record, that I wasinfo1"rned of them. My claIm 
to a regard for the prb:J:ciples of frankness and truth, 
which is dearer to me -than my commibsion; and 
my reputation for yeracity" which has never becn 
llnpe~ed. 'would be liai?le to be destroyed by the 
ob$~rost individual of the latc or the pr~sent army 
were this declaration untrue. Instead of avoid~~ 
the info.tion, I obtained it of colonel Snelling, at 
New Yoik, by C11quiry. It was immediately on my 
arrh'al from Philadelphia, where colonel Mitchell 
had given me intimation of them, by' asking me if 
colon~l Jones 'had written mcor some remarks iIi­
jurious to me. w-l;lich had gained cir,cuJatioll, pre­
vious to his leaving the frontier. But colonel 
Mitchell declined stating himself, their 'nature, or 
:>ource. I never could have avoided behlg inform-' 
ed; of expressions. A red:'css for which, by the 
miles of honor held in the army, I should have been 
supported ill the army, in demanding of a brigadier' 
general. 

At inofficial conversations, allthose of whatever 
rank. who voluntarily engage in them, are subject. 
ed; to the same laws of -politeness, and the same: 
rules for the redress of personal injury. The case 
i$ different where an injury is received)howevcl' 
~ess, from :m ollici:j.l act, or an official report-tha 
becoming redress in sneh case, fora military man, 
is,'an appeal to aSllperior. Budf an officel' of high 
Tal'lk, ~5cc,.d, to use abusive expressions of any 
other.; in. com,pany. he also descends to an equality 

of per~nal responsibility. 
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Whatever remarks may have been made in this 
town, oil the subject, this distinction, I conceift~ 
cannot be questioned. 
. On the occasion of these injurious epithets, gen. 
\lipley was reminded by colonel Snelling, of this 
responsibility-and the general making a merit'ol 
the obligation, avowed his readiness to give me 
personal satisfaction. It was now too late to fulfil 
his extorted promise, but it was not too late to aT· 
raign me on the accusation of having heard of these 
boasted epithets without redress. 

I determined to give general Ripley' immediat~y 
an opportunity to cancel the obligation. By haying 
an officer of rank as my friend, I wished to afford 
general Ripley, the least possible objection. I sug­
gested it to a field officer at New York, lieut. col., 
Snelling, who, after some remarks upon the situa;. 
tion of his family, consented to accompany me.­
He was present when the promise was given by 
general Ripley; he is an officer of the most cor­
rect sentiments of propriety, and of the most honor. 
able standing, through a long service. On confer. 
ring with him again, he conceived-aware of the 
principles und disposition of general Ripley, that it 
;would be uselessly exposing himself to an arrest, 
and to the appearance of folly, in taking the journey 
with me directly to the station of general Ripley~, 
before ascertaining the course general Ripley would 
adopt; though convinced that the principles of 
honor, and the disposition of a noble mind could 
admit of no other course than a fulfilment of the 
j)ledge. Colonel Snelling found spflicient evidence 
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,"omhis,conWlrsation with-me then, that Ihadbe«l 
traduectlby the suppositioll, that I had kQownof 
tp,ese exptesflions before. He engaged on my 0b.­
taining an answer from general Ripley, to the en. 
quiry crontainedin the note which is attached to th~ 
sltecification, at my request, to join me immedi~ 
atcly • in Bo.ston. - (See passage marked A. ap_ 
pendix.) . 

I kne~ no field officer at the time, in the harbor 
of Boston, to whom I could apply-but my inten­
tion was, s.ld the tenor of general Ripley's reply 
admit of it/to resort to any friend at this place who 
could do me the service. Colonel M'Neil arrived 
hes-e (previous to general Ripley's return from New 
~mpshire,) whom I found, on our first COll\'ersa. 
tion, ~ be friendly to general Ripley. I conceived, 
however, that the course I had adopted, would be 
unobjectionable; I gave general Ripley a full view 
in this -k;tter, of the evidence I possessed of his 
promise, and his expressions.-(See passage tnark. 
ed B.) This explained to him the little room he 
had to £etreat-and I conceive -was a source, not 
only frank but generous. The little room that was 
Jeft him, however, he imagined after twenty.fQuF 
hours considemtion, he had discovered. He .could. 
not deduce an objection from his superior rank, nor 
allege that -my character had, changed; since he gave 
the pledge, (for. it was gWen at the end of the cam· 
P'~gn in For~ Erie,) nor deny ,that it was given. 
Bmt,:tk01,lgh I carried this letter myself, to the house 
in wlitich.he stopptd, on his arrival from New 
Hamp,;hire, and sent it immediately into his room, 
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by n person attending, and under seal; yet, on"this 
circtlmst:mce, the manner of its delivery, he found. 
ed an objection_ This was s6 little, that I had not 
anticipated it-though I was addressing general 
Ripley. 'What does he allege in thespecificaticvl 

. constituted the objection? That no officer or gefi •. 
tlcman gave the letter, by whom he could send -the 
reply. 

He sent a reply, howe,ocr, by an officer, his aicI­
de-camp. 

The court will pardon me in calIirfg tllcir atten. 
tion, for a moment, to the absurdity comprehended 
in this little subject. If I Ilad sent an officer to 
him, ,,-ith the letter-",,-ould he have sent by that 
same officer, at the moment, his reply? or, wmild 
he not have waited, to send by" some friend, or an 
officer of his staff, ashe did, 4is deliberate deter. 
mination ? I had no aid or assistant, whom rcould 
charge with my lettcr ; and if I had so sent it~I 
do.not conceive it would have made any difference, 
except in sllbjccting the officer who delivered it, to 
an arrcst. I asked a reply to one question only­
whether an officcr fully authorized to act as' my 
fricnd, in all respects, would be rcceived by him, 
charged with such a message, as was described::""" 
without holding- him subject to an infraction, by 
the act of any military obligation, or any military 
law. -. 

His avoiding to give this assurance, until' my 
friend should present himself, proves thnt if he 
had presented himself, he,wbuld 'haw~been. ur .. 
"rested. 
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I then, with a view to take from general Ripley, 
this small ground of objection, requested an officer 
o~the navy, captain Deacon, who was ,not within 
his immediate power, to wait uppn him at Fort In­
dependence, with the same letter, making the same 
application ,with respect to my friend, the field 
officer. ' 

I enclosed it, in the letter of the 18th September, 
which was regularly laid before the court; and I 
will ask leave to read, both the' note of general 
Ripley, and this, which was sent inreplY.-(See 
C. and D.) 

'To the officer who presented this, general Rip. 
ley asserted, that the objection which existed 
against the letter, from the former manner of de­
liveripg it, was, in this instance removed. Yet, he 
inserts an accusation against me, for communicat. 
ing the letter, again, in this manner. In the first 
instance, the objection was (according to the note,) 
to its not being conveyed in a respectful manner­
that it should have been carried by some gentleman 
-and, now he charges me with having conveyed 
it by this gentleman-of the navy; alleging as the 
evidence of its impropriety, that he carried it as a 
stranger. Independent of the untruth of this, the 
iirst objection was expressly, to the manner only, 
of making this communication; which is made to 
appear so .important a formality, as to involve the 
dignity of the army. I had only requested captain 
'Deacon, to be the bearer of the letter; but, he was 
appw.ed (as he states) of the subject of bqth letters. 
With. a referrence to the testimony of capt. Deacon, 

o 
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t will leave these· frivolous specifications,· of. the 
prosecutor, intended only to give~cOllseqt1encerto 
Ilis evasive objections to a disagrecaQle demand. 

I will venture to say, that no precedent can be 
found in the history of courts martial, for accusa· 
tions like these, unless it be where the prosecutat 
has been the officer ordering the trial. (See. ex. 
tract Eo) 

On the evening of the second day from this, I 
received from major general Ripley, a farther eva· 
sivf" reply, to the letter as delivered by captain 
Deacon. It is a verbal message, as it was called. 
read to me from a paper, by his aid-dc-camp, lieut. 
tee, and furnishes a specimen of the most witty and 
adroit equivocation....,...,,·hich might do him credit as 
an attorney , for suits at common pleas. 

The message is this...,....(See F.) 
He carefully avoids conveying a word from which 

the least assurance could be deduced relative to my 
friend-but says, if my friend, the field officer al­
luded. to, will call on him, he will give him an an. 
swer to the question. This was the disguised 
~urt proceeding of an officer of the elevated rank 
:of major general, toward a major whom he had in­
jured. Why did he not openly warn me of 
my misconduct in the affair; and state to me 
his intention, to arraign me Oll these or other 
grounds? 

I determined to afford him the opportunity for 
the fullest exercise of his inclination, and of the 
qualities of his mind. As the field officer alluded 
tOt w¥ required-::-I wrote to colonel Snelling, 
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whom t had apprised of· all the circumstances, tQ. 
join me il1)mC!!diately •. 

On the iifth day from this message, which was 
read to me, Irecei:ved from general Ripley, th~ or. 
der'ofthe 24th:September, exercising over me his 
authority as.' commanlling general of this. depart·. 
ment. In this cnaracter he was enabled on a sarer 
!;tage of action, to perform the part he intended.~ 
(See G.) . 

But there is 'connected with this ~erba1me,ssage, 
a circumstance which furnishes a more extraordi­
nary ground to major general Ripley, for ap accu­
sation against me, than any of those that prec~ed 
it. I am -accused of suffering his aid~de.camp, 

lieutenant Lee, when he called on me officially with 
a message from his. general, on this. occasion, to 
use toward me the abusive expressions detailep in 
~e specification. After requesting to speak to me 
h~private, (though he found me in company with 
;1n officer only,) and when alone in my room,hold­
ing the message in his hand, he state~, that he 
made the observ&,tion alluded to, using the name of 
general Ripley. The. inferellce that I was ner.essa­
r~ly obliged to makft,,1 will Jeaye t? suggest itself 
to the cO\1rt., ,Though the lieutenant may be igno­
;ant of a ;ta'If officer's cODn~~tion with. his general, 
the members of ,the court are n~t. , 

iSomeinconsistency may be ob~erved in the teJi1.of 
of Mr., Lee's evi.<lence.He commences with:re­
·marl.:ing, that the .particular, circu,mstances-of the 
o.c.casion, h~ cannot bri,ng to re\:ollection. Al1- af­
fuir . ~hit:h ~fterp~iRg report~d to hi" ~nera.l, ~d. 
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in other places, Was considered of so much impor­
tance as to be made the subject of an accusation, 
(with a want of wisdom, and of experience in mili. 
tary duties, equal to that of the lieutenant.) You 
will then observe Mr. Lee's precision in recollect­
ing that he used the expression, "it is my opinion.~' 

From the circumstances of the case, as well as 
the tenor of his evidence, I shall not venture much 
for veracity, with the court, in venturing to differ 
with him, in this-and that he does not recollect, 
from the bearing of my reply to the observation, or 
from any part of our conversation, whether I ap­
peared to consider it as coming from him, or from 
general n.;pky. I had not expected from general 
Ripley any thing but abuse, in his treatment of me 
-,md I as little expected, or thought of any obser­
vation, good or bad, from lieutenant Lee, on his 
own part. 

On the bearing of this specification, let me ask 
the court to be so curious as to compare the inge­
nuity of its false representation, with the statement 
brought to the recollection of lieutenant Lee, in a 
question of mine, to which he assented. The 
statement reads-(See H. and L.) 

The character of the aid is suppressed, and the 
occasion on which he called on me, and the obser­
vation made, is transformed from one, relating to 
and accounting for, that mode of general Ripley's 
communication with me-into an insulting remark, 
as if made at some inofficial or accidental conver­
sation, by a lieutenant Lee, of the army-h~ving 
general reference to the correspondence of all officen 
with me. 
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" On the next day after the orde~ detaining me in 
Boston, I- was served 'with a copy of a general or~ 
der, containing my arreSt. I had been inforwrd 
by a friend, . of the course which general Ripley 
'Wollid take to exonerate himself, refusing to meet 
me at this time; which was to accuse me of 
cowatdice before the enemy. The object was no 
less tllan tq sustain his reputation, by effecting with 
the for-<:e of his station and authority, the destruc­
tion if mine. I confess, gentlemen, though con­
scious of no misdeed, that I thought of this alterna. 
tive of vindictiveness with horror. What I felt on 
the anticipation of having my name coupled with 
accusations of such a nature, from whatever inter. 
ested source they should originate, with whatever 
evidences of oppression be attended, I will leave, 
gentlemen, to your feelings, faintly to picture to 
yourselves-for they cannot be r:ealized or com pre- . 
hended by the force of language. The fame of a 
military man, can be as easily defaced, as the honor 
or a female. If the man can be found, . who will 
wttlltqnly make an attack uponeither---the contest, 
however fiworable its result, must leave an indelible 
stain, upon his or her reputation; and its fairness 
wit~ all delicate minds, is destroyed, while. its me­
mory survives. 

"" . The 'proposition made through colonel.\spin­
wall, for my release from arrest,. and a manuscrij>t 
pamphlet shewn to him, are made the subject of 
an acc.ltion. .... . 
, The prbceedihgs I had entered upon towards 

general Ripley, were from the injun~orts of usage, 
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and what was due to myself only. I had no senti­
ment or care with. respect to the individual; who 
haj made himself my opponent in the case, further~ 
than to obtain the redress such usage required. 

There is a consideration and view of contempt, 
in which an individual may be held by honorable 
minds-from a life of intrigue, and a character bar­
ren of principle.-;...that, though he may be the in­
strument of much mischief, he can nevel' become 
the object of revenge. Such a person is to be at­
tacked and avoided like a serpent, when he come!> 
in your way. 

By virtue of the authority, with which general 
R. was fortuitously clothed, and the exercise of 
which he assumed over me, I was placed in arrest. 
Any farther proceedings to obtain the redress, I 
sought in this way, were closed. I knew the army 
would d~ly estimate the conduct of my opponent, 
and do me justice in the affair, on a simple know. 
lege of the fact. I could entertain personally but 
one sentiment toward general Ripley. 

\Vith respect to :my agency of mine in correct­
ing the factitious elevation of geI1L:ral R. with the 
public, I knew that the artifices and false reports. by 
which his military character had been· sustained, 
must without my means, be eventually understood; 
and that the misrepresentations relating to him, and 
injurious to ot!ler individuals of great character 
and influence, ,,"ould, notwithstanding the efforts of 
a few newspapers, be shortly dissipated an''tposed. 

On the day of my arrest, on whlch I saw colonel 
Aspinwall in this town, after having a long conver." 
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etlon with, him on the lSubject of t~ degrading dif. 
ferences and publications which had occurred since 
~e war, rela~ive to a campaign which had so great .. 
ly el~vated the army. I did not hesitate to make 
any proposition, not . dt'grading to me persona:ny~ 
w bieh could have the effect to release me from my 
participation in a further shameful diffei"ence with 
general R. I requested colonel Aspinwall only to 
appear as a mutual friend, or mediator, tot-the good 
$lfthe army-and confided to him, to make no pro­
position from me, until after conversing with gen. 
Ripl~y-found him previously; disposed to accede 
to sucl_ ~ea·sure. Colonel Aspinwall holds that 
honorable standing, that I ,,,auld have entrusted any 
request to his charge, connected with ~y honor.­
He did not go as a messenger, which he alleges to 
general Ripley, from me; I could have as little 
consented to it, as he CQuid to have been such an 
agent. 

From the· cou~t's wish to shorten the time of the 
evidence, and its injunction to colonel Aspinwall ; 
the abrupt commencement which he makes in his 
statement, would seem to give a different aspect to 
the transatti01~. He, however, at the termination, 
states, that I left him to act according to his sense 
of propriety; and that Ifrequently charged him not 
to commit my honor-(the word gmcrally is used 
in the record, btlt, from my recollection, he said 
.frefJuen'tly, or repcatedly.) .. . 

. I will here notice the quer1es wh1ch ha\'e been 
made 'concerning my general characte~. I would 
think it Ulti1~ce5sary to make any remark upon the 
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slanders in relation to my standing in the old sixth 
regiment-as they stand in questions to which a 
disavowal has been given by the witness of the pro­
secution-but the fabrications have been circulated 
out of court, and I am induced to believe, with 
knO\vlege that they were such. The standiFig I 
held as an officer, before my prosecutor entered the 
service, is known to a majority of this court. 

The copy of a letter from doctor Ross, furnished 
by general 'Vilkinson, in his deposition, as a ground 
for his sentiments-I think it necessary to annex to 
my defence, to account for his personal feelings 
towards me-(See K.) I am surprized, ftPat gen. 
Wilkiason should consider this as the best founda­
tion for an"'opinion on oath; ",hen he possesses 
another copy of a letter from the same doctor Ross, 
whid1 proves him to the view of general Wilkinson, 
a villain, a wretch, destitute alike of spirit and 
principle. It is a letter to general Armstrong, then 
secretary of war, representing of general \Vilkin­
son every thing that is foul, in his conduct down. 
the St: Lawrence. 

On the grossness of censure passed upon genera} 
Ripley, in a manuscript narra:iye of the last cam. 
paign, the testimony of colonel Aspinwail is ex. 
plicit. If there be any crime in thi:; manuscript, it· 
should be made to appear in the untruth of some 
statement which is injtlrious to general Ripley's re. 
putation. To assume the ground, that if it cen­
sure general R. it must therefore he criminal and 
l!ntrue, is EO far from being correct,-that I allege, a 
narrative of the truth and of the .facts, cannot be 
written ,,-ithotlt censuring gent:ral Ripley. 
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:' ,With re~pect to the freedom to write such a pam­
phlet, many other inofficial narratives~' and partial 
extracts of ~arratives, applaudin~ some and censur­
ing others, have been written as weil as printed, 
under the allthority of an officer, whose rank would 
lead us to expect a better example. They are all 
u~military-bllt where the names of the narratorS' 
are given, I conceive it reflects most seriously upon 
the discipline of the army. , " 

Th,:: next act of mlne~ which came within the 
knowlege of general Ripley, forms the next accu­
sation against me. It is f<>r writing the protest 
contained in the minutes of the proceedings. It 
may be an offence in common law, to use a threat, 
~oward a civil officer, in the execution of his duty; 
but the attempting to intimidate a military man, has 
seldom, I imagine, been the subject of a charge for 
a military trial. 

My'sentiments in the illegality of general R's~~ 
proceedings against me, have been explained to the 
court I but'I conceive the court's decision on their 
being competent to my trial, does not involve a 
decision on the illegality ormy arrest. 

I trust the court will appreciate the motion of my 
subsequent objections to the trial-as being direct­
ed against the ~ppression displayed in the origin of 
the arraigPment. Though the~thority w,.as legal. 
Iv vested in general Ripley, to order general courts 
.~ial, yet I was by an undue exercise of authority, 
put in arrest. :J3ut being in arrest, and placed un· 
der the jurisdiction of a court constituted by pro­
per' authority, the court could not, without the 

p 



intervention of that authority, or of a superioJ'one, 
release me from the order when issued for my trial, 
nor avoid its effect. The question of jurisdictlori 
lay with the officer, instituting the trial-and with 
liim rests the respbnsibi'lity. 

But the enormous charges were now laid before 
the court, after conce,lling from me until twenty -four 
hours before it, the substance of them, and conceal. 
ing from me until the court convened, the order for 
its cOllvention. I ,,-ill leave the court to weigh the 
evidence which has been produced to substantiate 
these heavy charges, without reference to any sum­
mary on my part. I cannot assent to the court's 
receiving a recital of testimony on this subject, from 
me, ,,-hieh from its deep connection with my clfa­
racter, ,muId naturally excite suspicion, and be sub. 
jected to discredit. 

The COUIt will not fail to observe from the dis­
tance of time, and the distance from witnesses, that 
I '1"<IS not enabled to obtain in evidence so many 
particular facts, as the strength of general testimo. 
ny. But who were better capable of giving them 
eviJence of my general conduct, than my command­
ing general, and lieut. col. Jones, who was associ. 
ated with me in the same department, through the 
campaign. The ~tatements given by major gen. 
Brown, are related to the court, with that frankness 
,,,hich marh his character. 'Vhenever he speaks, 
be gives conviction to the hearer; he bear~ him­
self with the independence of truth, for he has 
nothing to disguise, and, fearless of censure, for hi", 
motives are honest. 
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The court will remark the wilntof precision in 

different parts of Mr. Br~mhal1's testimony; though 
he gives his first relation, as jf the circumstance oc. 
curred but yesterday. They will observe some 
inconsistency in his speaking ohhe situation oCthe 
houses into which he ;retired from the bridge .. 
~hey will not be surprized at the impression of 

lieut. Brimhall, not having any knowlege of the in. 
structions under~4ich he acted; and they will ob. 
serve his dullnesrof recollection, in answering my 
questions-as to how I came into the road, on 
which he saw 14 riding away; and whether he 
saw me at a position on the road in view of the ene­
my. They win also observe that he could recol. 
l.ect nothing of my appearance on such an occasion, 
though he was quite near enough to observe me ; 
and he also does not remember that I spoke to him 
when I approached, and they will make their own 
deductions from the lieutenant's subsequent reten~ 
tion in the army. 

The court will no doubt perceive tht; object of 
. the prosecutor, in suppressing the staff character of 
captaip Clarke, in that specification, in the same 
manner he has practised it in relation to his' aid, 
lieut. Lee. They will find an origin in captain 
Clarke's impressions, in the reports he had heard in 
company with his general, previous to th~ sortie; 
and will duly app.reciate the value of his military 
opinion-that the J?rigade major was ~ imp.roper 
person to communicate an order to hIS brzgade, 
frQ1ll which. also he must have drawn his infer­
.ence that it was som~ other motive than a corre~ . ~ . 



116 
I 

one, which could induce me to give the order to 

him. 
Beyond the testimony which has been produced 

to the court, immediately connected with my con­
duct through the Ni;.gara campaign-an inference 
having a forcible application to my prosecutor, may 
be fairly drawn, from one relative situation, then, 
and subsequent. 

At Fort Erie, after his return ffom furlough, and 
after he had seen the printed report of the battle of 
Niagara-general Ripley applie, the abusive epi­
thets to me, it would appear, from motives of per­
sonal animosity only. He supposed, as I am in­
formed, he has frequently declared, that I had an 
agency in the injury done him in that official report. 

The campaign closed, and general Ripley had 
gone to the interior. Nothing is heard of any ac­
cusations against me. At \Vashington, he is seen 
the member of a board of general officers, consti­
tuted by the executive, for the important duty of 
selecting the 'lfficers of the army most worthy 
to be retained on a permanent establishment.­
\Vhat was my situation with respect to my chance 
for retention? From all the majors of infantry and 
riflemen, (which corps were consolidated for the 
selection,) nine were to be chosen-and as it Wa.& 

stated, th!' board adopted a rule to give precedellce 
to those having breyets; by which means, eight 
of the nine places ,rere at once supplied. I had no~ 
then been noticed by a brevet! 

What is the dilemma which now involves major 
general RIpley's conduct on that occasion? Did ne 
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rtlake to the board a communication of my pretend­
ed misdeeds? If he did, the board discredited his 
assertions. I was appointed to the remaining va­
cancy. If he did not, either he was faithless in the 
discharge of a most momc:ntous duty, or he knew 
the whole to be fabrications of his own production. 
Yes, gentlemen, the impression of lieut.Britnhall, 
never ,would have gained the consideration of a 
rumor, had it not been seized and cherished, by the 
animosity efmy prosecutor. 

There is a Closer application of this dilemma to 
major general Ripley. than' the strong one which 
already stands apparent. In his charges against 

. ine~ he openly alleges that he called me by these 
disgraceful epithets on the frontier, and that I well 
knew of them more than a year before; and I have 
sufficient proof that he has stated that he hadcallfd 
me so to my face, or told it to me personally. 'If 
he had made this statement to the board, from his 
own knowlege, would he have been overruled? If 
he supposed that with such a character of infamy, as 
this allegation involves, 1 was worthy of continu­
ance in the army, of what materials must he have 
imagined, our army was composed ? 

If he had expressed to the govc:rnment any of 
these things against me, would the president, and 
Mr. Dallas, have sqbseqllently signed a brevet for 
J1le~which was sent to me subsequent to that time, 
and unsolicited on my part. 

From either position that the slanders were 
fake, on which he now arrai.gns me. before this 
court:""or if true. that he knowlllgly WIthheld them 
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from the board-the inference of corrupt~.ll is 
inevitable. 

Whatever may have been his motives at Wash. 
jngton, to bring the application of this to the ques. 
tion before you-how clearly does his object appear 
in my present arrest and arraignment; the gratifi. 
cation of personal views. 

He denounces me on the frontier, from a motive 
of personal animosity only; which also appears 
from the company and manner in which he is de. 
scribed to have done it-and he uses this very de· 
nunciation, as the ground of my arrest here, for an 
object of personal safety. That the public good is 
his aim, is scarcely pretended-and there is not 
an occurrence that preceded my arrest, in which the 
dignity of the army was any way compromised. 

I will close with a reference to my own con. 
duct, as connected with that of my prosecutor, in 
what he calls the essential cause of the principal 
charges. and which appears in accompanying accu­
sations. 

I put it now to you, gentlemen, as honorable 
and high minded soldiers-what you may believe 
my situation then was, and what, under similar 
circumstances, your conduct would have been.­
Assertioils deadly to my fame-false as the fabrica­
tions of a demon-and circulated with a spirit as 
cunning, had been made and reported, a year ago, 
by an officer, whose station enabled him to edge 
with poison every arrow of his slander. They are 
so circulated, that all those who hear them, think, 
I also knew their existence-and wonder at -the 
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tameness of my spirit, which could sit down under 
such imputations, infamous and contented. 

A twelve month elapses, and I hear from a friend, 
for the first time, how greatly I am wronged, and 
the high authority of the man who has ventured to 
do me the injury. Whatever might have been my 
chance for satisfaction, had I received an original 
communication of the aspersions, a difficulty was 
incurred, of which you, gentlemen, are fully sensi. 

, ble-,-in the authority which my oppoRent had ac-c 
quired. ·The panoply of rank, was a much safer 
shield to him, than the honor of a gentleman; yet, 
through this shield it was necessary for me to pene­
trate. I was here a stranger-my friend, anticipat­
ing by what principles the general would be go­
verned, though he was willing to accompany me to 
the field, had no wish to be my companion before a 

, military cmirt. 
It was, as he foresaw. This great man wraps 

himself in the warmth of power-quibbles at the 
manner Of address-a want of respect-a deficiency 

. in form, and every contrivance of. falsehood is re­
sorted to, to preserve his irresponsibility, till he 
consummates it by my arrest, and renews the inju­
ry, which his authority enables him securely to re­
peat, in arraigning me on a prosecution of his own. 

Not to have defended my honor, by my own 
hal,lCi-would, it is confessed, have been disgrace. 
ful I attempted to do so, and am sent a prisoner 
to 'F ortW ~rren. If in the manner of seeking re· 
dress, you, perceive any little deviation ~rom 
di<:\uette, YOil will find an apology from the Situa-
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.don in which I was placed. But I dare proudly 
contrast the manner in which I bore myself deeply 
injured, and seeking satisfaction as soon as the in­
jury was known-with that of my prosecutor, con­
triving pitiful pretences to avoid a demand which 
was hazardous; and shrinking behind the barrier 
of his official rank, from the just resentment of an 
injured-deeply injured, fellow officer. 

The court adjourned till nine o'clock, on Satur­
day morning, the 20th inst. to afford the prosecutor 
time to make a reply to the prisoner's defence. 

JANUARY 20, 1816. 

The court met pursuant to adjournment. 
PRESENT, 

Colonel M'Neil, president; lieut. col. Eustis, 
lieut. col. Harris, lieut. col. Walbach, major Crane, 
captain M'Dowell, captain Thornton, captain Ben­
nett, captain Craig, members; captain Irvine, su­
pernumerary; lieut. Edwards, judge advocate. 

The prosecutor replied to the defence of the 
prisoner, in the follo,ving address :_ 



')'0 THE PRESIDENT AND MEMREns OF THE COURT. 

GZNTLEMljiN_ 

It becomes my duty to reply to the defence Qf 
"the prisoner:. . In the remarks [ 'may 'have o~casion 
to make, I totany disclaim. an~ish to cr~ate an 
impression on your mi!lds, 'tInfav~rable to him, any 
farther than the evidence supports it. If upon the 
testim«;>nyi, as adduced in the. case, YOIl1 can acquit 
rum of the charges, I shall be perfectly satisfied. 
But the honor and reputation of tbl:! army are iden_ 
tified with the purity of trials by courts martiaL­
It is the only tribunal to which a soldier cal;l resort 
for the vindication of his .conduct. Let then, pas. 
sion and prejudice be roreign from your delibera. 
tions; let the testimony adduced in t4e cause, be 
fairly weighed, and as that operates, so I trust will 
be your decision . 

. The. prisoner in his defence~ has resorted to facts 
~hich appear on the record; he has also adverted 
to eJJ:planatiops of particular points from his own 
statenients •. Thus far, in one or two ~nstances, I 
shall follow his example. The court are honora~ 
bl~ men-they will analyse the testimony, t~ey will 
receive neither .thestatements of major Gardner, 
nor myself, any farther than they are supported by 
argument. The prisoner has also referred ~o the 
'conduct of the prosecutor; so far as th~t conduct 
~s 'been involved in t~e testimony adduc~d, so far 
it is the ,s,u,biect of discussion and animadversion. 

<t 
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.}3ut when general epitb,ets have been applied, wki.ch 
have no support from the testimony; when instead 
of resorting to a fair and correct exposition of facts, 
it has been the course of the prisoner to advert to 

. imputations which in fact have no foundation, it is 
unnecessary to disclaim them. 

The prisoner has simply in his defence, taken a 
view of the last Charge and specifications, embrac. 
ing the transactions here. He has not even glanced 
at the long story of the Niagara campaigI:!.. I ad­
mire his discretion; he could not oovert to it. 
Tum it, pervert it as he might, still its touch to 
him would be perdition. I shall in the first in­
stance, resort to the circumstances which occurred 
here-but it is my intention to develope thorough­
ly the facts of the campaign, so far as they are ap­
plicable to him. Let the true state of things be 
properly impressed on your mind .. ; and as milita­
ry m~n, as men of chivalry, you will say the course 
1 pursued was proper, and that it seals the prisoner's 
condemnation. 

"CHARGE IV.-Conduct unhe~oming an officer; 
and a gentleman. 

SjJCcjfication I.-For that the said Charles K~ 
Gardner, at Boston, in the county of Sllflolk, on of 
about the 14th September, did address a note:':to 
major general Ripley, a copy of which is h~re~nto 
annexed, and instead of sending the lsE#t~ote by 
some officer of the army, or some gentliinan who 
e-ould receive an answer to it-did, theh. and there, 
leave ~e s~me with the bar-keeper of a public 
house, In SaId Boston, to be by ruri'i'oelivered to" 
said major general Ripley. . 



.(COPY,.) 

.B.'lon, i4tl. Septclllhen, 18i~ . 

. ' Su-:-I have" 'f~\lin but a fe\y days past,' at 
Phi~ade}rhia.~nd o.~ enquiry ~t,New Jork, h,e:ard 
of.flbu.8,l.~e expr,~ssions, wh.Ch you have .applled'JQ 
me,at Fort Eric, and elllcwh¢re. ' , 
, W~r in so lOllg.f\ p~riod I have hot beell intorm­
~4 of them geJq~ this, lear?- only impute it to the 
,,()piI,lion of \hqse who may have hcard them, that 
,t4e malice of the expressions defeated them.selves,~ 
That you have. used them principally befor~ y~llIr 
friclldlj, but iriJreque'nt instanc~s; I now have. all 
'the ~~iden~e, which is, recl'iisitt:-'-though, yoU, ha~e 
fa~:~m.~ §X. the hand ..:yEstY~; ~~.c~~i,(;m o~curreq, 
as If n()tpmg of that nature had '~appened,. . This 
injury"iseptirely a personal one, and I conceire it 
wholly distinct fr?m any difference which you mlk)-
have with !l.l)Y other officer. , 

The, memorandum of an officer of distinction 
who was present, that you "expressed a perfect 
willingness' t~ bring the difference to. ~ persollal 
issue," and that you intended the expressions for 
my ear, I have in my possession. 

lno\v demand redress. My friend, a: field offi.­
ocr of the line, requires an assurance of being saf~ 
in ~ military pOint of view,when he will wait QI1 

you: To this 'one poirit I request your reply: 

I have the hOIlOl' to Ill', sir, 
Your verJobedient servant, 

, (Signed) , C. K. GARDNE~ 

Gen. ELt:,,uEK W. RIPLEY. 

,'request the reply may be sent to the ~xcha~~. 
, " . "(Signed) C. K.. G. 
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. Specification 2.-After the said note was return. 
cd, to wit: at Boston" aforesaid, although it was 
publicly rumOl:ed in. Boston, that the said Gardner' 
had come on for the' pu.rpose of fighting said major 
general Uipley, and although in returning the said 
note, maj,or general RipLey had ex.pressly stated the 
reason why it was not received; was because it was 
not commtmicated by said Gardner, through the 
mediUlITl of some friend, in a gentlemanly way, or t9 
that effect; he, the said Garoner, transmitted the 
same again by captain Deacon, of the nalrY, who 
then and there informed said Gardner, be could 
not, from his engagements, appear as the friend of 
said Gardner, but wOldd consent to bear the letter 
as a stranger, but to make no arrangemeD.1iS in·con. 
sequeoce of it. 

Specification S.-For that th~ said Gard'ner, at 
Boston, ~lforesaid, on or about the twentieth of Sep­
tember last, did sufl"elf lieutenant Lee, of the army" 
to inform him personally that general Ripley's. 
opinion of him was so low and contemptible that 
he should think it degrading for any gentleman to. 
enter into a correspondence with hirn,the said Gard. 
ner, without in any manner resenting it. 

Specification 4.-For that the said Gardner, at 

Boston, aforesaid, on or about the fourteenth day @f 
said September, did attempt to open a correspon­
dence with said general Ripley, in manner befure 
stated, when he,.. the said Gardner, had been called 
by said major general Ripley, a scoundrel or cow­
ard, on the frontier, more than a year' since; which: 
he, the said Gardner, then and there well knew, but 
of which he took no notice .. 
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S UPPL£MENT ARY SPEClFICA TION. 

Conduct.nbe&omi71K an ,o.!ficerand a gent4m([(lk, 
-For that the i,aid Gardner, at Boston, aforesaid,' 
on or about the 25th ,September l~st" and wh~i'e h~ 
was under arrest, by, ,the order of major general 
Rillley, did shew to colonel >AspinwaU, late of the 
army, ' a ;work in manuscript, purporting to be a 
twTative of the fast campaign, in which said Gard. 
ner had' grossly and outrageously censured the con­
duct of the said ,major general Hipley...; ~nd he, the 
said P'ardner, did, then and there, instruct said As­
pinwall, to propose t-o major general Ripky, that if 
be should dischaJige the arrest of the said Gardner, 
.and let the busil.}C!ssdrop,·he" the said Gardner, in 
consideration thereof, ,WOllld entirely suppress the 
said work, ima.be ,quiescept. 

eft ARC E V . .-;..Disrelpeciful coTKillC1 and Ian. 
\" 

{JJIoge. 

Specification I.-For that the said Gardner, at a 
place called Fort \Varren, on the first day of Octo. 
ber, 1815, did address a note to the said major 
'geD~al Ripley, in the form of a protes,t"agaiiist the 
ftgality of the proceedings iristituted by said majOl' 
&eneral Ripley, ~gainst the said Gardner, ~~d in the 
said note, the saId Gardner has the followmg para-

'graph: ' 
, "I wish to give you notice, that the court martial 
for my cas~, whlchycu have ordered to convene 
Qn the 4th imlt. and your arrest of ine, on charges 
not of immediate occurrence,'and which admit of 
refe~ence to your commanding general, are· illegal • 

. , and that it will become the subject of ail additional 
accuption apin5t you; if persisted in." 
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The ~al11e being intended to threaten the~id 
major general Ripley, with. an accusation," if he.per. 
sist~d in doing his duty." 

I had pronounced the prisoner a coward, on the 
Niagara frontier. Was there for me sufficient jus. 
tification for the epithet? It was about the period 
the report of the battle of Niagara, made its appear. 
ance in the camp at Erie. In that report, I found 
my own, reputation assailed,. and. major Gardner's 
e?'tolled. I knew, a~d the army were sensible that 
if the report was not the production of major Gard. 
n,er, still he gave a direction to it. His conduct 
was the subject of investigation.. His attempts tft 
f~rm a cabal, hostile to me, were perfectly manifest. 
that the report was im,orrect, so far as it respects 

\ myself, has been perfe6yy evinced by the acts of 
the government, and the .. subsequent' conduct of 
major general Brown. In this state of things was 
the character of colonel Gardner made the subject 
of discussion. 'Vas it to be expected, when he 
was extolled for conduct which would have dis. 
graced others, that it should not awaken the feel. 
ings of the army? Is an individual to be hunted 
down, and not to raise an arm in his defence? J;, 

an army to be so organized, that an officer of it is .~ 
be attacked, and his reputation assailed, when tht." 
conduct .of the individual, although junior in rank, 
who thus seeks, makes the base attempt, cannot 
be the subject of investigation? I did pronounce 
major Gardner, a coward, publicly and in th,:: 
fa.ce of officers who associated with him. He 
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Jlnew it; it Was impossible it should be otherwisc~ 
Reports' of that kind are never circulated, but that 
they imm-ediately reach the' ear of the individual 
for whom they are intended. Look at'the facts in 
this case, and see if 'any other deduction ca~ be 
drawn; Colonel Snelling says, at onetime when 
the expressions were used, Gardner was in'the next 
tenf; he says'that my remark was intended fo~ 
colonel Gardner's ear; lie 'itrlifiediately took the 
)lams to see whether he was asleep ; he saw him 
lying on his face, but he cannot tell whether he was 
asleep or not. ' Captain Kirby' states, that anum. 
ber of officers were present, both at this, and other 
times. '.colonel Hindman 'states, that the same reo 
maik-s were made at Washington, in presence o'f 
doctor '. Bronaugh, and' colonel Selden. Major 
~dner was at 'Washington at the time. Before 
the board of officers at Washington, I particularly 
objected to the retention of major Gardner; his 
character was not perfectly understood by two of 
the general officers present. I was fraDk, open and 
unequivocal in my remarks. 

Look at the testimony of captain Bell. He states 
particularly, tha~ " colonel G~dner while at Alba­
ny, last winter, was well informed of general Rip­
ley}s dislike to him." But his particular e~pres­
sions he does not remember. In conn,ection with 
t,he other testim611Y, gentlemen, take this into con­
,tNeration. What did general Ripley's dislike ori. 
f;lfta~ from,?, How was it expressed ? You. have 
the. evidence. It 'ras expressed h.y the epIthet. 
w)U.ch are related in ' the' speoification. Major 
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Gardner himself does not attempt to explain it ill 
any other manner; there is no pretence that I ever 
c:xpressed my dislike in any different way. From 
this fair construction of the testimony-situated in 
camp with major Gardner, giving perfect liberty to 
every one to state to him the faets; with the posi­
tive testimony of captain Bell, that he well knew 
my dislike to him, and there not being a pretence 
that, that dislike was ever manifested in any other 
manner, can you f"Jr a moment doubt that major 
Gardner was aware of the statements I had made. 

Gentlemen, there are witnesses, who, if they 
could have been compelled to attend this court, 
would have brought the testimony more home to 
major Girdner. They are deranged officers of 
the army-I can satisfy you as soldiers, -though 
not as a military tribunal, of their existence. It is 
not my fault that the lapse of time and the derange­
ment of the army, should have scattered these wit. 
nesses to the four winds of Heaven. In a moral 
view, they, will satisfy; in a legal view, this re­
mark is to have no effect at aU. What then is the 
course major Gardner sees fit to pursue, knowing 
my dislike to him-gathered in no other possible 
mode than from my having called him by the epi­
thet, coward. He suffers the affair to slumber; 
he cans upon me for no explanation of the cause of 
my dislike; he remains perfectly passive. After 
more than a year had elapsed, he repairs to Boston. 
The rank of the two individuals·· had become 
changed. . On the Niagara frontier', majdr Gardner 
was adjutant general; his rank 'etas that Qf a colouel; 
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~ut in point of station, he was 'secood only to die 
commander in chief, and could be controlled by no 
other. I was the junior brigadier 'general. ' Iii 
September lasti the 'relative state of things was 
changed. Colonel Gardner had reverted to. the 
situation o[.a maj~r, and I had received promotiori 
to the ranJit(;f major general, commanding a sepa. 
tate department. 

-:11 lie arrives in Boston; he avows his object is tti 
have a personal rencontre with me; The daring 
soldier who had gained no reputation duri, g a san. 
gtlinai'y campaign, now intends to acquire it by 
blUstering with, but not by fighting, a inajor 
general., 

.' I say he had nointentidn to fight; LOOK at the 
facts in the case; and then say whe~r his conduct 
manifested any such disposition. ' If he had came 
on for the purpose of fighting, he would not have 
come without his friend; '> The pretence that col. 

; ,Snelling did not shew himself for fear of being at. 
'rested, is totally absurd. The obvious course ror 
colonel Gardner to pursue, would have been to k~p 
his project seeret ; to have come with his friend; 
and then to have addressed to me a note; request. 
ing. me to wave my ra[)k. B,earing this letter on 
the part· of colonel Gardner, would have sUbjecteu 
c~loncl Snelling- to no military tri~tiftal, for it would 
110t have been a challenge under the articles of \-\rar. 
If colonel Snelling had inade his appearance with 
$Uifh a letter, I could at once have told him what 
course I should p·ursue._ I should either have 
wa't6d·.~y f' .. nk jar shoul~ have J"f!'.17Ilarked. to him 

It 
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"that colonel Gardner's character was such- as t'b 
render it improper for me to meet him. If colonel 
Snelling appeared as the friend of colonel Gardner, 
under such circumstan~,' he would have been 
bound to make it a personal affuir. and my aids 
who solicited that they might make it their own 
affair, would have been bound to meetlhim. This, 
gentlemen, would have been the ordinary course of 
the transaction, upon every principle of chivalry. 
It is obvious and apparent; a departure from it in 
essentials was unofficerlike. I will now exhibit to 
you the real representatlon of major Gardner's con­
duct, and you will determine. whether it comports 
with the usage of honorable men. 

Major Gardner arrived in Boston during my ab­
~~nce_ On my return he had been here several 
days; it was rumored that he had arrived with a 
view to call me to a personal account, for remarks 
which J. had made on the Niagara frontier, one year 
before. I received the letter bearing date 14th 
September, 1815, requesting an answer might be 
s.ent to the bar of the Exchange coffee. house. I 
presumed the object was to draw me into a written 
correspondence, where every expression should be 
liable to rnisCODStruotion; and that it" would be 
given to the world through the medium of the 
newspapers. I could not ansu.-er his letter; he 
had" sent no friend to receive any verbal communi. 
cation. The idea of making the bar -keeper at 
Earle's, and the bar-keeper at the Exchange G:Offee­
houSe, ~e reciprocal organs of our correspondence, 
on a subjeCt that required \"elbal communkations 
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.ml statements, wasdegmdipg. and unofficerIike. 
I retumed the note with an objection to its mode 
of delivery ,.and a remark relative to its being for­
warde~ in a gentlemanly way .. To any man of 
honor the objection was reasonable, and could not 
be misunderstood. It was not simply that-it should 
be in'warded. by a gentleman, but that it should' be 
forwarded in a manner that an honorable man ou.ght 
to do it; through. the medium pf a friend, who 
covld receive my verbal answer on the qu~ion; 
whether I.would wave my rank •. The next organ 
4Jf communication was through the medium of 
captain Deacon of th~navy. He handed me the 
letter, under an . .impr~.,that he came as. the 
friend of.major Gardner. I commenced some ob. 
servations in relation to the subject, when" captaio. 
Deaco~ apprized me, he had not come as the friend 
of major Gardner, but 'simply to deliver the letter 
as a .s~ger. The letter was in my·hands, and the 
same difficulty occurred. 'Major Gardner seemed 
determined that his friend should not call so as to 

. furnish me with the means of giving him at once a 
verbal answer. Thus,gentlemen, was this famoUti 
lettCf\pu.t into my hamls a second time. Who ,the 
friend. of major Gardner was, I could not conJec. 
ture; he had not even condescended to put .me in 
;posse~sion of his name. Little ~id I think at the 
.time that this .redoubtable champIOn had notpas5~' 
the .barrier of New York. Little did I i~' 
. thl1t he had left this business to be CODducteS -by in. 
visible spirits,. tin all the arrangements ;,ere m,ade 
by.his priDClipal ,for taking·the field. ll,le reasons 
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of colonel Snelling's conduct are sufficiently;appa.,. 
rent; he knew very well what my answer would 
be to pis request of colonel Gardner. He was per~ 
rectlyaware from what he knew of his character, 
that I could not meet him. I f he had present~ 
himself according to all honorable usage, and asked 
the simple preliminary question, whether I would 
wave my rank, which could have subjected him to 
no military tribunal, that I should have answered at 
once, I cannot to Gardner. Under these circum­
stances, he felt assured, his reputation would have 
been gone, or he must make himself a principal in 
the ;l.ffair. ' He well knew my staff, and he was well 
aware if he had made himself the principal, he 
would have been gratified in his wishes. Under 
these circumst;mces, he contrives with the utmost 
adroitness ~o push Gardner on to Boston, to in. 
volve himself in a most unpleasant dilemma, while 
he, like some modem cavalier, is enjoying quiet 
and repose at Fort Columbus. 

The court will now see what situation the affair 
is placed in. A second time the letter is placed in 
my hands-there is however no friend to whom 
can be communicated my verbal answer. The 
only ~o~e of communication is still the keeper of 
t~ bar of the Exchange. What under these cir­
Fumstances was to be done? Oil a simple question 
whether I would wave my rank, no military respon_ 
sibility could be involved. , It would however in~ 
Jiolve a responsibility of another kind, for if my 
reply should be that I would not wave it to Gard_ 
ner, but would to the second-such second wo~ld 
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i e 'compelle,\to, fight eithe~'iJ9.Ystlf, or my ~Jl.-­
Captain. Deacon was probably . 'aware <?f this, and, 
did,notw.ish to inte~thimse1ri,n. the qU¥Td; bu~ 
let me say there was an impropr.ie~y in his bearing, 
a letter of this kind as a stranger. Such commu­
nicatiQJls ought.;only to be borne by the friends of 
th~ parties, and who· have power.to settle arrange­
ments. , 
. The letter was thus obtruded upon me in.a way 

perfectly ·unptl;.«erlike, . a secpnd time, s~ far as it 
~espects major Ga,rdner. What course could ,I 
pursue? I had no doubt,~e fr~elld of major,Gard­
per was in Boston. . I was desirous, to see him, for 
to him, coq14 btate. tlu:.. objections I had to meeting 
major Gardner •. I return€\d an answer, :which like 
,the former one, .was redu<:ed to writiQg, so that it 
could not be . ./liable to miscQllstruction. Liep.t. 
Lee, my ~d, of whom I will only say, he is in cha­
racter the very reverse of major Gardner in. every 
r~sp~c~whose gallantry has been twice the sub­
~ct of notice from the government, bore, this mes­
sage. ; ,N1d here, gentlemen" let, me advert" to the 
.singular predicament in which the prisoner is 
placed. He had repaired from, New. Yor~ to a.os­
ton, detel\~ed-

.. To cry ha<O!1. and Jet sleep the doll" ofw,IIl'." 

He had>been a long time negociati.but nothing 
:was effected. Where a major general command­
ing an army, or QepartIIlent,. has been assailed in 
this manner, it is common for his staff to make ita 
~nal affair. I will only advert to one celebrated 
.ins1ian~; in .ili,e .tevolut'o~.!U'Y war-major general 
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Lee ohallenged general _Washingtoo; his aid~ 
coJoocl Hamilton, accepted.the cballenge,and. ae~u~ 
ally fought general Lee, no.twitastanding the dis,..­
Jity ofrnnk. In the present instantJe, 110 cbaUeege 
bad actually been given ; to that poililt major Gard;. 
ncr could not be brought.. Lieut. Lee, my =Qd~ 
called upon major Gardner with a writteJl message 
f(om me. There can be no misconstruetiom as it: 
respect~ my message and the language of lieut. 
Lee. The former was redaced to writing; the 
latter was verbal.. The rorm~r was in answer to. 
the note stating an answer would be given to major 
Gardner's letter; wheneve·r his friend should apply 
to it. The latter was the :verbal remark elf lieut. 
Lee, "that in his opinion, the v iew which general 
Ripley had of major Gardner's character, \\'-as too 
contemptible and despicable to have any written 
f=nrrespondence with him." 

And what docs this redoubtahle hero do with 
these expressions. He tamely pockets them.­
Lieut. Lee had applicd to me to allow him to make 
it a personal afl";tir; I had prohibited it. Still he 
does every thing in his power to accomplish it; he 
repeats the assertion twice. Major Gardner cans 
lor no explanation; he does not even bristle up ill 
anger. This champion of his O\ .... n reputation hears 
expressed as'~ the individual opinion of lieut. Lee, 
remarks which no man of honor could submit-to 
for a moment. Under these circumstances one of 
my staff made every ·eff0rt· to bring Gardner ·to ill 

point, but it was unavailing. 

I knew not who. the friend of major Gardner,was.. 
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""presumeGI.that he m5 with him in Boston; tfJS 
letter was' smh as to lead t~ that eonclusi6n. I re­
mained six·;O!' s~n days llw.ait~g his'appearanee-; 
i.t then bet):ame my determiilation to place him iIi 
arrest. With this' : view. I sent an oIder fOe 
him not tQ leave Boston until I gave him ~~ . ., ' 

'Swrt. . . 
The next day. I p1aeed bim in arrest, alld sent 

him to Gov~root'5 island. My view in doing it 
w.as two IOld-I -intended it should have. an dect 
on the discipline of the army, and. at the same timc: 
lead' to a deVelOpinent of all the faets connected 
with the case befOl'e a military ttibWlal. . This had 
become ~.,..foray·~· vindication, as well 
as to rem.ove tbe mask from a person whom I 
(kemed a inilitlUy impostor. The tongue of rumoi­
is so busy-she operates in so invisible a manner. 
tl1at I was satisfied, perverted statements ·would 
meet the public lear, and it was my intehtion by ~ 
development ef fac~, to put every thlng on the 
~si$ of.truth .. 

After the arrest and coninetqent of the prisoner 
10 G:ovemor's island, bis tone was changed. He 
there became tame and humble. No longer was< 
he di~ to growllilre th~ bun dog. but he de-
ge~;rtes into the passiveliess of the spaniel. . 

Scarcely had he received his .orders' when be 
calls upon .colonel Aspinwall, whom no person can 
.-espect more than myself. not 'fur dIe' purpose of 
being his cbainpioo in battle, . but his mediator ill 
pesce.. He shews to c~l(;mel Aspw,wall a manu· 
s£rip1~tiye of !be carrillaign, and makes througb 
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him a proposition, that if the arrest could be dis­
charged, he would drop all discussions and 'sup­
press the work, adding, that if it were not done he 
should" postme." Colonel Aspinwall makes the 
first part of the proposition, but the latter he con. 
sidered so extremely ,unofficerlike, that he would 
not advert to it. Now this is, the sum of the 
testimony under this specification. It is not my 
purpose to enquire whether the view alluded to, be 
correct or incorrect; I shall not stop to ask whether 
censure be gross or outrageous. These words in 
the specification are simply descriptive. Major 
Gardner is not to be tried for a libel against me, for 
I care no more 'aboUt his views and his narratives, 
than I do about the idle wind which I regard not. 
The strbstance of the specifioation is, the causing a 
proposition to be made to an officer of superior 
rank, the terms of which are, if you 'will discharg~ 
me from arrest-I will suppress a publication rela­
tive to you. And is not this unofficerlike? A pri. 
soner under such circumstances might as welloffet 
a pecuniary consideration, a bonus, as to offer the 
bargain which was made in the present instance', 
It goes with a bribe in one hand, and a menace in 
the other. Discharge my arrest, and I will sU[I­
press. Persevere in your duty, and I will publisH, 
Is this subordination and discipline? If this be a 
fair example of the s!ate of the army, well may its 
.situ~tion ~e cOlls~dered deplorable. The closing 
speclficatlOn of this charge I shall simply advertto. 
It is a menace tOOt on a' subject which \vas regularly 
1, part of my' official duties. If at all tv be aUowefl 
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: on th€f part of :an inferior officer. it would at once 
·strike at the roundation of all Inilitary discipline. 

I have DOW, gCl'l*men, presented you with an 
analysis.of the evidence applicable to the fourth 
charge, and its .specifications. You will decide 

. upon it as honorable men. I believe it to be-a fair 
one, and a correct expositicm of the conduct of the 
prisoner. I do not ask you for his conviction • 

. Cdhsult your own judgments, and pursue a course 
which shall conform to your own honorable reputa­
tions and the interests of the army. If the facts 
are liable to doubt, incline in favor of the prisoner; 
but where there can be no other -alternative, lfut to 
convict him, or consider' honorable men as perjur­
ed; a view to your own reputation, will point out 
the course to pursue. . 

If you are of opinion, that sending the ~rst note 
to a bar keeper, with a request that it should be an­
swered, through a similar medium, was proper; 
that forcing the second note upon me through the 
medium of ~aptain Deacon, when he explicitly 
stated he could not appear as the friend of the pri­
saner, was proper : 
. If you consider the declining to make the affair 
personal, with my aid, lieut. Lee, when he gave an 
express provocation, as proper : \ 

. If you view the conduct .of ma~or ~rdne~ in 
coming to Boston, and maklDi the object of It a 
matter of public notoriety, as proper: 
. If you deem the prap.oSitio~ made throup the 
~~ium of colonel Aspill~"a& pro~. :.... 

s 
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And if yoh should consider the menace to mehl' 
relation to an affair of official duty, as decorous and 
civil, consistent with subordination and military 
nsage ...... then you will find the prisoner not guilty 
all all the specifications. 

I shall now, gentlemen, advert to the facts of the 
Niagara campaign. Painful as is the task to ana­
lyse the conduct of the prisoner, yet the duty be­
comes nec{'ssarr. General invective, reasoning 
lIpon facts which have no existence, but in a dis­
tempered imagination, will have no effect in form­
ing.rour judgment. Sober, serious facts, elicited 
in the course of the testimony alone, can guide you. 
In this campaign, pregnant with so much of interest 
to the American peopl~, and so much renown to 
those engaged, what was the situation of the pri­
soner 1> High in rank, enjoying the confidence of 
his commanding general ; placed in a situation the 
most enviable to the young and daring soldier-as 
adjutant generatr confined to no corps, but from 
the very nature of his duty, allowed to range the 
whole field of battle for glory and renown. With 
such pro!>pects in view, how did he discharge his 
duty ~ Did he meet danger in the face on every 
sanguinary field 1> 

Let me hefore I bring before you the facts rela­
tive to his career, state as a preliminary position­
that aceording to the usages of war, the duties of 
a~ adj.lltant gen:ruI place him proverbially in exposed­
situatIOns; whIle the duties of a commanding ge­
neral. are of a reverse nature. The one places him­
self m the van. as a matter of course, to assist in 
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t~ fOl'D),atiol):qf . tlW, troops; to ra~ly them if they 
break j to encourage and array them in the clash of 
~nllict; whil~ it is tJle. duty of the general to sur­
veyall from'the rear. The one is borne on the 
tide of war; the other directs it. Under these cir-· 
cumstances, nothing but a positive order of the 
co~maJl.d~ng t general can in any ,~ervjce keep an 
.adjutant general from danger. And If a commanding 
gen,eral were to g~ such an order, i.t would be con. 
sidered as absurd by ,every competent military man. 

To apply these priqciples to the conduct of the 
p,risoner, at the battle of Chippeway-, he is charged 
with-

ee tHAR,~~ .l.,:~~ViOf in the face of the 
enemy. 

Specification I.-For that the said Charles K. 
Gardner, at Chippeway, in the province of Upper 
Canada, on or about the 5th July, 1814, he then 
and. there being adjutant general of the American 
forc~s, and his 'duty as such being to form and lead 
the men into action, to animate them with his pre­
sence as chief of the staff, and arrange and direct 
the whole staff dutit's of the field, he, the said 
Charles K. Gardner, did wholly omit anel neglect 
bis duties afore~aid; did not appear at all on the 
field, 'when the .troops. were engaged, and where his 
duty required him to be-but did then and there 
hide and conceal himself behind a barn; and when 
a shell from the enemy's artillery burst upon the 
barn, the said Gardner giUlolled to the rear, and far-

ther from the enemy. . . 
CHARCE H._Cowardice in . the face fI.f the 

enemy. 
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SpeciJicat;(Jn l.-For that the said Charles K. 
Gatdner, at Chippeway, in the province of Upper 
Canada, on or about th~ 5th day of July last, he then 
and there being adjutant general of the American 
forces, and his duty as such, being to form and lead the 
men into action, to animate them with his presence 
as chief of the staff, and to arrange and direct the 
whole staff duties of the field, he, the said Charles 
K. Gardner, did wholly omit and neglect his duties 
aforesaid ;-did not appear at all on the field, when 
the troops were engaged, and where his duty re­
quired him to be ;-but did then and there hide and 
conceal himself behind a barn ;-and when a shell 
from the enemy's artillery burst upon the barn, the 
said Gardner galloped to the rear, and farther from 
the enemy. 

CHARGE III.-Mglect of duty in the face 'If 
t"e enemy. 

SpeciJication I.-For that the said Charles K.' 
Gardner, at Chippeway, in the province of Upper 
Canada, 00 or about the 5th July last, he then and 
there being adjutant general of the American forces. 
and his duty as such, being to form and lead the 
men into action, to animate them with his presence 
as chief of the staff, and to arrange alldj,irect the 
whole staff duties of the field, he, the sal5. Charles 
K. Gardner, did wholly omit and neglect his duty 
aforesaid; and did oot appeal"" at all on the field, when 
the troops were engaged, and where his duty r~­
quired him to be--but did, then and there, hide and 
conceal himself behind a barn, and when a 'shell 
from the enemy's artillery burst upon the barn, the 
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.id Gardner gilloped to the rear, and farther: from 
,the enemy." 

To prove the' general allegations, witnesses are 
called who served with general ScoWs brigade; and 
who from thdr position, must have known ,the, fact 
"":'who testify, that during the action with his bri­
gade, major Gardner was not on the field. Where 
and how was he employed during this period ? 
During the whole action, he was not within the 
range of the enemy's musketry-and nothing was 
he exposed to excepting some chance e:funon shot 
(and those very few) that were directed at general 
Scott's brigade in front, and re-echQed through our 
camp. Major Vase' 'has testifiedth8.t~ tlie second 
brigade occupied a position frOlD half to three quar­
ters of a mile in rear of the battle ground. As 
military men, you can easily form an opinion as to 
the exposure at that distance with six, pounders. 

General Brown tells you, that at this tim~, the 
general staff' occupied a position in front· of the 
second brigade; he further states, that within ten 
'minutes time, or at most fifteen minutes from the 
period, the first order was given to &Q~t, to 
advanC4>-he seI,lt colonel Gardner to direct the 
second firigade to be put in motion. As to time, 
this statemcntis not correct.' MitjorVose testifie& 
to you that the enemy had given ground in front 
before the ocder to the second brigade to advance. 
Of consequence the whole action was over with 
Scott's brigade'. How long the period was from 
the time Scott was first ordered to move out, until 
the enemy was finally repulsed by his brigade, jr-, 



Ht 

J10t for me to determine-the period was prob~\>l.r 
nearly one hour. During the whole of this action, 
it appears from the statement of all the witnesSes', 
major Gardner was not once within the range of 
the enemy's musketry. He was exposed to nothing 
but their random shot. Once indeed he attempted' 
to go to the front. 

i 

" Lieutenant Elisha Brimhall, late of the ninth 
regiment infantry, a witness on the part of the pro­
secution, being sworn, says-

" At the battle of Chippeway, I was wounded in 
the commencement of the engagement, before we 
had got into line-while we were marching over the 
bridge, which obliged me to retire into the rear.-
1 went into a house on our left, as we marched down 
towards the enemy; as the enemy's artillery were 
clirected that way, two of their shot went through 
the house; I then left the house and went into a 
barn" about 30 or 40 rods in the .rear-while I was 
i.n the barn and binding up my wound, a shell pass­
ing through the roof of the barn and exploded; I 
went to the door, intending to go still farther to the 
rear; I saw colonel Gardner on horseback, with a 
l:umber of Indians and teamsters about hi,ji; at the 
lIme I ' ... ·ent to the door, they lUere all retlfng far­
ther to the rear." 

Such was the conduct of the adjutant general of 
the American forces at the battle of Chippeway. 
To do away this testimony, the prisoner has not 
even pretended he was in the action. He has not 
tried in any way to repel the testimony of a single 
''"itness. General' Brown, major Jones, and major 
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Worth, do: not intimate that he otherwise exposed 
himself than I have already stated. Of the dispo­
sition of these persons to sen'e major Gardner, 
there can be no doubt. The first in hia official re­
port, with these facts known to him, extolled his 
conduct. Major Gardner in return, on every oc, 
casion in bis power, in views of campaigns and de. 
fences, eulogises' the former. . He is bound to do it 
by every- ubligation which can be imposed on man. 

Is there any attempt on the part of the prisoneF 
ro invalidate the testimony of lieut. Brimhall. No 
such attempt has been made. If it had it would. 
have been fruitless; the reputation of lieut. Brim­
hall as a soldter ,and as a rnan:- -stands too high in 
comparison for a moment's doubt to be entertained. 
If you believe it, you must convict the prisoQer of 
cowardice at Chippeway. You cannot upon your 
oaths and your honor, as men and as soldiers, dis­
pense with its full force, for it stands unimpeached. 

I have now finished the analysis of the testimony 
applicable to the prisoner's conduct at Chippeway. 
I shall now present yon a more forcihle instance. 
Repair with me to the field of Niagara, where the 
forces of the contending nations met in a more 
deadly strife. . 

I·J 
CHARGE I. 

"[' 

"Specification 2.-For that the said Charles.K, 
Gardner, at a place called I...undy's.lane, in Upper 
Canada, on or about the 25th July, 1814, he then 
and there being adjtitant general of the American 
forces, then engaged with the enemy, and his duty 
t~en and there being, as chief of the staff, to form 



and organize the troops; to lead them into action., 
and to direct and arrange all the staff duties and 
proceedings of the field, did then llnd there wh~llY' 
omit to perform these duties, but did take up his 
position in the rear of the American forces wholly 
out of danger. 

CHARGE 11. 

Specification 2.-For that ~the said Charles K. 
Gardner, at a place called L\lndy's.lane, in Upper 
Canada, on or about the 25th July, 1814, he then 
and there being adjutant general of the American 
forces, then engaged with the enemy, and his duty 
then and there being, as chief of the staff, to form 
and organize the troops, to lead them into action, 
and to direct and arrange all the proceedings of the 
field, did then and there wholly omit to perform 
these duties-but did take up his position in the 
rear of the American forces. 

CH.\RGE m. 
Specification 2.-For that the said Charles K. 

Gardner, at a place called LundY's.lane, in Upper 
Canada, on or about the 25th July, 1814, he, then' 
and there, being adjutant general of the American 
forces, then engaged with the enemy, and his duty 
then and there being, as chief of the staff, to form 
and organize the troops, to lead them into action, 
an<,l to direct and arrange all the proceedings of the 
field, did, then and there, wholly omit to perform 
these duties-but did take up his position in the 
rear of the American' forces, and wholly out of 
danger. " .. 

The adjutant general of the army had mar~Cd 
with it from Queenston. When the action com. 
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,renced he mounted his horseJ and gave orders for 
some of,the Prigades to move to the field. ' He 
rides a d~stance of nearly three miles; his com­
manding general deems it necessary to rush into' 

. closest combat. Major Gardner halts at the dis~ 
tance of sixty or eighty yards in the rear, and out 
of danger, till the action is over; he retires with' 
the army to camp. The next morning he is early 
seen distributing orders to the 'several corps, and 
he finally takes up· his line of march with the army 
to Fort Erie, where he remains until the enemy iI}-' 
vest it, when he is directed to repair to major gen. 
Brown. :True', he states to his comm:anding gene-, 
rat that on t~,.,,(JrJnpn:vtoun;, tfzeac'tir1m he was I 

indisJIDsed!. Gentlemen, I appeal to you as sol­
diers, whether this excuse can -be admitted as an 
apology? It is not every species of indisposition: 
which will justify an officer' in remaining from the 
field. It is not a slight head"ache, a palpitation of 
the heart, 0.1' a tri6ing cold, that' caf warrant an 
officer of high rank in avoiding a field, em which 
depended the safety and, honor of the American 
arrp.s. " But let me ask if it was any thing l'ut mere 
pretext? How could colonel Gardner ride such a 
distance to the field.? How could he remain so 
long in the rear? These facts in my view" are con­
clusive. If a brave man were placed in such ~po-

, $~an, would he not ',vish for action ? Would l10tthe 
eic~ment of batderemove his pains and his ago',. 
niesmore than by remaining in a position wher~ I:\e 
couk! be of no ealthly service? and when he could 
hriu'Mthing l;>ut the groans of the dying: -, Where 

T 
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is the report of the surgeon that he was sick'? . You 
have no evidence but his own declaration to major 
general Brown, and his own declarations are not 
evidence for him. He complained of being sick-..­
it ilf the common pretext of cowards when danger 
is nigh. Should a soldier in the ranks make' the 
same pretext, when arriving within one hundred 
yards of the enemy, and fall to the rear without or­
ders, he would be shot for it? And is an officer 
second in importance to none but the commander 
ill chief, to avoid danger with impunity, when un­
der the same circumstances a subordinate officer 
would be punished? The facts shortly stnad, with 
reference to this spectficatton, that major Gardner 
pretending to be sick, rides to the field; when 
there, he perhaps expected his general would take 
up his position in the rear, and under those circum. 
stances he intended to perform the same part he 
did at Chippeway: General Brown, however, 
went into the action, and fear prevented major 
Gardlle!1o frOlri following. 

Gentlemen, some of you are old soldiers, and 
have t)een a variety of service. I appeal to you for the 
correctness of the remarks I am about to make. Did 
you ever know an officer of any rank conduct him­
self as major Gardner did on this occasion, without 
beingdeemed a coward ? Were you ever acquamied 
with an instance where an officer of rank in ·a se­
:verely contested action, and w hose duties required 
him in the thickest of tlle fight, that remained on 
horseback a short distance in the rear, upon a pre­
text of illness, who did not by, such acts loose 'all 
pretences to military reputation ? 
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'\?Hav(: yo~ not, on the other lumd, know~ repeat­
ed instances of ' officers leaving their sick' b!!ds and 
repairing to the field? The battle ended, they have 
again retired to their" litter or their t<:11tS. .. 

How was it on this very oc~asioriwith~a ho~t of 
gallant men? With Brady, with Jessup, and Lea· 
venwerth, .and others lct>uld ,allude to, if delicacy 
allowed it. The two first were severely .wounded, 
and in "excruciating pain, the latter was also wound. 
ed; but, they scorned' to retire. Th~irblood 
flowed freely, but their honor retainedthetn. At 
that very moment the adjutant generai of the forces 
was skulking from danger :under pretence of indis­
pos~p~..andJ;idiDg ~bQ~ ill the ~ L!, ", . 

If IJlajor Gardner was sic~, why repair to the 
field ? If he was un~ble to perform his duties in the 
fight, why not return to camp? 'A ;tronger 'case 

. of cowardice, gfneglect of duty, and. of misbehavior 
cOldd not well be imagined: (Jenera! Bro~ and 
~olonel Jones to b~ sure, testify they' neverkrtew 
any misbehavior or faultering on his part in the 
presence of the enemy. , Ther!,! is a conclusive, an.' 
!?wer ~q .their testimony •. They ne\:,:er siI,,,, him in 
the f~e' of the enemy and'e~posed t9 his" fire-':" 
whe~ I say it). the face of the enep1y~ mean within 
striking distance', ~f. him. I do not allude, to 

,spent cannon shot at the distance of half a mile­
nor do I allude to the. spent palls of musketry. 
~very military mal! kn6ws that these are not '$uSi • 

. c~ntto frighten an old woman. ' 
. ; ;l'J1.eil).termediAAe periQd. of t);le campaiWl is not 
'.~i.a pUer ofFharge~, Major Gflrdner during 

• .' ;""!' • . ..., 



:us 

the pressure of t4~ siege,!lt Fort Erie, was ab~pt 
with general Brown. Although attached to the 
army, and not to the person of the commanding 
general, he left the army and passed 11is recess at a 
distance from it. I do not pretend to censure him 
for it. It was, it appears, the direction of general 
Brown, and major Gardner was not responsible. 

CHARGE 1. 

" SpeciftfJlltion 3 .. -F or that the said Charles K. 
Gardner, at a place called Fort Erie, in Upper Cana­
da, on or about the 17th September, 1814, he then 
and there being adjutant general of the American 
forces, as aforesaid, and it being his duty to assist, 
to form, and to direct.the troops. and to be with 
them in the heat of the action. did take his position in 
or near a ravine, between Fort Erie and the woods, 
and wholly o'ut of danger; and in this situation, whep 
directed by major I!;eneral Brown, commander in 
chief of the American forces on that occasion, to 
communicate certain orders to general Ripley, then 
engaged with the enemy--he1 the said Charles K. 
Gardner, did employ another officer, to wit, captain 
Newman S. Clark, to expose himself to the ire of 
the enemy, and to communicate the said orders, 
while he, the said Charles K. Gardner, took special. 
c,,"re to keep out of danger. 

CHARGE it 

Specification S.-For that the said Charles K. 
Gardner, at a place called Fort Erie, in Upper'Ca_ 
Dada, on or about the 17th. Septehlber, 1814, he 
tpen and there being adjutant ,general of the Ame­
r~can forces, as aforesaid~ and it being his duty to 
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.,.st to forlll and direct the troops, and.tobe with 
ihem.in the , heat of the action, did ta\t,e h.s position 
in. a ravhte, between :Fort Erie and the wood&; and 
wholly out of danget.-and in this situation, wh~ 
directed by major general Browll, commander in 
chief of the A,nierican forces on that oc.c~ion, t() 
QQmmunicat .. certain orders to general Ripley, the~ 
engaged with the enemy, did employ another offi­
cer to expose himself to the fire of the enemy, and 
communicate the said orders, while he; the said 
Cbarles,K. Gardner, took special care to keep out 
of danger. . 

CHARGE m . 
. Spe~ifi~~-~e 'said-' Chailes K. 

G,an1nel', at aplace called Fort Erie, in Upper, Ca; 
nada, on or about the 17th' September, 1814., he, 
then and there, being adjutant general of the Ame;; 
rican, forces, as aforesaia, and it being his du~y to 
form and direct thetroops,-and be with them ip the 
heat of the SFtion, did take his position in a ravine, 
between Fort Erie and the ",oods, and wholly out. 
of danger-and in this 5!ituation, when directed by 
~jorgenc:ral Brown, commander in chi~f tit the 
American, forces on that occasion, to communicate 
certai~'or.c:lers to general Ripley, the!' ellgagtld,~ith 
the enemy, did employ another oP: 8cr to ex,p0!\c' 
himself to the fire of the enemy, "'.Ii comllJunl'e.!1te 
tI,le ,sai.d otd~rS;--r-while he, I hf.' ~ 1 ,II C narles K. Gard. 
ner, took special care to k.(ep out of danger." 

· .. ~~e affair of the <, , ,ex'. :~)I rns the subjectof 
inveStigation. "TI, lnv(J:v~d in it so far as 
they'are applicai:.' , .• .;jor· Gardner, evince th<: 
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same spirit and feelings which have thus far- mllrk­
cd him during the campaign. I disclaim all idea 
of bearing upon the prisoner, excepting so far as 
the facts shall wmrant me. Let him employinvec .. -
tive, it is seldom the language of truth. Let him 
pursue the course of idle declamation-I shall cool­
ly march forward in that path where the testimony 
directs the war. 

The testimony of major general Brown, as I un­
derstood it, when delivered in court, was that the in­
tention of a sortie was not communicated at all ex­
cepting to colonel Jones, the evening previous to 
its taking place. In am incorrect in quoting it, the 
court will ~et me right. This, nevertheless, was a 
mistake in point of fact-for it was known to most of 
theiofficers a long time previous. General Porter an'd 
coronel Wood had been engaged in arranging the 
plan of it, and the testimony of colonel Beedel and 
captain Kirby both coincide in establishing the 
fact, that the officers ,,,-ere generally apprized of it. 
Under these circumsfances, general Brown has 
testified to you that the chief of the staff his first 
confidmtialofficer, was not apprised of it. Hedoes 
110t attempt to disclose the reason why. a neglect of 
so cutting a nature to the feelings of a soldier, was 
practised towards colonel Gardner. Facts speak 
more loudly than testimony-they are irresistable 
in their nature. We see on the one hand, a gene­
.ral officer disclosing his plans to the officers of the 
,camp, and at the same time keepi~g them secret 
from the officer I who from his situation was most 
entitled to confidence, and whom he had eulogised 
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In the highest manner . On the other, at a critictfl 
moment of the ~aCti0ri, we beheld the same major 
Gardner surrendel'ing up' the immediate comman4-
of the army ~o an officer who but a short time be. 
fore had been the object of censure. This mark 
of confideQ,ce at the time, was hailed as the pledge 
of harmony-dangerously wounded ihconfiict­
borne from that field oscillating between life and 
death, little did I imagine that through the medium 
Of:ridgalive approoation,an attempt would be made 
to injure my memory if I fell, and my repp.tation 
if.! ; survived. 

I return to the subject of the sortie. The posi. 
tion of -the-enemysc1Jatterteswas in thl:" 'Woods; 
genetal Brown with his staff, took up their position 
in the first place, in the open ground between Fort 
Erie and the woods. . The attack commenced by 
the volunteers on our left; general Miller's brio 
gade entered the woods, nearly' perpendieular to 
FottErie. The t,venty.fust regimeli1treeeived 
order~ to enter the woods near battery No. S,the 
chain of works and batteries extended some dis. 
tance'into the woodS. Under ihes€ circumstaQ.ces 
as . the ttoops advanced, the, geFleral staff moved 
forward. ,Where was major Gardner at the time? 
In his 'usual station in the rear. General Brown 
gave liim. two orders to communicate ·to gene~l 
ltipley. Was riot here occasion for an adjutant 
general to go forward? Did this not afford an Ope 
po~nity' to major Gardner to expose himself? 
He~mmunicates neither order. Captain Kirby's 
teStilbfiJ1y is, express to this point. He procures 
~lonel Snelling, if I do not forget, to transmit the 
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on~, and captain Clarke the other, and immediately 
retires to the rear! Captain Clarke tells you there 
were some spent balls which flew at thc time; this 
probably had an effect in producing the retrograde 
movement! I say nothing upon the manifest im­
propriety of committing orders to the brigade major. 
All adjutant general is not only bound to transmit 
the order, but tO,see it executed. To take off the 
staff of brigades for that purpose, would be to de. 
stroy the whole army organization. But this is of 
trifling consequence in comparison with other cir~ 
cumstances. Captain Clarke states that after bat. 
tery No. 3, was carried, and the enemy. repulsed, 
colonel Gardner came to him with an order, he be­
ing in rear of me, and requested him to convey it to 
me-that at this time, nothing but spent balls fell 
in the spot where they stood, bu( the firing was 
heavy and incessant on their left. That colonel 
Gardner appeared hasty and impatient, and anxious 
that some other person should carry the orders, and 
that according to the witness's impression, he was 
under the influence of fear. That on soliciting 
captain Clarke, he hesitated, because he thought it 
improper to convey the orders of the commander 
in chief. That he finally complied, and colonel 
Gardner returned to the rear. That this order ,vas 
sent while general Ripley was moving with a 
columa to the attack. Is not this sfatementtrue and 
unimpeached? General Brown in his report ·states 
that he gave such an order; so far, therefore, does 
the statement of t~e commanding general corrobo. 
rate the testimony of aaptain Clarke. If you be. 
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.&eve ~~,OtQtitnust convicl ,the prisoberof cow­
ar4ioe, in the b~ttle' ,of the sOrtie; ',The order 'to 
b;le; was to' assume' the direction of the troops . ...:.... 
~j<n' Gar~ner, not :qf1ly 6ugIUi:to have brought'the 
ord.,er,btj,t it w~s necies~ary"he should report to me, 
heing i'nv~8ted with the immediate' command. 

, C~p~ii) Kjrby tells you that the troops" were dis­
.p~r~ed an~ deranged. An adjlite.nt general and his 
~sls.~nts were JPeduliarly necessary to assist intheil'" 
~1fgalllzati()n. 'It was his special duty. By 
the ,command of the whole devolving on me, 
I had no staff but my aid;' for my' brigade 
~Qr was' attached to the brigade, " and not 
to :~y )?ersonal suite. "lrul:', geritlemell;do you not 
see $i.t this order,which was sent, Was iIi conse­
quence of the ad]u.t3.rtt general having neglected'his 
duty, an~ his conunander being'apprised of it.­
Who is fa take the 'general direction of troops in 
~cw>n b1,lt the adjutant general, subject to the or­
'de~s of the' commander in chief? If it w~e not 
a principle as universal, ari~ as old as the o'$ce, in 
every army, still it would tie a duty, since it it is 
so laid down in'your, own'l'egulations, to which I 
refer th~ court. It ," is 'the duty of th~ ad­
jutant 'general to assist in forming columns, 
in leading them, in rallying fugitives, ~n bringing 
up second lines, ~serves,' and all the vast v-ariety 
of diliies ;r tIie field; . pid he' p~rforinariy of them 
ai'the ~ortie?.' G~'r1eral Miller, ·colonel Bedel, and 
itatiteI;lant Lee, tell you he was not with the first 
br~~de. -: Captain Kirby and colonel Brooke did 
not see' him iii 'action. Captain Irvine, who tta­
\rersea the:whole line, never met ,vith major Gard-

11 
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nero General :Stowd, colonel Jones, and colbnd 
Snelling, never pretended he was in the actioh~ 
excepting c()l." Jones,who testifiei he wasin batt~rY 
No.3, after it was carried, when some spent balls 
fell around It. Blit according to the testimony ot 
captain tlar,ke, he soon retreated. I shall only 
make one remark in relation to the testimony of 
major Worth. He was in two actions with major 
Gardner on the Niagara frontier. He does not pre. 
tend he was ever in danger, or exposed. But 
major Worth refers ,to the conduct of major Gard. 
ncr at Chrystler's fields. 

He then states that the twenty. fifth regiment waf> 

warmly engaged, and pursued by the enemy, and 
that major Gardner was making great exertions to 
reform and Cbrrect the line of his regiment, or in 
other words it was broken and retreating in' con,~ 
fusion bifore the enemy, (with major Gardner at the 
head of it ! This is not a very enviable descrip­
tion of the only time major Gardner was seen by 
major Worth on the field, at the head of his corps. 
It would seem that this retreating at Chrystler's 
field was so serious a thing to major Gatdner, that 
it has kept him out qf the rd'nge of musket SM.! ever 
smce. 

He does not state that he rallied the regiment; 
an4 again led it against the enemy. If such were 
the fact, from his friendship for the prisoner, he 
would not have omitted it. So the fair presump-. 
tion is, that major Gardner anOhis troops retreated 
tOgether. . ) 

IJlave now, gentlemen, gone through with the 
different actions of the campaign, in which major 
Gardner was in the rear of the army. I wish for 



ijs ~or;l }UldfrOlD liymp~th}t to the prisoner, t~~ 
there \Vas some solitary fact to 'brighten up t~ 

. ,. . Ii 

cheerless gloom which surrounds his military chii~ 
racter. But it ,is .~ll da~k an4d~solate~' 'Every 
disposition has been evinced to assist hill} with tes­
~llloPY; but . still it is fut~le and umivaUing. At. 
C~pp'eway, where,colo,nel Towson tells you he 
ought to have been on the fi~ld., he tooIt up his pD.' 
sition from !Ja{f.to three quarter,s f!I' a mile in the 
rear. He here intended to cover himself under th 
shelter, of his com~anding general. T~t p~etext' 
will not avail him, for hisdu~y was i~ the van. At 
N~,where.hisge.neral weIl,t ~loser into action,' 
major Gardner, on the pretext of iJ1.neis, retnained 
in the rear, and under the' cover of the hill. At 
the siege of Fort Erie, he was ab~ent. Atthe sor~ 
tie, where his duty requi!,ed him to lead the 
columns, to direct the field, and, to reorganize the 
tr~s, he takes up his posi~on out of danger. 
And to crown the whole, when his duties were 
~Ssigned to a junior gen:~, ~nd he was directed 
to carry .the order, he' could not gather nerve 
eno~gh to pet:fonn,it. ' 

This is the state of the testimony.. F or mysel~ 
I commisserate this man. I can regret as much as 
:.JJlyone, that he should have been bolstered up by 
artIficial praise, to fall at once so low • 
. Major Oarclner in his defenCe, has adverted tc? 

lllally topics, which have not arisen from the evj. 
dence.' He hasind,~.dged in invective, for reason· 
ing was impracticable. I have endeavored tp shun 
his. example, and I trust there is not a singre re­
remark injurious to the prisoner, which ha,s not 
~aturally grown Qut of the testiinony. 
~lt~ ~oi'y of ,he pri~nerJs aChievements in thr 
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Niagara campaig9' is brief and t~ptet~ whh igtl(~­
miny. We no where find him performing hi~ ap­
propriate duties :-to lead a detac1\~ent throug" 
the wood~ at the in\'cstn'le-nt o~ Fort Erie: ~to 
keep quidly three quartets of a mile in rear of the 
army at Chippeway, ulltil the ene~had' retrElated, 
exceptinginone solitary instance :-in going to the 
front and taking shetter with fugitive Indians alid 
teamsters behind a bani :~and at the explosion of 
a sheJ+o, galloping rapidly to th~ tear :~to remam 
under cover at Niagara during the carnage of that 
dreadful confliCt, mit of danget and tm'exposed : 
simply advancing five rods to a wounded officer, 
who was retiring to our tear :-to dispute with the 
Inspector General relative to the right to superintend 
the prisoners in the rear : -to leave F art Erie ltfter 
that fortress was invested~ and pass his recess plea~ 
santly in the country, beyond the soimd of its 
cannon : -to keep again in the rear of the troops 
at the sortie; and out of danger :-w'hen ordered to 
carry orders into the fight, employing s~bordinat~ 
officers to perform it :-ne'glecting at Niagara to 
~ecure the capture~ cannon, and at the sorti~ to te­
organize, and rerorm, and precipitate the troops 
upon the enemy's camp in thei., moment of panic. 

This is the glorious galaxy qf his actions! Ttle~ 
;',re the splendid monumentsofhi~ tenown.--I forgot 
myself. He attempted to throw upon others the 
responsibility for his own neglects :-:--he endeavored 
to pilfer from them, the fair exposition of their re­
nown! Thtse objects could not be accomplished 
without a struggle, and" the "dissentiQns it has pro-

I duc{d, have distracted the army. 
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Gentlemen of the Court, 
I have now clo~ed the analysis of the testimo· 

ny; 1 shall simply addresS one remark to you. As 
it regards myself, I have made ont the case I sta­
ted. I asserted that major Gardner was a coward 
·--1 have proved him so. To me your decision is 
perfectly indifferent. For aught that concerns my .. 
self, I should be perfectly willing he should be ac· 
quitted. But let me tell you that the passions of . 
the day are temporary; truth is eternal. As well 
might you atteJ.1lpt to convulse all nature, as'to im­
pede her march; for it is as steady as time, and du­
rable as eternity. Simply then have a care to your ~ 
selves in making your decision. Acquit the priso" 
ner if· possible. Let all the best sympathies of your 
nature be enlisted in his behalf. Give to the tes.­
timony' whiclt operates in his favor, ifth:re be any, 
the best pO!>sible cons~ruction for his intere~ts. But 
gentlemen, act righteopsly. Look to future conse. 
quences, as well as to the present moment. )f 

you condemn the prisoner without sufficient testi. 
mony, your own reputations will be involved. If 
you acquit in a case where the evidence is strong~ 
irresistible and conclpsive; it will hereafter become 
~e subject of the sincerest regret. Weigh well 
then the testimony in the case. You are boun~ by 
the mQst solemn ligaments which can be imposed, 
between the soldier an.d his ~ouptry ;-.-the man and 
his. Qod ;--your honor an4 your oaths. 

TJIB .G~D. 
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